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Care at our heart

CVS Group plc is an AIM-quoted
veterinary group and one of the UK’s
leading providers of integrated veterinary
services, with practices in the UK, the
Netheriands and the Repubilic of Ireland.

Operational highlights

> Our colleagues have shown commitment and
dedication to providing exceptional care to
ahimals, with an increasing demand for our
services as the pet population continues to grow

» The introduction of our industry-first CVS
Clinical Research Awards encourages research
and quality improvement by providing grants for
research projects.

> The quality of our facilities and equipment is of
key importance to us, and we have increased
investment in capital projects by £7.9m to
£24.5m in 2022 vs 2021, including completing
23 refurbishments and relocations during the
financial year (2021: 13).

> Following the introduction of our ESG strategy,
“Care at our Heart”, it August 2022, we have
published our first standalone Sustainability
Report, describing the goals and activities of our
ESG working groups and reporting sustainability
data under the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB) standards.

Read this Annual Report and
our Sustainability Report at
cvsuklitd.co.uk
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Thank

You

We are constantly inspired by the dedication and passion of
our colleagues as they give the best possible care to animals.
Qur vision is to be the veterinary company people most want
to work for and we continue to look for new ways to
appropriately recognise and reward our colleagues.

3%

(o]

As part of our commitrment
to our vision, every
colleague in empioyment
on 1 May 2022 (save for the
Executive Directors}
received a 3% out-of-cycle
pay increase 1o support
with rising costs of living,
and we have committed

to pay at least 3% above
National Minimum Wage/
Naticnal Living Wage

to all current and

future colleagues.

5

Our colleagues can receive
up to five additional days’
holiday under our new
long-service award scheme
which grants colleagues an
additional day of holiday for
each completed year of
service, up to five years.

11

The introduction of CVS
Clinical Research Awards
encourages innovation and
supports clinicians to work
towards improving
veterinary medicine.

So far, we have awarded
grants to 11 CVS colleagues
for their projects.

£0.7m

Our colleagues can receive
financial and non-financial
awards for successfully
referring their friends to
work with us, resulting in
refer-a-friend awards of
£0.7m paid 1o our
colleagues in FY22. We alsc
again offered a “holiday of a
lifetime” draw, enabling
colleagues to win a holiday
worth £10,000 for a
successful referral.



Highlights

Financial highlights'

» Revenue increased by 8.6% to £554.2m from
£510.1m, with strong Group like-for-like sales?
growth of 8.0% benefitting from favourable market
trends and the continued focus on delivering
against our strategy.

> The Group delivered adjusted EBITDA? growth of
10.2% to £107.4m from £97.5m, through strong
revenue performance and operational efficiencies.

> Cash generated from operations increased by
15.9% to £93.1m from £80.3m, primarily as a result
of the increase in adjusted EBITDA.

Revenue (Fm) Adjusted EBITDA"(Em)
£554.2m £107.4m

+8.6% +10.2%

2022 5542 2022 1074
2021 510.1 2021 975
2020 4278 2020 71.0

2019 406.5 2019 545

2018 327.3 2018 Y76

Proposed dividend Cash generated

per share (p) from operations (Fm)
7.0p £93.1m

+7.7% +15.9%

2022 70 2022 931
2021 65 2021 | 80.3
2020 | nfa 2020 | 4.8
2019 55 2019 52.1

2018 5.0 2018 167

iy

. Adiysted financial measures (adjusted Earnings Before {nterest, Tax,
Depreciation and Amortisation {"adjusted EBITDA™. adjusted profit before
tax and ad|usted earmnings per share) are defined below, and reconciled
to the financial measures defined by International Finangial Reporting
Standards (|FRS) on pages 114 end 132. IFRS 16 has been applied
prospectively and, therefare, yaars 2019 and prior are all stated before
tha impact of IFRS 16.

2. Like-for-tke sales shows revenue generated from like-for-like operations
comparad to tha prior year, adjusted for the number of working days. For
example, for a practice acquired in Septernber 2020, revenue is included
from Saptember 2021 in the ke-for-like calculations.

Leverage on a bank test basis iz drawn benk debt lass cash and cash
equivalents, divided by adjusted EBITDA annualised for the effect of
acauisitions, including costs relating to business combinations and
exchiding share option costs, prior to tha adoption of IFRS 16,

w

> Profit before tax increased by 8.8% to £36.0m
from £33.1m, benefitting from the increase in
adjusted EBITDA and a reduction in costs relating
to business combinations, partially offset by
an impairment of investment.

> Leverage® fell to 0.40x from Q.68x as a result of
strong EBITDA growth, continued good operating
cash generation and reduction in net debt.

Adjusted profit

before tax® (Em)
£75.5m

+14.0%

2022 78.9
2021 66.2
2020 38.2

2019 LR

2018 356.0

Profit before tax (£m)
£36.0m

+8.8%

2022 36.0
2021 3341
2020 9%

2019 7

2;mg 141

Adjusted earmnings

per share’ (p)

85.8p

+1h.2%

2022 85.8
2021 75.1
2020 420

2019 467

208 Hay

Basic earnings per share

()

36.2p

+32.6%

2022 35.2
2021 27.3

2020 8.

2019 | M6

2018 16,0

4. Adjusted EBITDA {Farnings Befare interest, Tax, Dapreciation and
Amertisation) is profit before tax adjusted for interest (net finance
expense), depreciation, amortisation, costs relating to business
combinations, and exceptional itams. Adjusted EBITDA provides
informatian on the Group’s underlying parfermance and this measure

is aligned to our strategy and KPIs.

5. Adjusted profit before tax is calculated as profit before amortisation,
taxation, costs relating 1 business combinations, and exceptional ltems.

6. Adjusted eamings per share is calcuiated as adjusted profit before tax
less applicabla taxation divided by the weighted average number of

Ordinary shares in issue in the year.

CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financlal Statements 2022 | 1
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Strategic roadmap

A clear strategy for
sustainable growth

Our strategic pillars

We recommend and We are a great place

provide the best to work ond hove
clinical care a career
every time

Our purpose is to give 1 2

the best possible care

to animals

3 L

We provide We take our
great facilities responsibilities
and equipment seriously

Discover more about our strategy on pages 24 and 27

Our vision is to be the Underpinned by our Environmental, Social and Governance

veterinary company (ESG) strategy, “Care at our Heart”

people most want to Our ESG strategy articulates why and how we care. OQur commitment to sustainability
work for is monitored and assessed through our seven working groups: (1) Energy and Carbon;
(2) Waste; (3) One Health; {4) Wellbeing; (5) People Development; (6) Equity, Diversity
and Inclusion; and (7) Community.

2 | CVS Group pic Annual Report and Financlsl Statements 2022



Our values

Customer focus

Our dedication to our customers is at the heart of cur
business and we are focused on our customers’ and
ther animals’ needs.

Commitment to excellence
We constantly strive to achieve the highest possible standards
in the quality of services and products we provide

Success through our people
We aim to attract, develop and retain the best people and to
be the veterinary company people most want to work for.

Honesty and Integrity

We treat our colleagues and customers with honesty and
respect. We strive to achieve {ong-term relationships with our
custorners and suppliers, and ensure safety and accessibiity
in all areas of our business.

Discover mors about our aulture and values cn pages 20 to 21

Read more about our oppronch to
Sustuinablilty on pages 32 to %4

Area of focus

Providing Industry-leading Continued
Professional Development

We ara hugely proud of our Learning, Education and
Development (LED) programms at CVS. The Knowledge
Hub educational platform offers hundreds of courses
and wehinars covering a wide range of clinical and
nan-clinical education and training.

Improving Inclusivity

We want to be as inclusive as possible in our training
offerings and therefore we use accessibility software to
ensura that all of our courses work with screen readers
and are optimised for contrast, fonts and layout so all
learner needs can be met.

To improve the accessibility of our video content for
those whe have impaired hearing. or whose devices do

not conveniently allow audio content, we have embarked

on a project to transcribe and subtitle all video content.

Wa have also created audio versions of many courses
for colleagues wha have impaired vision, or who would
prefer to listen to contant.

The Knowledge Hub: our LED platform

8684

active users

261

courses available

235

webinars avallable

CVE Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022
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At a glance

Our purpose is to give the
best possible care

Breakdown of ravenue

85.5%

Veterinary Practices

Qwr first-opinion and referral
practices provide specialist
treatment for companion,
equine and farm animals. We
provide high-quality hesithcare
for sick and injured animals, or
through our preventative
healthcare schemas: the Healthy

4.7%

Laboratories

Qur laboratories provide
dlagnostic services to CVS
veterinary practices and third
parties. We offer an extensive
rangie of tests with the ability
to tailor specific profiles to our
customers’ needs. Qur team
of pathologists and experts

to animals

1.7%"

Crematoria

Qur crematoria provide pet
cremation and clinical waste
services to CVS practices and
third-party practices, and
crematicns to animal owners.
We offer a range of services to
help our clients rermember and
say goodbye 10 their pets.

8.1%"

Onling Retall
Business

Our online retail

business, "Animed Direct”,
sells prescription and
non-prescription medicines,
premium pet foods and an
everincreasing range of pet

care products, which can be
delivered directly to our
customers’ doors, saving
them time as well as money

Pet Club (HPC) and Healthy
Horse Pregramme (HHP)**. We
also operate buying groups and
a veterinary consumables
business, "Vet Direct”, and we
supply @ number of own-brand
medicines and products.

specialise in & variety of
disciplines in all areas of the
laboratory and their aim s to
offer a feve! of service and
expertise beyond our
custorners’ expectations.

* Revenue share before intercompany sales batwean Veterinary Practices and
cther divisions.
** Throughout this report, references to Healthy Pet Club are inclusive of Healthy Pet

Discaver more about our operations on pages 45 to 53
Club and Healthy Horse Programme,

Our locations

We have a broad geographical spread across
the UK and a presence in the Netherlands
and the Republic of Ireland.

Koy 5 2
Vaterinary practices (472)
Laboratories (3
Crematona (7)
13
9 2
20 1
L] 4
38 9 LU |
1
o8 a 1 27
1 1

Discover more about our
geographical markets.
epportunities on poges 1% to 17

% | CV¥S Group ple Annual Report and Financig) Statements 2022



Investment case

Multiple opportunities to build

on our strong foundations

CVS is an AIM-quoted veterinary group with a fully-integrated
model and strengthened balance sheet which positions it well
for both organic and acquisitive growth.

Market

We continue to operate in a growing market
with increasing demand for our services.

Sector Strategy
A favourable sector with increasing appetite We have a clear, people-focused strategy
for innovation and quality improvemeant of organic growth, supported by investment

in our facilitles and equipment, and
sugmented by inorganic growth through
investment in greenfield sites

and acquisitions.

Diacover more about our markats Discover more in our Oparational Dizcover more about our strotegy
on poges 1 to 17 review on poges &5 to 53 on poges 26 and 27
Management Business model Growth opportunities
Strong management team with a broad Fully-integrated veterinary services modei, Alongside consistent organic growth
range of experience and expertise, with first-opinion practices supported by through our fully-integrated veterinary
which has a proven track record of specialist-led multi-disciplinary referral model, thera are opportunities for further
delivering growth. hospitals, laboratories, crematoria and acquisitive growth both in the UK as well
an online retail business. as emerging European marksts.
Discover more about our Board of Discover more about aur busineas medel Discaver mare about our growth
Directors on pages 70 and 74 on pages 18 and 19 opportunities on pages 14 to 17

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022
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Chair’s statement

Leveraging favourable market
trends to deliver improved
financial performance

Richard Connell
Chair

6

| CVS Group plc Annual Repart and Financiel Statements 2022

Introduction

We are committed at CVS to providing the best possible
care to our clients and their animals. Key 10 the delivery

of this care is our people and | would like to take this
opportunity to thank all our colleagues for their continued
dedication and professicnalism.

We continue to develop CVS through investment in our
psople, in the technology we use, in our practice facilitias
and in new clinical equipment. This is important to both the
delivery of first-class clinical care and the recruitmant and
retention of ¢linical resource. We have increased capital
investment in the past financial year and this has delivered
favourable returns. Further increases in capital investment
are planned in the current year and we are confident that
this will position the Group well for continued growth in the
years ahead.

Pasitive financlal performance

| am delighted to share ancther strong set of financial results
with growth in both revenue and earnings, with continued
strong operating cash conversion and improved balance
sheet strength.

The Group generated revenue growth of 8.6% in the financial
year, with like-for-like sales increzsing by 8.0%, reflecting our
continued focus on delivering organic growth. We completed
three acquisitions (comprising four practice sites) in the
second half of the financial year (2021: nine acquisitions
across the year).

In light of the Competition and Markets Authority’s (CMA)
phase one investigation into our August 2021 acquisition of
Quality Pet Care Ltd, and the CMA's view that the merger
may be expected to result in a substantial lessening of
competition within a market or markets, we decided to sell
this business, and the disposal was completed in June 2022.
We recognised an investment impairment ahead of sale and
further information is available in note 16. Whilst the CMA's
conclusion was disappointing, we now have a ¢lear guideiine
as to how the CMA assesses iocal competition in veterinary
care which will be useful in informing our approach to future
acquisitions in the UK. There are considerable parts of the UK
where we do not currently own any practices, and hence
where there cannot be competition issues; we are confident
that we can acquire further practices in areas of the UK
where we slready operate. provided that our share of vet
full-time equivalent resource in the vicinity is lass than 30%.



“I am delighted to share another strong set of
financial results with growth in revenue and
earnings, continued strong operational cash
conversion and improved balance sheet strength.”

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 10.2% to £107.4m (2021
£37.5m), through strong revenue growth, Profit before tax
correspondingly increased by 8.8% to £36.0m (2021:
£33.m) with adjusted EPS increasing by 14.2% to 85.8p
(2021: 751p) and basic EPS increasing by 32.6% to 36.2p
(2021: 27.3p).

The Group remains highly cash-generative, with the increase
in adjusted EBITDA flowing through to cash generated from
operations, which Increased by 15.9% to £93.1m (2021:
£80.3m). Net debt correspondingly decreased by £14.9m to
£35.3m (2021: £50.2m) with leverage reducing to 0.40x
bank-test EBITDA at 30 June 2022 {(2021: 0.68x).

Strategic progress

Our purpose at CVS is to give the best possible care 1o
animals and our vision is to be the veterinary company
people most want to work for. This purpose and vision are
underpinned by our four strategic pillars: to recommend and
provide the best clinical care every time; to be a great place
to work and have a career: ta provide great facilities and
equipment; and to take our responsibilities seriously.

We are committed to the highest standards of clinical care
and all of our practices participate in the Royal College of
Vaterinary Surgeons’ voluntary Practice Standards Scheme.
We have recently published our annual Quality Improvement
report which outlines our approach to further enhancing
clinical standards underpinned by evidence-based medicine,

in addition to our ongoing focus on providing leaming,
education and development support to our colleagues, we
continue to enhance our package of reward and benefits. In
the past financial year, we increased the holiday entitlement
for all colleagues through an additional day's annual leave
for each completed year of service, up to a maximum of five
days once colleagues have completed five years' service. In
May 2022, we implemented an additional salary review, with
a salary increase of 3.0% for all colleagues (save for the
Executive Directors, whose salary review will take ptace
under the normal cycle) in advance of our full annual salary
review in July 2022, We also anncunced our commitment to
pay a minimum of 3.0% above National Minimum Wage/
National Living Wage for all current and future colleagues.

Cur continued focus on recruitment, alongside improvements
in retention, has resulted in a 6.0% increase in the average
number of vets employed during the financial year to 2,079
vets (2021 1,962 vets). Furthermore, the average number of
nurses we employed in the financial year increased to 2,839
nurses {2021: 2,548). We also launched a new Equity,
Diversity and Inclusion {EDI) working group to help attract
and support colleagues from ali backgrounds.

We continue to improve aur practice facilities and clinical
equipment, with £24.5rm invested in capital expenditure
during the year (2021: £16.6m). This investmaent enables us
to both enhance the client and colleague experience inour
practices and, impartantly, to further improve the standards
of clinical care which we can provide.

We outlined our overall approach to sustainability and ESG in
our 201 Annual Report and, in August 2022, we published
our first Sustainability Report, which sets out the foundations
of our approach to ESG. As part of ocur commitrment in this
area, we have introduced five new non-financial targets for
our Executive Directors as a key element of their annuel
bonus for the financial year ending 30 June 2023. Our ESG
approach has been informed and influenced by globally
rocognised frameworks and sets of principles, including the
Global Reporting Initiative Standards. the United Nations
Sustainable Davelopment Goals and the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD). We have also disclossed data against standards
developed by the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board. Furthermore, in this Annual Report we have early-
adopted the TCFD recommendations for disclosure of
climate-related risks and opportunities.

We remain well-placed to deliver further arganic growth
through the provision of high-quality joined-up care
threughout our patients’ lives, from our first-opinion
veterinary practices, specialist-led multidisciplinary referral
hospitals, diagnostic iaboratories, dedicated out-of-hours
clinics and online retail business, Animed Direct. Qur
crematoria provide a compassionate cremation service

at the end of an animal's life and clinical waste disposal
services. We will augment this growth through further
acquisitions and the creation of greenfield practices,

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 | 7
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Chair’s statement continued

Governance and the Board

We are committed to the highest levels of corporate
governance and, as an AiM-quoted group, we voluntarfly
adopt the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018,

We continue to review the composition of the Board, in
order to ensure that we have the right balance of skills and
experience. Mike McCollum, former Senior 'ndependent
Director and Chair of the Audit Committee, resigned from
the Board in Septernber 2021 to pursue a full-time oppaortunity
outside the Group. in light of his resignation, Deborah Kemp
was appointed as our Senior Independent Director and the
Nomination Committee oversaw the appointment of David
Wilton as the new Chair of the Audit Committee with effect
from 24 September 2021,

Dividends

In light of the further improvement in financial performance
and the Group's strong cash generation, the Board is
recormmending a continuation of our progressive dividend
poficy, with the payment of a final dividend of 7.0p per Ordinary
share (201: 6 5p).

Shareholder engagement

The Board continues its active engagemant with existing
and potential new shareholders, with the Executive Directors
attending a number of investor conferences and holding
individual investor meetings throughout tha year. In April 2022,
we conducted a US roadshow in light of the increased
number of US-based institutions on our share register.

The Executive Directors have held live webcasts for our
preliminary and interim results presentations over the past
year, including questich and answer sessions with analysts,
with a replay facility available on our investor website.

We are holding a capital markets day on 8 Novermnber 2022
in which we will outline our capital aflocation priorities and
the opportunities we have to deliver further sustainable
growth in shareholder value.

Qutlook

The veterinary sector is seeing favourabie market and
consumer trends with an increased pet population, enhanced
life expectancy and the continued humanisation of pets, with
owners willing to spend more on their care. Qur approach in
providing the best possible care through our fully-integrated
veterinary services model positions CVS well to benefit from
these favourable trends. Whilst we are mindful of the pressures
on household incomes through rising inflation, we are
confident in the resilience of our business model with our
expectation that clients will continue to seak access to
high-quality care for their animals.

Hocok forward to reporting on Further successful growth for
CVS in the future,

Richard Connell
Chair
22 September 2022

8 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022

Did you know?

CVS Group published its first
Sustainability Repoart in 2022
We care about ourimpact on our
stakeholders and the environment.
In our first annual Sustainability
Report we shared the work of our
ESG working groups across the
business, as well as sustainability
data in line with the Sustainability
Accounting Standards

Board framework.

In this report, we announced that
20.0% of our Executive bonuses
for 2023 will be contingent on the
Group achisving five non-financial
sustainability targets, namely:
waste; attrition; eNPS: client NPS;
and Patient Care Index.

The report is available to read on
our investor website: www.cvsukitd.
co.uk/investor-centre/sustainability

Discover more about our
sustginabliity on pages 32 to 4y



Area of focus

Improving client

satisfaction

The ability to deliver high-quality clinical care and ensure
good outcomes for patients is an essential value driver for us
as a veterinary care provider. Defining and measuring quality
of care is an emerging area in which CvS aims to lead.
Metrics which are commonly used in human healthcare,
such as excess readmission ratio and length of stay, are not
commanly used in veterinary medicine.

Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) are validated
questionnaires which allow the progress of patients to be
monitered and compared to a baseline score. In veterinary
medicine, these are completed by the owner and referred to
a5 Client Reported Qutcome Measures (CROMSs). Similarly,
Patient/Client Reported Experience Measures (FREMs/
CREMSs) can record the experience of the care provided.
There is increasing evidenca that the experience of clients
and their pets is linked to the outcome of treatment. Whilst
this is a developing area, in future CVS hopes to be able to
report on the quality of care provided.

719

Client Net Promoter Score (NPS)

The foliowing are two examples of how we are measuring
patient satisfaction.

Automated outcomes

Working with an external provider, CVS has piloted a system
to automate collection of CROMs from orthopaedic patients
in our referral hospitals. When a new appointment is booked,
owners are automatically sent a baseline outcome measure.
Clinigians, Clinical Directors and the Quality Improvement
team can monitor theses scores via a dedicated portal.
Benchmarking across the referral group will allow us to
share good practice. maximising outcomes and

minimising complications.

Client Reported Experience Measures

All clients are sent a survey automatically following
discharge. We collect data about the experience of the care
their pets receive, including cellecting an NPS score. There is
increasing evidence that experience of care is & good proxy
for the quality of care received.

Discover mors In our Operational review on pages 45 to 53

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 9
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Small actions add
up to a big impact

Richard Falrman
Chiet Executive Officer

10 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Finoncial Stataments 2022

Introduction

| am delighted to Introduce our 2022 Annual Report and
Financial Statements and to report on another successful
financial year in which we delivered further improvements
in performance.

Our purpose at CVS is to provide the test possible care to
animals and key to the delivery of this is our fantastic team
of colleagues who are passionate and committed to client
service and patient care. | would like to thank all CVS$
colleagues for their contribution over the past year and
for their continued support and dedication.

Increased investment to position CVS for

further growth

Wwe continue to invest in a number of areas to position CVS
well for further growth in the future. Our peopla are the
heart of everything we do and we continue 1o develop
learning, education and development suppert far all
colleagues to halp them develop their careers.

We recognise the opportunity to improve our practice
facilities and install new clinical equipment and this is
important in both attracting and retaining talent, and also
in continuing to expand the range of services we can
provide to our clients and their animals. We are confident
with the financial returns from this investment and. in light
of our strengthened balance sheet and continued high level
of operating cash conversion, we plan to increase this
investment in the new financial year. We have undertaken
a number of practice refurbishments and relocations in the
past financial year and our new state-of-the-art referral
hospital in Briste! will apen its doors in early 2023.

investment in our people, facilities and clinical squipment
will positiont CVS to benefit from the continued favourable
market and consumer trands The population of pets in the
UK has increased [nthe past two years, with an increasing
nurmber of puppies and kittens within UK households. Given
our focus on high-quality clinical care, we expect to see the
benefit of this increase in population steadily increase over
the next ten years given that average veterinary spend per pet

1 wwwhaalthforammals.org/reports/pet-care-report/
globaltrends-in-the-pet-population/



“With the continued support
of our outstanding colleagues,
we will continue to grow CVS
with care at our heort.”

increases with age. Coupled with this, there is evidence of
increased life expectancy in pets with Healthforanimals?, the
global animal health association, recently reporting that life
expectancy for dogs has increased by 11.4% between 2002
and 2018.

Preventative care is an important part of our offering and |
am delighted that we continue to see growth in our Healthy
Pet Club and Healthy Horse Programme, with 470,000
members at 30 June 2022, an increase of 4.4% in the year.
This scheme provides a helpful way for clients to spread
the cest of preventative veterinary care through monthly
instalments and provides discounts on other services
which may be reguired. The routine health checks which
are provided under this scheme are irmportant as they offer
an early opportunity to identify and treat potential issues,
avoiding more complex and expensive interventions later.

There are many reported benefits of animal ownershig with
pets in particular proven to improve their owners’ physical
and mental health. The trend of humanisation of pets
cortinues and, notwithstanding inflationary pressures in
the wider economy, we are confident that our clients will
continue to access cur services in order to ensure their
animals receive the best possible care.

Our integrated model at CVS enables us to provide care to
animals at all stages of their life cycle, from puppy and kitten
health checks and annual vaccinations through to specialist
interventions where required. Our network of first-opinion
practices, dedicated out-of-hours clinics, specialist-led
referral hospitals and diagnostic laboratories deliver
continuity of treatment, thereby ensuring our clients and
their animals receive a first-class service. Qur crematoria
provide compassionate cremation services at the end of an
animal’s life, as well as a clinical waste disposal services to
anable CVS, and third-party practices, to operate to the
highest standards. This is a kay part of our service offering
given that most clients who lose a beloved pet subsequently
purchase another and continue to enjoy access to our services.

Animed Direct, our online retail business, attracts a broader
range of clients and gives access to a substantial range of
pet food, pharmaceutical products and accessories.

We continue to see strong growth in pet food sales as
custormers enjoy the convenience of being able to order
bulky and heavy pet food and have it deliverad directly

to their door.

Robust financial performance

We have delivered continued growth in financial performance,
with revenue for the financial year of £554.2m (2021: £510.1m)
representing growth of 8.6% aver the prior year, and an
increase in like-for-like sales of 8.0%. Adjusted EBITDA
increased to £107.4m (2021: £97.5m}, a £9.9m {10.2%)
increase over the prior year,

This strong financial performance, alongside a reduction
in net debt, led to a decreasa in leverage to 0.40x at
30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: 0.68x).

Strategy

Our purpose to provide the best possible care to animals,
and our vision to be the veterinary company people most
want to work for, are underpinned by our four clear strategic
pillars: to recommend and provide the best clinical care
every time; to be a great place to work and have a careet;
to provide great facilities and equipment; and to take our
respensibilities seriously.

In order to provide the best possible clinical care, we
continue to focus on helping to drive increased standards

in the profession and we recently published cur latest annual
Quality iImprovement (QI} report. This sets out our approach
to learning from clinical issues and using evidence-based
medicine to inform the care we provide. We also launched
aur CVS Clinical Research Awards prograrmme in the
financial vear, which provides funds for CVS colleagues and
university academics in collzboration with CVS to facilitate
the growth of veterinary clinical research.

We are committed to making CVS a great place to work and
have a career and we continue to devealop our reward and
benefits to ensure we remain well positioned in a
competitive marketplace. We announced an interim cost-of-
living pay review in May 2022, in addition to our annual pay
review in July 2021, and we have expanded our reward and
benefits package, including the introduction of enhanced
holiday entitlermment based on length of service. In May 2022,
we committed an ongoing pledge to paying a minimum of
3.0% more than the current National Minirnum Wage/
Mational Living Wage.
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Strategy continued

Our focus on improving our practice facilities and clinical
equipment is important in both helping us attract and retain
clinicians, and enabling them to deliver the best possible
clinical care. We completed 23 refurbishments and
relocations in the financial vear {2021: 13). We have a pipeline
of exciting capital expenditure projects to develop our
existing facilities and open new greenfield practice sites, as
well as continuing to acquire quality practices where they
are aligned with our strategic goals.

We have responsibilities to all our stakeholders, including our
patients, our colleagues and our regulatory bodies, and we
take all of these responsibilities seriously. We continue to
engage with the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons
(RCVS) and aim to ensure all our practices mest the rigorous
standards of the RCVS’ Practice Standards Schemae.

We remain well-placed to make further practice acquisitions
in the UK and in new European markets and we have a
strong pipsline of opportunities. | am pleased that we
completed three acquisitions in the financial year, adding
four practice sites to the Group.

Recruitment and retention of c¢liniciuns

To support the Group's continued growth, we employed an
average of 117 (6.0%) more vets and an average of 291 (11.4%)
more nurses in the financial year to 30 June 2022 in
comparison to the previous financial year. The RCVS, in its
Waorkforce Summit report in November 2021, stated that the
population of practising vets In the UK had increased by ¢1%
and hence we are pleased with our overall increase.

There remnains a shortage of vets in the UK and we are keen
to recruit more vets to enable us to capitalise on the growth
cpportunity in the market. We are confident that the supply
of vets and nurses will increase aver the medium term given
that there are now eleven vet schools in the UK. Our leading
graduate induction programme was enhanced in the year
through our summer and winter camp programmes which
help graduate vets rnake the transition from univarsity to
work in practice. We have continued to expand our
investment in Continued Professional Development and
enhanced career pathways, to ensure colleagues have
excellent career opportunities within CVS.

We continue to implement initiatives to enhance the
wellbeing and job satisfaction for all our colleagues and
promoted a wellbeing financial calendar in July 2021,
whtich Is now in its second vear.

Sustainability and ESG

We published our first annual Sustainability Report in August
2022, which sets out our commitrment to reducing our
environmental impact and to improving our ESG standards.
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We are committed to taking action to ensure our business
is as sustainable as it can be, and we will continue to work
collaboratively and creatively to ensure we are doing the
right thing for &ll stakeholders.

We have appointed an ESG lead to co-ordinate our efforts
across CVS, with our seven dedicated ESG working groups
driving progress in the following areas:

» Energy and Carbon;

» Waste;

» QOne Health {including antimicrohisl resistance);
» Wellbeing;

» People Development;

» Equity, Diversity and Inclusion; and

> Community.

Demonstrating our commitment to holding ourselves
accountable for our sustairability goals, in our 2022
Sustainability Report we disclosed financial and non-financial
data relating to a range of sustainabdlity factors using the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB} framewaork.
Further, in this Annual Report we have early-adopted the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Applying these reporting
frameworks has aided us in understanding the impact of our
opetations on our stakehaolders and our environment, and
developing targets to improve our sustainability.

| loak forward to sharing further progress in due course.

Outlook

We are confident in our ability to deliver further growth. With
the improved financial performance in the past financial
year, continued operating cash conversion and
strengthenad balance sheet, we are well-positioned to
continue our programma of investment to enable CVS to
benefit from the favourable market and consumer trends.

We will continue our focus on arganic growth through

high quality of care, augmented by investment in further
strategically-aligned acquisitions and greenfield practice sites,
as well as investment in technology, including launching a new
modern intuitive practice management system, Provet Cloud,
during 2023

Our colleagues are key to our success and with their continued
professionalism, | look forward to a successful future.

Richord Foirmon
Chilef Executive Officer
22 September 2022



Area of focus

Proud to be part of
the CVS community

Celebrating 50 years of Pride

2022 marked the 50th anniversary of Pride in the UK. To
celebrate Pride month in June, together as an organisation,
we invited colleagues to express what Pride symbolises to
them personally or as ateam.

Many of our colleagues shared their personal stories,
poems, photographs and artworks which were celebrated
in our Group magazine.

Qur veterinary practices got involved with colourful pride
displays and events including wearing colourfui dress,
hosting special lunches, and inviting customers ¢ 1aka
photos with their pets wearing rainbow accessories.

As part of our conversations about Pride, one of our support

office colleagues (pictured) toid us:

“Back in 2013, my partner and | went to
Canada to get married because it was still
not legal in the UK. Pride allows people to
stop and think, and because of this, we
were legally married in the UK too the
following year!”

Encouraging Inclusivity

Our LGBTQH working group has undertaken a project to
educate CVS colleagues about fostering inclusivity in the
workplace, through Group-wide communications using our
internal channels, As part of this project, we have
encouraged the free use of gender pronouns.

Our culture survay

Wwith almost 8,000 colleagues in 2022, CVS Group
comprises people from a range of backgrounds, with a
broad variety of values and interests. In 2022, we conducted
a culture survey to understand how our colleagues feel
about the culture at CVS, and what we can do to ensure
every colleague’s experience is positive.

Discover more obout our culture on pages 20 and 21

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Fingnclol Statemants 2022 13

uodey 518830118 a4)



Market overview

Increasing demand for quality

all-round pet care

The veterinary market continues to benefit from increased
pet ownership alongside trends of humanisation of pets
and a growing appetite for high-quality care.

Understanding our key markets

Qur veterinary practices, laboratories, crematoria and online
retail business operata in a growing veterinary market, The
UK pet population has increased since the COVID-19
lockdown and pet life expectancy is also increasing, as a
result of improved diet and high standards of clinical care.
CVS is well-placed to benefit from these trends thanks to
our fully-integrated veterinary services model.

£9.7bn

spent on pets and related

products in the UK in 20271’
Market size (Ebn)’
o7
75 75 78 83
2077 2018 2019 2020 2021

Increasing pet life expoctancy

Across the globe, pet owners are seeing an increase in

life expectancy for household cats and dogs? and, with
continually improving standards of both preventative
healthcare and clinical treatments, this is set to continue.
Studies in the UK have found links between veterinary
procedures and reduced rates of mertality. Increased life
expectancies also provide us with increased opportunities
to deliver quality veterinary services which generate
revenues over a longer time period.

Changing lifestyles

it is clear the COVID-19 pandemic has had lasting effects on
the way people live and work, from increased time spent at
home to changing priorities in how we spend our money. In
addition 1o the well-publicised impact on the pet popuiation,
there has been an increase in the demand for high-guality
healthcare in all stages of a pet's life cycle,

1. https:/fwww.ons gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/sateliteaccounts/
timeseriesfuvik/ct

2. www.heafthforanimals.org/reports/pet-care-report/giobal-trends-in-the-
pet-population/

We provide integrated care throughout the life cycle...

Typical I¥fe expectancy of 12 years for a dog (1417 years for a cat) which is Increasing

8+ years

First-opinion practices sarvicing whole life veterinary care requirements

Online retail business food salas

Labaratory tests

Speclolist referrgl interventions

Compassionate end-of-Iife care and cremation service

1% CVS Group pic Annual Report and Financiai Statements 2022



Geagraphical market

Following the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA)
investigation of our acquisition of Quality Pet Care Ltd, we
now have a clear framework to identify geographical areas
far further growth. The CMA concluded that a substantial
lessening of competition could result frorm an acquisition
where the resulting share of full-time equivalent (FTE)
veterinary surgeons in the relevant catchment area is
above 30%.

Using this guidance, the Group is able to identify significant
areas of the UK which continue to provide opportunities for

acquisitive growth without raising anti-competitive concerns,

which we refer to as "white space”.

c.5,300

veterlnary practices
In the UK*

472

veterinary practices
operated by CVS Group

3. Source: findavet.revs.org.uk

Opportunities for growth

We estimate that the UK veterinary market is under
approximately 55% corporate ownership, with the remaining
veterinary practices owned privately or in partnerships and
small groups. We have seen in ather industries that corporate
ownership can comfortably reach around BO% without
impact to competition in the market. We therefore consider
there is significant runway for further growth via acquisitions
within the UK market.

In addition to acquisitive growth, the market is receptive to
further organic growth through the opening of new sites.
We have a plpeline of three viable new sites for potential
future development,

Our presence in the Republic of Ireland and the Netherlands
also provides a strong framework to develop further
international operations, with emerging European markets
including France, Germany and Spain being potential targets
for future expansion.
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Market overview continued

Market drivers and responses

A growing UK pet
population
Deseription

The UK pet population has continued 1O grow;
continued time spent at home hag grown over

the past two years with consumers recognising

the benefits of companion animal ownership.

» The Pet Focd Manufacturers™ Association, in its

recent survey, indicates that there are now over

2% cats and dogs in the UK.

¥

This increase in the pet population is a helpful
market driver, not just in the short term when
kittens and puppies require vaccinations, mitial
check-ups and in some cases neutaring, but
significartly in the medium and longer term as
they becoma mature animals réguiring more
veterinary Intervention.

Our approach
» We continue to expand our network of

high-quality facilities, accessible across the UK,

the Netherands and the Republic of Ireland.

> We provide access to preventative care
through our successful Healthy Pet Club
scheme which provides prevenmarive
hesttheare Including regutar check-ups,
annual vaccinations and reguiar flea and
WwOrming treatments.

» Wa also provide advice to clients onthe
appropriate choice of pet for thelr individual
circumstances and we offer puppy
socialisation classes in a number of our
first-opinon practices,

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

1 3

Advances in veterinary care

Degcription

* Continued scientific research leads to
further advances in veterinary care offering pet
owners a variety of treatments for their animais.

» Improvements in echnalogy have advanced
the offaring of telemedicine ancl remote
speclalist diagnostic imeage interpratation
and advice.

v

Technology is becoming mora affordable and
more practicas around the world are able 1o
buy MRI and CT scanners. We provide support
through our Vet Cracle™ business. Qur Vet
Oracle™ speclalists ars abla 1o review images
remotely and provide advice on clinical
treatments for first-opinion vets within CVS
and third-party owned practices.

Our approach

» Weinvest in our clinicians. offering them
industry-leading chinical training, and we
provide a culture of recommending the bast
possible treatment w0 our clients.

We have introduced CVS Clinical Research
Awards which are available tc CVS colleagues
snd academics from universities of research
institutes in the LIK, the Netherlands and the
Republic of Ireland. Successful applicants can
receive fundging 1o support clinical research
that benefits veterinary clinical practice.

> We continue to grow our vet-to-vet telemedicine
service, Vet Oracle™, which now has
five spacialisms.

We invest in cutting-edge 1echnology 1o

enable us to offer the best clinical care to our
patiants, including Investing in a stereotactic
linear accaierater for cancer treatment, the First
of its kind for animals in the UK, at our new
refarral centre in Bristol, opening in 2023

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

i 2 3 »
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Availability of vets
to perform services

Description
= There iz 8 continued shortage of veterinary
surgaons and, 1o a lesser extent, nurses in the UK.

The Rayal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS)
has confirmed that veterinary surgeons who
have qualified in the EU can continue to work in
tha UK without any remedial training, provided
they have qualified from European Association
of Establishments far Veterinary Education
{EAEVE) accredited institutions and provided
they meet appropriate language requirernents.

v

> The mumber of veterinary schools in the UK has
increased to eleven currently {from ning as at
the date of our 2021 Annual Raport). The number
of graduate vels each year continues to
increase, and will increase further, as a result.

The RCVS Is In the final stages of consultation
on proposed changes to the Veterinary
Surgeons Act 1966 which, amongst other
things, would enable nurses to undertake a
broader range of procedures without direct
veterinary sUrg®on suparvision.

v

Our approach

» We continue te put cur people first with our
vigion to be the veterinary company people
OBt Wa Nt ta work for,

» Wa have implemented many initiatives with
the aim of attracting new colleagues and
retaining cur existing colleaguas, including
enhanced wellbeing rescurces. We have
particularly targeted new graduate vets,
with our popular Summer and Winter Camps.

» We continue to enhance our Jearning. educetion
and development in suppart of our clinical
colleagues in order 10 enablae their continued
professional development.

» We continue 1o monitor our main kéy performance
indicators of vet vacancy rate and employee
Neat Promoter Score.

> We continue to partner with universivies to
assist students with their extramural studies,
praviding lasting relationships with graduates.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

1 2 3 L]



Did you know?

The Netherlands celebrated 200 years of veterinary medicine In 2021
In 1821, the National Veterinary Schoo! was founded in Utrecht with the hope that sciennfically-
trained veterinanana walld be able to sulve U e problem of livestock diseases. Much has
changed since 1821 as the field of study expanded to match the changing function and
meaning of the anirnal in modern society, and the resulting demand for veterinary services.

Between October and December 2021, colieagues from practices through the Netherlands
carried a "veterinary flame” across the country. They could cycle, walk, row or ride on harseback,
and the flame relay alsc raised money for Vaterinary Medicine Friends, e charity that
conducts paid research to imprave the health of animals.

Online rotail

Description

» Increasingly, our customers are switching
to shopping onfine for their pet food for
convenience and to obtain the most
competitive price.

» Whilst the majority of our clients purchase
drugs in our practices, they can also purchase
a prescription from our practices and then
purchase drugs online.

Our approach

> We have invested in and launched & warehouse
management system to improve the efficiency
of our order futfilment.

» We cantinus to explore oppaortunities within
our onling platform, increasing our website
capabilities and ensuring we have sustainable
competitive pricing. We are launching a new
website for Animed Direct in the 2023
financial year.

> 'We ara reviawing new opportunities to expand
our online offering to our practice customars.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

t 3

Consolidated market

Description

= The UK ard European vetetinary market continues
to consolidate and itis estimated that ¢.55% of
UK practices are under corporate ownership.

> Wa recognise the importance of privately-
owned independent practicas. However,
we can see significant runway for further
consolidation in the market, from review of
cther successful consolidated markets.

» Where private practice owners ara looking to sell,
we are well-positioned to acquire and provide
benefits to owners, colleagues and patients.

Our approach )

> We continue to invest in our integrated model and
support organic and selective acquisitive growth.
During the year, we spent £24.5m an capital
expenditure, in addition to scquiting four
companion animal practice sitas.

> We support independent practices through
our buying groups, cur laboratories, our referral
speclalists, our Vet Oracle™ service and our
crematoria, al! of which offer services to
non-CVS practices as well as our own.

» We will continue to seek synergistic acquisition
cpportunities In areas of the UK where our
presence is more limited, as well as exploring
emarging European markets.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

Humanisation of pets

Description

» The veterinary sector has benefitted from the
humanisation of pets in recent years as pets
are trested increasingly as companions and
seen as an important part of family and home
life, as well as positive contributors to improved
mental and physical health.

= In the PDSA 2022 PAW report, it was reported
that 94% of pat ownars say owning 2 pet makes
them heppy. and 84% of pet owners say
owning & pet improves mental hezalth,

» Research published in tha American Heart
Association journal has linked pet ownership
to improved heaith due to the mental health
benefits of pet companionship and physical
health benefits of physical activity. particularly
associated with dog ownership.

Our approach

» We continue to prioritise high-quality clinical
care end, with our intagrated structura, we can
provide all-round animal care throughout a
pet’s life, from first-opinion, specialist referrals,
diagnostic testing, accessories, pet food and
consumables, to end-of-life care, crematoria and
waste disposal sarvioes, -

» We have a culture of quality Improvement
which ensures our clients can access the most
appropriate care for thelr pet.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

T 2z 3
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Business model

Our fully-integrated veterinary
services model has a track record

of resilience

Our inputs

Passlonate people
We employ dedicated professionals who
are committed tc excellent clinical care.

7,913

employeeos

2,079

veterinary surgeons

Financial strength

We continue to deliver growth in revenue,
adjusted EBITDA and underlying cash
generated from operations.

E£554.2m

revanus

£107.4m
ad]usted EBITDA

£93.1m

cash generated from operations

High-quallty clinical care

All of our practices are registered with the
RCVS Practice Standards Scheme {PSS) and
are committed to investing in and using
modern diagnostic technigues, Wea invest in
clirical training end advanced gualifications.

85
referrals specialists

154
PSS awards

Customer focysed

Qur colleagues are dedicated to providing
a quality service with the highest levels of
customer and clinical care.

470,000

Healthy Pet Club members

719
client Net Promoter Score

Integroted veterinary platform

We have a fully-integrated model with first-opinion veterinary practices at the core
of our business, supported by specialist-led multi-disciplinary referral hospitals,
our own diagnestic laborateries, our netwark of crematoria and our online retail
business for pet food, medicines and pet care products. Through our fully-integrated
model, we can provide high-guality end-te-end cang to our patients and their owners.

voboratorigg

Sew our Oparotional review on pages 45 to B3
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A vertically Integrated

platform with veterinory

practicas ot our core
Strong barriers to entry

High-quality integrated clinical care

Scale benefits

Operating in a sizeable and
growing market with resillent
characteristics

Increased population of pets

Humanisation of pets with
consumers willing to spend more

Recurring robust revenues

Supplemented by prudent

capital allocation

> Investment in new facilities and
equipment, and increase in clinical
specialists, to drive crganic growth

» Opportunity for
accretive acquisitions

» Progressive dividend policy

Find out more in our Finonalal
revisw on pages B4 to S8

Stakeholder value creation

Colleagues

» Supporting cokeagues’ wellbeing
and performing regular check-ins

> Creation of an Equity, Diversity
and Inclusjon (EDI} working group

» Providing career progression

and learning and development
opportunities including continued

professional development and access

to top-tier clinical expertise

» Maintaining high standards
of clinical governance

» Industry-leading graduate programme,

including graduate camps

» A culture of open dialogue and learning

» Cffering competitive rewards
and banefits

Shareholders

» Delivering sustained financial performance

> Open dialogue and communication
with our shareholders

> Appointment of 3 financial PR
agency and recording of analyst
results presentations

> Adherence with reporting
requirements including Streamlined
Energy and Carbon Reporting

» Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
awards are linked to total shareholder
returns and targets sre aligned with
shareholder interests. Executive
Directors are subject to two-year
holding period on LTIP awards

» Annual bonus targets for
Executive Committee members
will now include non-financial
measures linked to sustainability

industry bodies

> Regular contact with the Roya! College

of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS) and
other industry bodies

» Participation in RCVS Practice

Standards Scherne by all CVS practices

» Full engagemaent with RCVS as part

of its recent consultation on proposed
reforms of the Veterinary Surgeons Act
1966 with written submission from CvS

into this consultation

> Publication of annual Quality
Improvement report tc promote
improvements across the profession

> Liaison with RCVS on wellbeing and
ESG matters

Customers

>

v

Ensuring customers have access

1o end-to-end care through our
first-opinion practices, our specialist-led,
multi-disciplinary referral hospitals, our
diagnostic labaoratories and, at the end
of an animal’s life, our compassionate
cremation services

Demenstrating consistently high
clinical standards

Pricritising animal welfare

Providing regular check-ups and
routine treatments {e.g. vaccines,
flea and worming treatments)

Maintaining high standards of
pain management, particularly
in surgical patiants

All our first-opinion companion animal
practices have sign access to allow
deaf clients access to veterinary care

Providing an equine out-of-hours service

Community

>

Focus on quality improvement
including antimicrabial stewardship

Cutreach to schools

Regular liaison with industry bodies
including the RCVS, British Veterinary
Association, British Veterinary Nursing
Association, and more

Donations to charity, including
sponsorships and ennual Vetlife
charity donations

Suppliers

>

Fair trading terms with our suppliers
which promcte the collective intarests
of CVS and our supplier base

Regular meetings with senior
management teams o ensure
interests are aligned

Suppkers continue to benefit from the
growth of CVS organically and through
our strategic acquisitions

Engagement on ESG matters to ensure
collective improvemeant

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Finoncial Statemants 2022
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Our culture

Driving positive change
with care at our heart

Our culture and values reflect
our purpose to give the best
possible care to animals and
our vision to be the veterinary
company people most want
to work for.
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“We're building an inclusive
behaviour framework, to help
everyone understand what
they can do to foster inclusivity
within their teams.”

Qur approach

Individual attitudes and behaviours are key 1o our success.
These values not only make us different, they also provide us
with a sensa of direction for consistent behaviour. They act
as a foundation for our evolving culture as well as a guide
describing what we can expect of each other and what our
colleagues, our customers and the communities in which
we work can expect of us. Our values are at the heart of how
we work and they provide the inextricable link that ties all of
these things together.

In 2022, we completed a Group-wide culture survey in which
our colleagues fed back their experiences of inclusion, support
and fairness within CVS, We are using this feedback to guide
our colleague-lad Equity, Diversity and tnclusion (EDI) graups,
focusing on Ability and Neurcdiversity, Ethnicity, Social Mobility,
Gender and LGBTQ+. The groups have great passion for this
hugely important subject and are already helping us identify
ways in which we can further improve. We are in this for the
long term, and we recognise that sustainable cultural

and systemic change will take time. We are building a
comprehensive EDI strategy, which will evolve over time

as we respond to what we are achieving and what our
colleagues are telling us.

Qur values

Customer focus

Our dedication to our customers is at the heart of our business
and we are focused on our customers’ and their animels’ needs.
We treat our customers with warmth and respect, we make
thern feei welcome, and we keep our commitments.

Commitment to excellence

We constantly strive to achieve the highest possible
standards in the quality of services and products we provide.
We look for better ways of working, both individually and in
teams, and we encourage colieagues to be innovative to
improve the way we work.

Success through our people

We aim to attract, develop and retain the best people. We
foster a collaborative and mutuzally supportive working
environment, and we assist all our colleagues in achieving
their career aspirations, with progressive learning and
development opportunities.

Honesty and Integrity

We traat our colleagues and customers with honesty and
respect. We strive to ensure safety and accessibility in all
areas of our business. We act with integrity in all that we do,
being fair, transparent and accessible to &ll. We are open to
feedback and we own up to our mistakes.

How we demonstrate our values

We achieve succass through our people: The companian
animai practices within CVS collectively received an RCVS
Knowledge Champion Award in 2021, for auditing small animal ear
cytology on & national scale over g long period, resulting in an
increase in diagnostic tests and a reduction in antibiotic use across
a wide range of practices.

We act with honesty and integrity: Many of our colleagues are
already demonstrating inclusive behaviours, but we recognise that
we can always do more to recognise and celebrate these inclusive
behaviours. With the help of our colleague EDI groups, we're building
an inclusive behaviour framework to help everyone understand
what they can do to foster inclusivity within their teams.

Qur culture in numbers

4.8 280

employee Net Promater Score active Wellbeing Champions

Discover mors on page 31

374

managers wha completed
"Supporting the Wellbeing
of Your Team™ training

5

EDI working groups
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Section 172(1) statement and
stakeholder engagement

Creating value for
our stakeholders

Section 172(1) Statement

Our Section 172(1) Statement sets out how the Board has
given regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1)(a)-f) of
the Companies Act 2006 ("s1727) in performing its duties over
the course of the year. The Company’s purpose, vision and
strategy are reviewed and discussed annually by the Board 10
ensure that these continue to promote the long-term success
of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole,
whilst also having regard to the matters set out in s172.

Purpose, vislon and strategy

Qur purpese is to give the best possible care to animals and
Qur vigion is to be the veterinary company people most want
to work for. This purpose and vision are in alignment with the
long-term interasts of our customers, our colleegueas and
other stakeholders in the delivery of high-guality, sustainable
¢linical care for animals.

Stakeholder engugement

The Board has identified six key stakeholders who are essential
to the delivery of the Company’s strategy and long-term
success, details of which are sat out on the following pages.
Qur colleagues, customers, shareholders, community, industry
bodies and suppliers are at the heart of what we do; it is of the
highest Importance to us that we engage with all of our
stakeholders mearingfully to inforrn decision-making and ensure
that we provide value in all areas of our business. We prormote
an ongoing dialogue with all of our stakeholders to enable us to
act on feedback and foster a cutture of honesty and integrity.

Consideration of 5172 factors by the Board

The following table sets out some key decisions taken by the
Board during the year and how 5172 factors and engagement with
stakeholders have been discussed and taken into consideration.

The Board has a duty to act for the benefit of its members as
a whole whilst having regard to the matters set out in s172:

a. the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;
b. the interasts of the Company's employees;

c. the need to foster the Company’s business relationships
with suppliers, customers and others;

d. theimpact of the Company's operations onthe
community and the environment;

e. the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation
for high standards of business conduct; and

f. the need toact fairly as between members of the Company.
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Board decision 5172 considerations

Pividend The Board considered the Company's capital
The Beard approved a final  position and performance and agreed the
dividend of 6.5p per raintroduction of its progressive dividend

Ordingery share of 0.2p eash policy which ie based on growing the
in the capital of dividend per Ordinary shara over time.
the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2021

Linksto 8172:a, candf

The Baard also considared whether it was
approprlate to return capital to shareholders
through the uss of special dividends and share
buybacks, but teking intc considaration the
long-term investment needs of the business,
the Board decided to reinvest capital in
supporting delivery of long-term growth

Environmentsl, 8oclaland The Board considered the Compeny's
Governance [ES0) environmental impact and discussed
stratagy Initiatives such as tha reduction of waste,
During the course of the waler consumption and the transition to
year, the Board formally recycled packaging. In addition to formally
adopted the UN Sustainable adopung the UN Susisinable Developmant
Development Goals and Goals, the Board also commutted to adopting
joined the UN Glabal the Sustainabllity Accounting Standards
Compact, as part of its Board (SASB) reporting framework 83 a means
cormmitment 1o elivering  to sommunicate ta stakeholders data relating
on is ESG stralegy as set out to actions tha Board is taking with regard to
on pages 32 to 44. financially-material sustainability factors.

. . SASB date [s recorded in tha Group's 2022
CVS published ‘mﬁrSt. " Sustainabillty Raport. Further, the Board has
standalone Sustainability -adoptad th it of th
Report on 12 August 2022, sarly-adopt & recommendations of the

Task Foree on Chmats-Related Financial

Linksto$T72:e. b, dande  Disclosures [TCFD): the Group's TCFD
statement ¢an be read on pages 38 to 44.

Cost-of-living pay review
The Boerd agreed an
additional 3.0% salary
incresse for all collaaguss

The Board agreed to an additional pay
increase in May 2022 in recognition of the
increased costs faced by households in the
UK and Europe. The Board considered the

(save for the Executive views of its stakeholders and agreed that
Directors) with effect fram 1 priaritising the needs of its colleagues wou'ld
May 2022 to support alsa have B positive impact on the communities

increased costs of ltving. it operates in as an employar, as well as
Further, the Board committed cementing our reputation as a great place to
to paying aminimum of 3.0% work and have a career.

abaove National Minimum

‘Wage/Nationa! Uving Wage

for ali present end Futura

calleagues.

Linksto 5172: b, d ancle




Colleagues

Why we engage

Cur vision is to be the veterinary company people most want to
work for. By engaging with our colleagues, we can understand
their motivations and work with them to maximise colteague
engagement and welfare. Our focus is continuing to provide cur
colleagues with the flexibility and support they need to develop
their careers.

How we engage

We issue Group-wide correspondenca in the form of weekly
emails, 2 monthly magazine and quarterly video briefings,
which are issued in English and Dutch with subtitles, to improve
accessibility. We host an annusl conference where clinical staff
from acress our divisions can engage with other members of
the business.

We actively monitor our colleague satisfaction via our employee
Net Promoter Score (NPS), which is updated monthly. The score
is broken down on a divisional basis, and business leaders seek
feedback in response to changes in the score.

Although much of our day-to-day engagement with colleagues
is delegated to local teams, a Non-Executive Director regularly
meats with our colleagues to discuss kay matters.

We host live question end answer webinars with our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer. and answers
are also shared in the monthly company magazine.

OQutcomes

Qur colleagues provide valuable feedback, particularly on issues
which affect them most, such as the rising costs of living. As a
result of this, we announced an out-of-cycle pay rise for all colleagues,
as well as a commitment to pay atieast 3.0% above National Minimum
Wage/National Living Wage te all current and future colleagues.

In the past year, an increasing pet population and growing
demand for high-quality clinicat care has coincided with a
shortage of clinical staff in the industry, leading to increased
dermands on our colieagues. We have monitored feedback from
our colleagues and continue ta implement measures to support
them, by focusing on recruitment and retention, and investing in
axcellent facilities.

We have continued to increase our wellbeing resources, including
training further Wellbeing Champions and First Aiders for Mental
Health, increasing the range of rescurces available on our wellbeing
portal, and promoting our Employee Assistance Programme.

Customers

Why we engage

Customers rightly expect the highest quality care for their
animals, We provide this through our integrated veterinary
services model which enables us to deliver high clinical
standards and quality facilities.

We engage with our customers to ensure we are meeting their
high standards of service, and to identify opportunities to
improve client service.

How we engage

Alongside contact within our practices, we regularly
communicate with our customers through a variety of channels
such as social media, emaif and direct mail, promoting animal
wellbeing in addition to discounts and benefits.

We seek feedback from customers enabling us to measure our
customer Net Promoter Score.

Cur practice teams engage rmost closely with customers, and
these colleagues are encouraged to provide regional and central
management with feedback on key issues identified in corversations
during consultations and other in-practice interactions.

Qutcomes

Wa continue to invest in our integrated veterinary platform,
ensuring we can offer our customers a complete pet care
service, from first-opinion clinics and refermral centres, 10 the sale
of pet food and medications, to in-house laboratory testing,
compassionate cremation services and clinical waste disposal,

We ensure our acquisitions will improve the level of service we
offer to our customers, whether it is covering a broader range of
locations or providing enhanced services, such as out-of-hours,
to complement existing practices.

We continue to invest in improving our practices to enhance
customer experience and the quality of clinical care we can
provide. Our new flagship referral hospital with cutting-adge
facilities and equipment, including a specialist stereotactic linear
accelerator, is on track to open in Bristol in early 2023. The
additional cepacity will help us treat a larger number of cases and
the advanced equipment will open up treatment opportunities to
give the bast possible care to animals.
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Section 172(1) statement and

stakeholder engagement continued

Shareholders

Why we engage

We actively engage with our sharsholders, highlighting our
investment case and communicating our future plans, to ensure
the Group's strategy is aligned to the imerests of its shareholders.

Our shareholders hold us accountable for doing the right thing,
and by engaging with them we can understand and act on their
expectations, enabling us to drive the business forward, deliver
sustainable growth in shareholder return and attract additional
investors to support the busingss.

How we engagse

We engage with our shareholders through our Annual General
Meeting (AGM), broker conferences, one-to one meetings and
investor roadshows. We have an ongoing dialogue with our
shareholders and value therr feedback, which 1s regularly
discussed at Board meetings.

We keep the investor section of our website up to date to provide
timely updates about CVS and its activities.

Individual sharshclders are encouraged to contact Directors on
all matters relating to governance and strategy via the Company
Secretary. Qur Executive Diractors take partin live webcasts of
our interim and prelminary results announcements, including live
question and answer sessions with analysts.

Cutcomes
At the 2021 AGM, 100.0% of rasclutions were passad and votes
in favour ranged from 93.7% 10 100.0%.

During the year, we attended eight investor conferences and we
were delighted to attend in-person investor roadshows in the
United States and the Republic of frefand.

Our next capital markets day will be held on 8 November 2022,
giving investors a deeper insight into our future growth opportunities
and our capital allocation pricrities, with an opportunity to mest
our colleagues and attend practice tours.
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Community

Why we engage

We regularly engage with local communities in which our
practices operate, communities of pet owners and animal carers,
and the communities to which our colfesgues belong, in order to
understand how we can support them.

By engaging with our communities we can find ways to
contribute positivealy to the environments in which we work,
promote emplayment satisfaction within our operations and
support our communities to achieve commeon goals, such as
the advancament of clinical care.

How we engage

We have an annual charity of the year, which is chosen by our
colleagues; in 2022 this is the Pet Blood Bank. Throughout the
year we hold regular fundraising events from bake sales in local
practices to Group-wide promated events.

Qur practices also engage within their local communities,
providing key care to animals for a number of smaller charities,

Outcomes

Qur colleagues raised £10,000 for our 2021 charity of the year,
British Divers Marine Life Rescue, which was matched by CVS in
a donation to Vetlife. This maney helped the charity to deal with
increased callouts after Storm Arwen, and helped to fund its new
Seal Hospital in Cornwall.

In February 2022, we launched our *MintCVS” workshaps
initiative, which sees our cofleagues visit local schools to help get
children excited about science and animals, with activities from
roleplay. to pet first aid, to careers advice.

We have implernented a number of initiatives to lessen or offset
our impact on the environment. Our crematoria have been
donating throughout 2021 and 2022 towards the National Trust
tree planting initiative. For every individual cremation received In
2021, a contribution was made to this initiative, culminating in &
£10,000 danation in June 2022 which equates to almost three
football pitches of new green space in loving memaory of pets.



Industry bodies

Why we engage

We actively engage with our industry bodies, including the Royal
College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS), the British Veterinary
Association (BVA) and the British Veterinary Nurses Association
(BVNA), to promote innovation and advancement within the
veterinary industry.

How we engage
We engage with our regulators over a wide range of issues.

Where appropriate, we hold meetings with industry bodies, such as
the RCVS, BVA, BYNA and Veterinary Defence Society, to discuss
key issues and share initiatives and improvements across the industry.

Appropriate colleagues atiand update calls and webinars with
regulatary bodies to understand upcoming regulatory changes,
such as the addition of ESG measures to the RCVS Practice
Standards Scheme (PSS) which we were pleased to see in 2022

Outcomes

In August 2022, we released our latest Guality Improverment (QF
teport, updating our stakeholders on our approach to improving
clinical standards in the industry. Ql is hugely important to ensure
we can maintain the highest possible standards of care. Qur
colleagues’ work on the impact of parasiticides on the natural
environment will provide recommendations to inform clinical

decision-making in an area which is currently not well understood.

Wae ware actively involved in consultation with the RCVS on
recommendations for reform of the Veterinary Surgeons Act
1966 and are keen to see this legislation amended so that our
highly-skilled nurses can undertake more procedures.

In advance of any changes in legisiation, we have increased
nurse utilisation in our veterinary practices as permitted under
existing legislation, with the percentage of Registered Veterinary
Nurses (RVNs) carrying out consultations increasing significantly
inthe year.

Suppliers

Why we engage

We are proud to have long-term relationships with our wholesalers
and manufacturers, regularly communicating with them to
promote our relationship. Through these relationships we can
generate consistent custom for our suppliers, in return achieving
mutually favourable terms on purcheses.

We engage with our suppliers to deliver ongoing benefits 1o our
businesses, collaboratively finding operational and sustainable
improvements and delivering improved value.

We have shared sustainability goals with some of our key
suppliers. We recognise that through working together we can
reduce cur impact on the environment.

How we engage
We regularly communicata with our suppliers to review contract
terms and identify mutually beneficial opportunities.

Cur suppliers are invited to attend our annual conference to
understand our business, engage with other key stakeheclders
and ask any questions they may have.

‘We attend industry conferences and events which are also
attended by our existing suppliers, as well as other suppliers that
we may work with in the future. We actively engage at these
avents to understand where our goals might be aligned to those
of suppliers.

Outcomes

We have continued to maintain appropriate cornmunication with
our suppliers, ensuring they are paid on time and are able to
deliver sufficient product.

We have formed partnerships with some of our key suppliers to
reduce our impact on the environment. Our office supplies
provider, Warrans Office, has worked closely with us on a number
of environmental initiatives, including timing the deliveries of its
office supplies to our practices to coincide with deliveries to
other customers in the same areas,

We have partnered with environmental award-winning print
supplier SF Taylor to launch the CVS Print Hub in November 2021.
The CVS Print Hub provides a catalogue of printed items for CVS
practices to crder, including posters, leaflets and branded
letterheads. Fully accredited with SO 14001, FSC and PFEC, SF
Taylcr also holds awards for its commitment to manufacturing
with process-free printing plates; use of only vegetable-based
inks; reduction of wastage by recycling solvents wherever
passible; and use of an ink pumping system which both reduces
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) emiitted to the atmosphere and
minimises waste,
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Our strategy

Driving business performance
by doing the right thing

1. We recommend and pravide the best
clinical care every time

Our strategic objectives

> To have a cultura of recommending the hest possible treatments to
our clients.

» Todeliver industry-leading chnical training.

» Ta be committed to evidence-based medicine and have a robust quality
improvement framawork.

s To ensure our clinicians have access to the right madicines at the right time.

Our achievements In the year

» Wa have once again published our annual Quality improvement (Qf report,
reflecting our commitment to leading the veterinary profession in patient
safety and promoting a culture of learming and development amongst
colleagues.

» We havafocused on our Patient Care Index, which is our framework to
monitor the quality of patient care.

> Our Vet Cragke™ virtual specialist hospital has continued to grow, with

13,000 cases considered in 2022,

Qur aguine end farm colleagues have been focusing on implementing QI

measuras, including establishing a Q1 Lead within sach practice

Qutlook

> Wa are working hard to drive increased levels of preventative hesithcare
and we hope to ¢ontinue to grow membership of our Healthy Pet Club.

» Our referrals teams are Using technalogy (o advence chnkan-reparted ana
cllant-reported outeome meassures, which will undoubtadly lead the way 0
inroducing this work to the wider profession,

Market drivers

This pillar is impacted by:

» agrowing UK pat populaticn;

» advances in velerinary care; and
*» hurnenisation of pats.

¥

LinktoKPIs & B € Db E £ 6 H | J K L
Read more on pages 28 to 31

Linktorisks 7 ¥ % ¢
Read mare on pages 800 68
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2. We are a great place to work and have
a career

Our strateglc objectives
» To create opportunities for our people to have a diverse and
rewarding career.
» To heas flexible as possible in all our roles.
» To have the best leaders within our businesses.
» To offar the best learning, education and development in the profession.

Our achlevamants In the year

» Inthe year ended 30 June 2022 we employed an average of 2,079 vets
(2021;1,962). This is a 6.0% increase from 202110 2022, despite workforce
shortagas in the veterinary industry, demonstrating the success of our
paople-focused strategy.

» Our vet and nurse attrition has remained relativaly stable.

» Our amployee Net Promoler Score, which tracks collesgue engagement
geross our business, Incressed by B5.5% from 202110 2022,

> We have placed 362 new colleagues through our tughly successful refer-a-
friend scheme and we have filled 160 roles with intermnal candidatas.

» We have implemented enhanced benefits for our colleagues including
increased pay and holiday. In May 2022, we announced our commitment to
pay a minimurm of 3.0% above National Minimum Wage/Natianal Living Wage
to all current and future collieagues.

Outlook
> We will remain focused on colleague recruitment and retention, seeking
further initiatives to iImprove colleague satisfaction,

> Our Culture Survay has provided excellent faedback which our five colleague-

led Equity, Diversity and inclusion (EDI) groups are working on to suppart
collesgues on topics including:

= Ability and Neurcdiversity;

« Ethnicity;

- Social Mobility:

- Gender; and

- LGBTQ+

Our industry-leading learning, educstion and development platform, the
Kriowledga Hub, goes from strength 1 strength, with 261 courses

naw availeble.

Market drivers

This pillar is impacted by:

» a growing UK pet population;

» advances in veterinary cere;

» avallability of vets to perform services; and
» humanisation of pets.

¥

LinktoKPIls A 8 ¢ B E F &6 H J K L

Read more on pages 28 to 31

Linktorisks ' 2 ® * & #
Read more on pages 60 to 88
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‘Weo recommend

and provida the We are o great
best clinkcal care phace to work and
evary time have a career

1 2

3 b

Wae provide We take our
great facilltles rasponsibilitias
and equipment sariously

3. We provide great facilities
and equipment

Our strategle cblectives

» Toensure all our practicas meet the Royal College of Veterinary Surgaons
[RCVS) Practice Standards Scheme accreditation standards, and to aspire
to achieve further RCVS awards.

» Toinvest in our estate to ensure all our facilities meet excellent standards.

» To expand our network with high-quality facilities.

» To develop new ways Lo serve our clients end our patients.

Our achlevements in the year

» Wae have completed 23 practica relocations and refurbishments.

» In 2022, we spent £13.7m on investment in our fecilities end medical
equipment.

» During the vear, we acquirad three naw practices [four practice sites),
which complement cur existing pertfolio of practices,

Qutlook

» We are committed to enhancing the quality of our on-site facilities.

* Our genior clinical teams are launching and training new techniques
across our practices.

» Cur flagship specialist veterinary hospital in Bristol opening in 2023,
will have specialists in every discipline and cutting-edge equipment
and technology.

Market drivers

This piller is impacted by:

» agrowing UK pet population;

» advances in veterinary care;

» availability of vets to perform services; snd
> aconsclidated markat,

LnktoKPIls ~ &8 ¢ D € F G H J K L

Read more on pages 28 to 31

Linktorlsks ' 2 3 4 8 ¢ & ¢
Read more on pages 60 to 88
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. We take our responsibilities seriously
Our strateglc objectives

To make our Group as environmentally sustainable as possible

To implement the best levels of health and safety in the profession.
To prioritise the wellbeing of our people.

Ta engage with the veterinary profession and support its interests,

Our achievements In the year

» Warefreshed our EDI committes and introduced and recruited 60
colleagues from across CVS to five new collesgue-led EDI groups.

» We have publishad our first standalone Sustainability Report. using the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board {SASB) as the reparting
framework to disclose our sustainability data.

» 1n this Annual Report we heve early-adopted the requirermnants of the
Task Force on Climata-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

¥y ¥ YV

Read more in our TCFD repart on poges 38 to i,

» We have installed an automatic anonymisation feature within our primary
practice menagement systam that erases or anonymises customer data
in line with the data retention policy.

Outlook

> Wa want 1o play a leading role in tackling issues such as antimicrobial
resistanca - a criticel challenge for amimal heafthcare globally. We
continue to support research into this subject and promote a reduction
In prescribing of unnecessary of Inapprogriate antmicrobials.

> CVS works closely with RCVS Knowledge, the chariy partner of the RCVS,
to help promote its mission "to advance the guality of vaterinary care for
the benefit of animals, the public, and society.”

> Wa will continue to report annually under the 5ASH and TCFD frameworks,
ensuring accountability to our stakeholders, including setting measurable
targsts against which to benchmark progress.

Market drivers

Thes piller is impacted by:

» avallability of vets 1o perform sarvices; and
» humanisation of pets.

LinktoKPls & ® € P E F G H J Kk L
Read rnore on pages 28 to 3

Linktorisks * 2 % & 6 7 ¥
Read more on pages 80 to 68
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Key performance indicators

Financial KPls

Ensuring CVS
tracks and monhors
the correct KPls,
both financial and
non-financial, is
key in measuring
our success.

1. Adjusted financial measuras
{adjusted EBITDA, adiusted profit
before tax and ad)usted sarnings
per sharg) ere defined in note 1o
the financial statemeants, and

(A) Revenue (Em)

£554.2m

+8.6%

2022 554%.2
2021 5101
2020 427.8
2019 “068.5

2mB 327.3

Whuy it’s a KPI

Revenue is a key measure of
performance across all
divisions of the Group and
demonstrates our ability to
attract and retain customers.

2022 parformance
» Group revenus has increased
by £44.1m.

v

Like-for-like sales, adjustad
for intercompany revenue
eliminations, increased by
E371m (8.0%) as a result of
investments in our peaple,
facilities and clinical
equipment.

» Acquisitions during the year
and the full year impact of
prigr year acquisitions
generated additional revenue
of £7.0m.

(B) Like-for-like sales
(%)

8.0%

-54.0%

2022 8.0

2021 74
2020 | 07

209 5.2

2018 L9

Why it's a KPI

Like-for-like sales shows revenue
generated from like-for-like
cperations compared to the
prior year, adjusted for the
number of working days. For
example, for a practice acquired
In September 2020, revenue is
included from September 2021
in the like-for-like calculations.
This shows the underlying
growth ir revenue across all
divisions, excluding the impact
of acquisitions.

2022 performance

> Like-for-like performance
reflects growth in both price
and volume compared to the
previous year.

Price increases are in line with
inflation and reflect our focus
on delivering high-quality
care to our clients and
patients.

v

The increase in volume has
been driven by an increase in
clinical staff supported by our
continuing investment in our
facilities and clinical

(C) Adjusted EBITDA'
(Em)

£107.4m

+10.2%

2022 1074
2021 975
2020 o

2019 54.5

2018 Y7.4

Why it's a KPI

Adjusted Earnings Before

Interest, Taxation, Depreciation
and Amortisation (EBITDA)
excludes costs relating to
business combinations and
exceptional items and assists in
understanding the underlying
performance of the Group.

2022 performance

» The improvement in adiusted
EBITDA reflects the increase
in likefor-like sales and
improvement in gross margin
before clinical staff costs, as
we cantinue to deliver our
purpose to give the best
possible care to animals.

» Thisincrease has contributed
to the improvement in
like-for-like adjusted EBITDA
of £9.3m. with acquisitions in
the year and the full year
impact of pnor year
acquisitions generating an
additional £1.5m.

¥

This is partly offset by an
increase in caentral costs of
£0D.8m as we continue to

reconciled to the financial eguipment. invest in our support
measures defined by International functions to support the
Financial Reporting Standards delivery of high-quality care
{IFRS) an pagas 714 and 132. across the Group.

Link to stratagy 1 2 3 & 1t 2 3 & 1 2 3 %

Read more on pages 28 and 27
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{D) Adjusted EPS'
{pence)

85.8p

+11,2%

2022 85.8
2021 7541
2020 L2.0

2019 46,7

28 L24

Why i's a KPI

This is profit before tax adjusted
for: amortisation; costs relating
to business combinations; and
exceptional items net of the
noticnal tax impact of these,
divided by the weighted
average number of shares.

2022 performance

> The increase reflects the
increase of £9.3m in the year
in adjusted profit before tax',

» Issued share capital has
increased only by the number
of shares required to satisfy
the Group’s Long-Term
Incentive Plan and Savs As
You Earn schemes.

(E) Total capex (Em)

£24.5m

+47.6%

2022 245
2021 16.5

2020 124

2019 129

2018 107

Why it's a KPI

This is the total amount

spent by the Group on capital
gxpenditure ("capex”), Capital
expenditure is incurred on
refurbishment and relocation
of practice facliities and
investment in new equipment
and clinical facilities. Investing
i our practices and clinical
eguipment is key to
achievement of our strategic
goal of providing great facilities
and equipment.

2022 performance

> Total capital expenditure
has increased by £7.9m,
consisting of a £2.6m
increase in maintenance
capital expenditure,
and a £5.3m increase
in development capital
expenditure, with the
focus on improving client
experience and growing
our business. Refer to the
Financial review on pages 54

{F) Gross margin
before clinical
staff costs (%)

76.9%

+HA%

2022 769
20 761
2020 75.8
2019 762

2018 79.6

Why It’s a KPI

Gross margin represents
revenue after deducting the
cost of drugs, laboratory fees
and cremation: faes, and other
goods sold or used by the
business, expressed asa
percentage of total revenue.
Gross margin is a KPl because
it helps us to monitor and
measure our ability to purchase
drugs at the best possible
price whilst ensuring the
highest quality.

2022 performance

» The increase in gross
margin is principally due
to our focus on providing
great clinical care through
increased diagnostics.

(G) Cash generated
from operations
(Em)

£93.1m
+15.9%

2022 934
2021 80.3
2020 4.8
2019 52,1

2018 ué.7

Why it's a KP{

Cash generatad from
operations shows the cash

inflows befora: payments of
taxation and interest; business
combinations: purchases of
property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets;
repayment of right-of-use
assets; payments of dividends;
debt issuance costs; increase/
repayment of bank loans:
exceptianal items; and
proceeds from issue of shares.
Delivery of increased cash
generated from operations
allows us to invest in further
growth opportunities across
our business.

2022 performance

» Cash generated from
operations has increased
due to the increase in profit
for the year offsat by adverse
working capital, with an
increase in inventories of
£6.6m and a reduction in

to 58 for further detail. trade payables dugtoa
portion of colleagues” bonus
payments now baing paid in
salary.
1 2 3 & 1 2 3 & 1 2 3 & 1. 2 2 »
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Key performance indicators continued

Non-financial KPls

Tracking our
non-financial
measures allows
us to monitor our
performance
against cur core

strategic goals.

1. These non-financial KPis align
with our strategy; however, data
is only available for three years.

2. Net Promoter Score measures
customer and colleague
experience using the answer o a
key question, “how likely is it that
you wauld recammend CV377,
with 8 0-10 scale. Responses
are analysed using 2 waighted
celculation to vield a score
betwean a low of -100 to
a high of 100.

(H) Vet vacancy rate

(%)

10.4%

+25.3%

2022 108
2021 83

2020 [-X

209 LAl
2018 1.3

Why 1t's a KPI

The vet vacancy rate is
calculated as the sverage
number of live vet vacancies
divided by the total number

of vets by headcount plus
vacancies. This shows the
average level of vet vacancies
for the Group during the period.
This links to our strategic goal of
being the veterinary company
people most want to work for

2022 performance

» The vet vacancy rate has
increased in 2022, as we are
advertising for a number of
new positions to support our
growth due to increasing
demand for our services.

(1) Healthy Pet
Club members

470,000

+.N%

2022 ¥70,000
2021 450,000
2020 5,000

2019 LO1,000

2018 362,000

Why it’s a KPi

Healthy Pet Club is our
praventative care scheme. (t
provides CVS with a robust and
regular revenue stream, as well
as improving customer loyaity.

2022 performance

» The number of Healthy Pet
Club membars has increased
by 4.4% inthe year.

» This demonstrates the
increased humanisation of
pets and desire for our clients
ta invest in their pets’ health
through pteventative care.

(J) Number of
RCVS awards

154

-3.1%

2022 164
202 159
2020 15¢
2019 1M

2018 83

Why it's a KPI

This shows the numbser of RCVS

Practice Standards Scheme
(PS5) awsrds across the Group.
These awards prornote and
maintain the highest standards
of veterinary care across & range
of different criteria including
client experience and clinical
governance. Monitoring the
number of RCVS awards helps
us achieve our strategic

goal of taking our
responsibilities seriously.

2022 performance

» PSS accreditations and award
assessments stopped during
COVIDA8 lockdown pericds.

> The Awards have recently
begun to be assessed again,
but to manage the pressure
that some practices gre
under, we have not bagun
actively promoting
re-assessment.

Of our 154 PSS Awards, 117
relate to client service,
highlighting our focus on
exceptional cliant service.

¥

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 28 and 27
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(K) Employee NPS"2

4.8

+85.5%

2022 w.B
2021 29
2020 0.7

Why it’s a KPI

Employee Net Promoter Score
(eNPS) is a measure of how
likely our colleagues are to
recommend the Group as a
place to work as reported on
anonymous surveys, Monitoring
eNPS shows the level of
colleague satisfaction across
the Group and helps us to
ensure we are a great place

to work and have a career.

2022 performance

» We have seen significant
improvemeants in colleague
engagement; our focus on
colleague recruitment and
retention supports us in our
vision to be the veterinary
company people most want
to work for.

» We care about the wellbeing
of our colleagues and
continue to look for ways to
support themn in their roles,
such as implementing new
pastoral support roles in
practices, and utilising our
280 active Wellheing

(L) Client NPS™2

71.9

-0.4%

2022 e
202t 72.2
2020 78.5
Why it’s a KPI

Client Net Promaoter Score (NPS)
is @ measure of the level of our
clients’ satisfaction with their
experiences with the Group via
anonymous reporting of the
likelihood that clients wauld
recommend the Group for our
services. Monitoring NFS helps
us to ensure we recommend
and provide the best clinical
care every ime.

2022 performance

> Client engagement has
remained consistent with the
prior year, at very high levels.

» Wa have been pleased that
our practices were able to
re-open their reception areas
for much of the financial year,
and, more recently, invite
clients back into ¢onsuitation
rooms.

> We hope that our focus an
high-quality clinical care and
investment in our practice
facilities will continue to mest
our clients’ demands for
exceptional care of their

Champions across the
business treasured animals.
1 2 & & 1 3

Area of focus

A culture of learning from mistakes

Talking about and learning from mistakes, or near misses,
is an integral part of having a culture where patient safety
is paramount. It is also essential to support the team
mambers involved, as we know that people can become
extremely distressed by these events, known as second
victim syndrome, and their mental health may suffer.

The meaning of a significant event in this context is any
unintended or unexpected event which could or did lead
to animal harm. The significant event analysis process
provides a framework to systematically identify all factors
that contributed to an event, so that improvernents can
be made. While human error may play a role, there will
always be more factors invelved.

The online signhificant event recording system, VetSafe, is
where practices can reccrd and share thase events. A
high number of VetSafe records is considered success,
as the team is more likely to be learning from these
events and putting measures in place to reduce the
chances of the event happening again, Centrally, trends
in reporting are identified and support can be provided in
the form of learning opportunities and guidance, as well
as taking on some of the things that are outside of the
practices power to change themselves.

Significant events recorded on VetSafe

2021-2022 617
2020-2024 Sy
2019-2020 O
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Sustainability

Care at the heart
of our business

Value creation

Rearuiting and
retaining more
sxcellant ciinfeai

colleaguas
Providing
Creating higher quolity
ahappler of animai
workfarea care

Qur purpose Continusll Rolsing Industry

A 3 '° "": y stagndards and

Qur purpose is to give the best P.’;:':"m’:i. supporting the
3 i vatarinary
possible care to animals and Impaat profession

Driving

Helplng more
;u_stoln;hle anlmaly, whe [n
mvt:s 4 tumn improve
raturna pacpie’s lives

Manting markst
demand

Cur sfforts to build a more sustainable business will drive increased standards,
an improved working envirornment for our colleagues and Improved raturns for
our shargholders. This improvement feeds into a positive cycle of performance
in all aspects of cur economic performance, sustainable practices and
corporate governance.

QOur vision

Qur vision is to be the veterinary
company pecple most want to
work for

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statemants 2022



Introduction

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) stratagy
was introduced in our 2021 Annual Report, setting out why
and how we care:

> We care about protecting the wellbeing of our colleagues,

and equipping them with the support, resourcses, training
and access to personal development oppartunities that
they need.

> We care about driving standards of clinical excellence in
the profession and giving the best possible care to
animals.

> We care about making a positive impact in the
communities in which we work.

> Wa care about doing our job in a way that is sustainable
and that does not compromise the natural environment.

> We care about delivering value for our investors by doing
the right thing.

Ta support the delivery of this strategy, we have established
working groups across CVS which have been assignedto
monitor, assess, understand and develop proposals to
manage our impact in the following areas:

» Energy and Carbon;

> Waste;

» ‘One Health' (including antimicrobial resistance);
> Wellbeing;

> People Development;

» Equity, Diversity and inclusion; and

» Community.

Our goal is to build a maore sustainable business, driving
increased standards, a better working environment for our
colleagues and improved shareholder returns.

Read our Sustainabllity
Report at cvsukltd.co.uk

CVSin 2022 at a glance

c.1.2m
Companion animals under our care
(2021 c1am}

£554.2m

Revenue
{2021 £510.1m)

£107.4ym

Adjusted EBITDA
(2021: £97.5m)

£1.2bn

Market capitalisation
1,656p per share at 30 June 2022
(2021: £1.7bn, 2,415p per share)

470,000

Members of the Healthy Pet Club,
our preventative hesalthcare scheme
(2021 450,000

I

Clinicians on our Executive Committee,
including three veterinary surgeons, of which two

are specialists, and one qualified veterinary nurse,
compnsing 50% of roles (Chief Operating Officer,
Chief Veterinary Officer, Director of Clinical Operations
and Group Procurement Director)

7,913

Collsagues employed

(2021 7.247), including 2,079 veterinary surgeons
(2021: 1,962} and 2,833 nurses (2021 2,548)

§72

Veterinary surgeries
(2021: 498) throughout the UK, the Netherlands
and the Republic of Ireland
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Sustainability continued

Energy ond carbon

Key objectives
1. Consumption management and user awareness.

2. A programme of targeted capital expanditure.

3. Enhancement of existing construction, maintenance and
property leasing activities.

Progress In the year

As part of our adoption of Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting (SECR), we have undertaken work 1o reduce our
Scope, 2 and 3 emissions, as well as broadening the extent of
our reporting to include details of greenhouse gas emissions
{including anaesthetics) which are not covered by SECR.

We have moved to a renewable energy supply, we are
supporting smarter heat and building management and we are
reducing electricity use in our day-to-day operations. In April
2022, we also added a range of ultra-low emissions vehicles
(ULEV] to our company car list.

We have conducted work to measure climate risk within our
business in line with the recommendations set out by the Task
Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), and we
have early-adopted the TCFD’s recornmendations in this
Annual Repart, on pages 38 to 44,

Outlook

We are launching new Group-wide initiatives to help inform
colleagues of our responsibilities to consume and conserve
energy in the most efficient way possibie.

We are working through an updated and detailed asset survey
of the Group's property portfolio in terms of infrastructure and
equipment. An ocutput of this procass will be a reclassification
of our key investment pricrities. Using this information, we
intend to develop an investment programme 1o help improve
our consurmption and monitoring capabilities.

We also plan to énharnice our facilities mansgement provision
during the year ahead and will engaga with suppliers which
specifically promote energy management and sustainability
across their service provision to us.

As part of our forward acquisition and lease renewal activity
we will actively promate green leases with our landlords.
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Waste

Key objectives

1. Segregating waste appropriately to recycle where possible,
reducing the amount of waste entering landfill and the
amount of hazardous waste incinerated

2 Where possible, replacing single-use items with reusabla
ones and using products made from more sustainable
sources.

3. Engaging with suppliers to understand their sustainability
policies, and endeavouring to source products from
companies with strong environmental credentials.

Progress in the year

Annual reporting of packaging purchased across our
warehouse and laboratories shows a 35% reduction in paper
use relative to the previous year (Galendar vear 2021, compared
to 2020).

in addition, we have introduced paperless systems i our
warehause, such as our new stock management system.

Wae have also collaborated with some of our key suppliers to
offer packaging return schemes and recycling schemes for
printer cartridges, batteries and, in our equine practices,
single-use equine inhaler devices.

Vet Direct, our vetarinary equiprment supplier, has vastly
reduced its printing of catalogues, and is carbon balancing
the use of paper through the World Land Trust.

Outlook

We continue to work on initiatives to reduce waste across our
business, and we hope to recruit "Waste Champions” in all
areas of the business to support cur colleagues in reducing
thelr waste,

We use Veolia'’s Microsoft Power B! platform to analyse wasta
collection data and monitor waste bin utilisation across our
practices, helping us to increase recyaling and reduce waste
collections. Using this data,. we can identify areas for
impravement in our waste reduction rocesses



One Health

Key objectives
1. Promoting the responsible use of antimicrobials within CVS
and beyond.

2_Investigating the future use of parasiticides at CVS.

3. Setting short-, rnedium- and long-term recommendations
on medications and prescriptions to help inform clinical
decision-making in the future.

Progress In the year

The Parasiticides working group met in April 2022 for an initial
exploratory discussion which provided short-, medium-, and
long-terrn recommendations, as well as emphasising the
critical need for practical research in this area, to help inform
clinical decision-making in the future.

Since updating our antimicrobial resistance (AMR) policy in late
2021, there has been considerable progress in the reduction of
Highest Pricrity Critically Important Antimicrobials (HPCIA)
prescriptions due to our intervention. Read more about HPCIA
prescriptions in our 2021 Quality Improverment report and our
2022 Sustainability Report, which are available on our website:
www.cvsukitd.co.uk.

Outlook

There is currantly insufficient evidence available to make an
effactive risk-benefit analysis of the ongoing prophylactic use
of parasiticides in companion animals. Therefore, a working
group has been formed to further develop clinical strategies
aimed at balancing the use of parasiticides in companion
animals with environmental concerns regarding such products
polluting the environment and endangering insect life.

Future discussions and decision-making wili include feedback
from clinicians in practice, to ensure their voices are heard and
a balanced approach is taken.

Wellbeing

Koy objectives
1, Self: providing support and resources to enable individual
colleagues to look after their own wellbeing.

2. Leadership: supplying leaders with the relevant tools,
training, and role-modelling to enable them to support
the wellbeing of their teams.

3. Community: fostering wellbeing across our teams and
the CVS community - using our network of Weilbeing
Champicns and team wellbeing activities and events.

Progress In the year

In July 2021, CVS inuroduced a Wellbeing Calendar. In its first
year, it featured topics such as resilience, exercise, sleep,
stress, financial wellbeing, and crisis awareness.

The Wellbeing working group is already seeing good results
against its three key objectives.

>1,000

colleagues have accessed wellbeing resources
on the Knowlaedge Hub

374

leaders have been trained in supporting the
wellbeing of their team

>350

colleagues have been trained in First Ald
for Mental Health

QOutlook

In 2023, a new regular wellbeing measure will be introduced.
This will be survey-based, asking colleagues how their work
affects their wellbeing.

In July 2022, we introduced the second year of our Wellbeing
Calendar, including topics such as mindful self-care,
community outreach, hobbies and being active.

We are launching a new online training module for leaders on
psychological safety - this is, we believe, the first
psychological safety training course that is bespoke to
veterinary context.
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Sustainability continued

Peopie Development

Key objectives

1. Developing our pecple to flourish in thelr current roles,
including career pathway development and preparing them
for futura roles.

2. Building and strengthening relationships with major partner
stakeholders to enhance our pipeline for future recruitment
and help raise the standard of new cofleagues wha join CvS
or the wider profession.

3. Supporting and engaging with broader society with
initiatives including comrunity cutreach, schaol
engagement and client education.

Pragress In the year

Between 2017 and 2022 we have funded our apprenticeship
training through the apprent/ceship levy, to the value of £4.4m
to date, and committed to continue to fund and support these
apprentices. We have over 400 currently active learners and
over 800 colleagues have started an gpprenticeship since
2017,

Many of our colleagues have enjoyed implementing and taking
part in wider initiatives, such as ocur “MIniCVS” Workshops
initiative, which sees our colleagues visit local schools to halp
get children excited about science and animal care.

Outlook
The People Developrnent working group s prioritising:

» delivering industry-leading training;

» offering the best leaming, education and development in
the profession;

» having the best leaders in our business; and

» engaging with the veterinary profession and broader society,
and supperting its interests.

£4.4m
value of the apprenticeship levy

>L100D

active learner apprentices
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Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI)

Key objectives

1. For CVS to be the veterinary company peopie most want to
work for, regerdiess of who they are, how they Identify, or their
background.

2. Establishing a ten-year pian to ensure the Group continues
to move in the night direction towards a culture of
inclusion fluancy

3. Developing awareness and understanding of inclusivity with
all leaders and colleagues.

Progress in tha year

We've launched an EDI educational platform within the Knowledge
Hub. it houses planty of resources 1o support us all with our
continued learning and awareness around equity and inclusivity.

We've also revised our monthly colleague survey to help us
gather more useful insights into how we're doing: quarterly, the
survey will ask about inclusion.

In May 2022, the Board took the decision to increass the base
salary of our minimum wage roles to 3 0% above the National
Minimum Wage/National Living Wage.

We have increased the range of pronouns listad in Robovet 1o
provide clients with more options when registering with us, and
implemented sorme changes within HR processes around
gender inclusivity, as well 8s encouraging the free use of gender
pronouns.

In june 2022, CVS celebrated Pride Month,

Outlook
Through 2022 and into 2023, our focus is on building
foundational understanding across the organisation around EDI.

We are preparing updated company policies on: EDI; Bullying,
Haragsment and incivility; and Menopause.

Our Ability and Neurodiversity group is engaging with our
recruitment team ta look at how we talk about disability and
reasonable adjustments duting the process to make it
accessible for everyone.

Qur Ethnicity group is building an inclusive behaviours
framework and supportive training, and wanits to ensure all
colleagues feel confident to report any prejudice or
discrimination experianced.

Our Social Mobility group is working towards increasing the
socig-economic diversity of qualified veterinary surgeons
and nurses in ©VS and the wider profession,



Community

Key objectives
1. Working with charities.

2. Giving our time.
3. Sharing our expertise.

Progress In the year

In February 2022, we launched our *"MiniCVS” workshops
initiative, which sees our colleagues visit local schools to help
get children excited about scienca and animal care. Our
colleagues cater thair warkshops to different ages, from
rale-play and pet first aid for younger children, through to
careers advice for older students

We encourage our teams to fundraise for our annual charity of
the year, which is chosen by our colleagues to maximise
engagement. In January 2022, a £10,000 donation was made
to our charity of the year, British Divers Marine Life Rescue. CVS
also makes an annusl donation to Vetlife, matching the amount
raised for the colleagues’ chosen charity of the year.

We have connected with a charitable organisation, the Links
Group. which explores the links between animal abuse and
cdomestic violence.

Outlook

In the year ahead, cur Community warking group will develop
and start to deliver a CvS Community Strategy in order to
bring additional rigour and resource to our community
activities.

In 2022, our charity of the year is the Pet Blood Bank.

"UK SAYS NO MCRE" is @ campaign working to take a stand
against domestic abuse and sexual violence by challenging
the myths and misconceptions around these issues and
sharing information. It is working with varicus pharmacies,
shops and banks across the UK to provide Safe Spaces inits
cansuitation rooms for people experiencing domestic abuse.
We are looking at ways we can offer a similar suppart network
in our practices through our project with the Links Group.

“The care we have for our
colleagues, our clients and their
animals is ingrained within our
very DNA. Our purpose is to
give the best possible care to
animals, and our vision is to be
the veterinary company people
most want to work for. This
purpose and vision guide us in
everything we do and help us
not only to have a positive
impact on our teams, our
patients, our customers, and
our other stakeholders, but also
to make a bigger contribution
to wider society.”

Richard Falrman
Chief Executive Offlcer

Read more in our 2022 Sustainability
Report, published on our website
www.cvsukltd.co.uk/investor-centre/
sustainability/
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Sustainability continued

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Caring for animals goes hand-in-hand with caring for the natural environment, so climate-related risks and opportunities are
a key factor of consideration in the short-, medium- and long-term strategic planning of the Group. Our aim is to minimise
our impact on the planat in a way that supports and develops our services and clinical expertise.

This year, we have focused on developing an understanding of our impact on the environment, using the Task Force on
Climate-Related Financiel Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations to guide our approach. We understand that there is further
work to be done to manage our impact on the environment, which is why we have chosen to adopt the TCFD
recornmendations, which include:

> scenario analysis which inciudes a global warming scenario as well as a Net Zero scenario;

» setting targets for short-, medium- and long-term actions to lessen harmful environmental impacts of our business
and Increase environmentally friendly activities; and

> reviewing and improving our processes arcund monitoring our enviranmental impact and managing climate-related risks.

To ensure open comimunication with stakahalders on progress, we have chasen to eatly-adapt the disclosure recommendations
of the TCFD in this Annual Report. In the table below, we have set out our progress against the eleven recommended disclosures.

Governance and managemant

Disclosure

requirement Qur progress Find out more

Describe the The Board has oversli responsibility for ensuring risk is appropriately managed Eozz

Board's oversight across the Group, including risks relating to Envirenmental, Social and Sustainability

of climata-related Governance (ESG) matters and climate change. Reportavailable

QSRS ar:udnfties I 2021, the Group formed an ESG implementation Group, chaired by the ';ng;t;”xe;f:r
pRo Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), to assist the Board inidentifying the risks and cvsukid co ui; /

apportunities arising as a result of sustainability matters. including climate

change. Addressing the climate challenge is a key part of our wider investor-centre/

ESG strategy. 2022 Annual
Sustainability and ESG, including climate-related issues, are discussed as a :;: f:;: dPrln(:lpa|
standing agenda item in Board meetings, with the CEO presenting the activities Uncertainties on
of the ESG Implementation Group. In 2022 there were 15 Board meetings. pages 60 to 68
The Board has appointed third-party ESG advisars which have helped the 2022 Annual
Group to assess its risks and develop our sustainability and ESG strategy. Withia Report:

CVS, working groups have been formed to monitor, assess and understand our

) ! ) Remun i
impact on areas including enargy. carbon and waste. muneration

Committee report
Although the Board has overall responsibility for assessing and considering on pages 83 to 93
climate-related issues, the day-to-day monitoring of such issues is delegated to
the relevant working groups which are chaired by members of senicr management.

The Group has incressed the volume and regularity of its climate-related
reporting in the past year, including early-adaoption of TCFD reporting within the
2022 Annual Report, and the publication of our first standalone Sustainability
Report, titled “Care at our Heart”, which includes data under the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASE) standards. The Group has made significant
efforts to ensure this reporting is fair, balanced and understandable, for
example by adapting metrics and, where necessary, providing supporting
discussion to explain sources of data or calculation metheds,

As an AlM-guoted group, CVS is not required to report under the TCFD
recommendations this year; however, we have produced this report in order
10 promote open communication of our risks, opportunities, strategies and
initiatives relating to climate issues, as well as encouraging the Board to remain
accountable to the Group's staksholders by introducing disclosures against
which progress ¢an be reported in future.
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Disclasure

requirement Qur progress Find out more
Describe ESG is a standing agenda item at Board meetings. The Group intends to 2022
Management's rale | introduce further ESG targets and KPls, including climate-related targets, Sustainablility
in assessing/ against which progress can be reported 1o the Board to ensure consistent and Report available

managing climate-
related risks and
opportunities

comparable information is available to support decision-making.

The Board has ullinsete authority for setting climate-related goals and targets;
however, the ESG implementation Group, established in 20271 and chaired by
the CEQ, has assisted in the identification of climate-related risks and
cpportunities and helped to set climate-related targets across the Group.

Advice Is also taken from the ESG working groups across the business. These
groups are led by senior management, and are already making good progress,
having developed their own terms of referance and set work in motion to
ensura that we are doing the right thing, and to challenge us to go further. For
example, the Waste working group, established in 2021, has developed key
objectives to segregate waste appropriately for effective recycling. to replace
single-use items with reusable itams where possible and to engage with
suppliers around their sustainability policies.

The Board feels that the business is prepared for potential short-term climate-
related Issues which are discussed later in this report, due to the strength of its
integrated model.

on our investor
Wobsite www.
cvsukitd.co.uk/
investor-centre/

Business model and strategy

Disclosure
reqquirement

Our progress

Find out more

Describe the
climate-related
risks and
opportunities
identified in the
short, medium
and long term

The Croup's continued long-term success depends on the social and
environmental sustainability of its operations. There is a risk that potential
climate-related issues can have an adverse effect on financial or operational
performance, including our ahility to fulfil operational activities, disruption of
supply chain, cost of production, and demand for services.

The Group's strategy, long-term sustainability and growth potential also rely on
how the Group assesses risks and opportunities and takes action to reduce the
anvironmental impact of operstions. Below we have detailed some of the key
climate-related risks and epportunities we have identified.

As an AlIM-quoted business, risks and opportunities which will impact our financial
performance are considered financially material as these are likely to impact the
decision-rmaking of our investors and potential investors, particularly our financial
Key Performance Indicators (KPls) as disclosed on pages 28 and 29 of this Annual
Report. Therefore, the Board considers that those risks that: are likaly to impact
these metrics the most significantly are the most financially material to the Group.

The Group has performed a scenario analysis, which is discussed in more detail
on page 41, from which the following climate-related risks and opportunities
have been identified. This is not an exhaustive list and is not 1n a particular order.

Risks:

> Disruptions to supply chain caused by the physical effects of climate changs,
increased costs of transportation, regulatory changes and other factors. This
could result in disruptions to the Group's revenue-generating activities,
including the ability to administer drugs, alongside increasing costs and
decreasing margins. This is the risk most likely to be financially material to the
Group in the short-to-mediurm term.

> Increased likelihood and severity of extreme weather events can cause damage
to property and disruption to our colleagues ability to provide high-quality
clinical care, and can prevent clients from being able to visit our practices.

2022 Annual
Report: Financial
KPIs on pages 28
and 29
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Sustainabllity continued

Business model and strategy continued

Disclosure

requirement Qur progress Eind out more
Describe the Opportunities: 2022 Quality
climate-related » There may be increased opportunities for the Group to provide high-quality Improvement
risks and clinical services as a result of animal injuries and ilinesses resulting from report published
opportunities climate change, such as extreme wesather events. on our website
identified in the www.cvsukitd.co.

shart, medium
and long term
continued

> It is likely there will be increased appetite for veterinary innovation and
development of technological advancements, to treat new disaases and
find ways of working and supporting pet owners In a changing physical
environment. Our clinicians are passionate about innovation and Quality
Improvement, evidenced by CVS being the only veterinary corporate to
publish an annual Quality Improverment report.

» As innovative utilities technologies are developed., such as technologies for
off-grid energy generation and water harvesting and recycling, these can be
implemented by the Group to reduce overhead costs and reliance on grid
stability. Likewise. increased availability of cloud-based IT systems reduces
the space and electricity required to maintain servers in our own facilities.

» Reduction in travel, both international and local, could result inan increase in
the pet population similar to that seen during the COVID-19 pandemic, which
provides CVS with further opportunities to provide excellent clinical care.

In order to assess the impact of climate-related issues, including the risks and
opportunities identified above, the Group has conducted a risks and opportuntties
assessment as part of our regular risk assessment process. The ESG
implementation Group has assisted in the identfication of ciimate-related risks
and opportunities and is helping 1o set climate-related targets across the Group.

uk/cvs-release-
fourth-annual-
quality-
improvement-
report/

2022 Annual
Report: Principal
Risks and
Uncertainties on
pagss 60 to 68

Describe the
impact of climate-
related risks and
opportunities on
the Group’s
businesses,
strategy and
financial planning

The Group introduced its ESG strategy, "Care at our Heart”, in the 2021 Annual
Report. This strategy is based on g set of foundzations articulating why and how we
care. These foundations are included within the Sustainabiltty pages of the 2022
Annual Report. To suppart the delivery of this strategy, our working groups in
Energy and Carbon. Waste, One Health, Wellbeing, People Development, EDl and
Community monitor and assess our impact in these areas. Each group has its own
terms of reference and targets, within which climate-related challenges can be
identified and managed,

Impacts of low-carbon transition could include transitions to electric vehicles and
use of electricity generated frorm renewable sources. Such measures have been
considered in the Group's risk and opportunities assessment.

in preparing the 2022 Annual Report, the Group has, where possible, considered
the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the Group’s businesses,
strategy and financial planning. At the present time, no changes were made to the
Group's accounting policies, estimates or judgernents. in line with developrments in
climate change, the related reporting thereof and the climate-related initiatives we
have put in place, we expect these disclosures to evolve in future years.

2022 Annual
Report:
Sustainability on
pages 32 to 44

2022 Annual
Report: Financial
Staterments
Accounting
Policies on pages
115tc123
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Disclosure

requirement Our progress Find out more

Describe the A scenario analysis has been performed, taking into account a "2°C global 2022 Annual

resilience of the warming” scenario and a "net zero emissions achieved by 2050" scenario. Report: Principal

Group's strategy, These were identified as key scenarios as they challenge the resilience of the Risks and

taking into business to both impacts from climate change and impacts from policy change. | Uncertainties on

gic;?:rlgr?tritlﬂ]ate— In conducting the scenario analysis, we have considered the potential risks pages 60t 68
and opportunities and their impact on: 2022 Annual

related scenarios,
including 8 2°C or
lower scenario

» financial metrics, including revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities; and
» stakeholders, including colleagues, customers, suppliers, investors and our patients.

A scenario in which a 2°C global warming is experienced could result in risks
and opportunities including, but not limited to, the following.

» Rising sea levels in the Group's existing geographical markets, which could
decrease customer base and market size, potentially reducing the Group's
market size and increasing competition, but likely favouring the Group's
city-centre practices.

» increased rates of disease and decreased longevity in all animals, which
could provide opportunities for the Group to provide excellent clinical care
and increase job satisfaction for clinical colleagues. Conversely, this could
reduce the market size if the companion animal population decreases.

» An environment which is less safe for animals, particularly companion animals

and livestock, due to high temperatures and reduced availability of focd and
drinking water. This could have similar impacts to the above.

A scenario in which net zerc emissions can be achieved by 2050 in the Group’s
existing geographical markets could result in risks and opportunities including,
but not limited to, the following.

» Stricter regulations relating to the use of fossil fuels, may increase costs and

reduce availability of grid energy. and increase the use of electric vehicles which
may prompt customers to choose veterinary practices in different locations (e.g.

closer to their homes ar in retall parks which have electric vehicle chargers).

» A reduction in international travel, which could increase the population of
companion animals, as owners have more time and money to spend at home.
The Group can offer this increased population high-quality preventative and
reactive veterinary care.

Raport: Market
overview on pages
1dto17

odey NBenRg 8y)
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Increased costs of energy, veterinary medicine and consumnables, as a result of
increased regulatory requirements, for example regarding the use of chemicals
in pharmaceutical products. This could lead to disruptions to the Group's ability
to provide dlinical care; however, the Group's size and integrated veterinary
platform positions it well ta remain resilient to price rises.

The Group's strategy for growth includes organic growth through capital
investrment in existing and new facilities, and inorganic growth through
synergistic acquisitions. This strategy enables the Group to be flexible in
deciding where to deploy capital, therefore climate-related issues such as mass
migration as a result of rising sea levels, can be adapted into our strategy, for
example by choosing alternative sites in which to invest.

The Group has plans to implement a Net Zero target. We are considering the
most appropriate target for the Group and its stakeholders and intend 1o
communicate this in future reports.
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Sustainability continued

Risk management

Disclosure
requirement Qur prograss Find out more
Describe the In order to assess the impact of climate-related issues, including the risks and 2022 Annual
Group's processes | opportunities identified above, the Group has conducted a risks and Reponrt: Principal
far identifying and | opportunities assessment as part of our regular risk assessment process, Risks and
?:lsafzzl rr\gkc;hmate— The ESG implementation group, established in 2021, has assisted in the ggt:gg?:;gn

identification of climate-related risks and opportunities and helped to set 9

climate-related targets across the Group.
Describe the The Board regularly undertakes assessments of the emerging and principal 2022 Annuasl
Group’s process risks facing the Group, including climate-related risks and cfimate-refated Report; Principal
for managing impacts on other risks. Tha ESG Implementation Group and members of senior | Risks and
climate-related management monitor these risks on a day-to-day basis, reporting changes to Uncertainties on
risks the Board whers necessary. pages 60to 68

The Group has identified a range of ¢limate-related risks, both transitional and 2022 Annual

physical. These have been described in detzil in the preceding pages. The key Report: Directors’

impacts of climate-related nisks are considered to be financial and operational. Report on pages

Physical climate-related risks to the Group include operational disruption to 40100

colleagues and clients caused by extreme weather events, and operational

and financial effacts of disruptions to supply chains resulting from such events.

Transitional climate-related risks to the Group include increased prices for

cansumables, medicines and other items due to supply chains transitioning

away from fossil fuels, e.g. to electric vehicles, and a reduction in air freight.

The Group's risk management procass considers short-term operational risks

as well as risks that may threaten the delivery of the Group’s long-term strategic

business maodel.

The Directors have assessed the praspects of the Group in line with the "Going

congern” provision for a period of five years, as disclosed in the Directors’

Report on pages 95 and 96 of the 2022 Annual Report, and have concluded

the businass is viable and will remain viable up o at least 30 June 2027.

Sustainability and climate change are key considerations of the Group, and the

potential impacts have therefore been built into the Group’s going concern and

viability assessmeant.

This assessrnent is reconsidered on at least an annual basts, and any significant

signals that climate-related issues are likely to have an impact on this

assessmant would be identified by the working @roups responsibie for

menitoring and assessing matters relating to sustainability and ESG. These

working groups feed back to the ESG Implementaticn Group, which provides a

report to the Board as a standing agenda item.
Describe how The Group's overall risk management approach is described in the Principal 2022 Annual
procasses for Risks and Uncertainties report on pages 60 to 68. One of the principal risks Report: Principal
identifying, idantified by the Board is Sustainability and climate change. Risks and
assessing and , " s , y . Uncertainties on
managing climate- The impact and probability of this risk I reviewed on at least a bi-annual basis, pages 60 to 68

related risks are
integrated into the
Graup's ovarall risk
management

tncluding review of the mitigating factars in place, and any changes since the
last review.

The Group has alsa developed a framewoark for assessing climate-related risks
using a scenario analysis, which is described on page 41.
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Metrics and targets

Disclosure
requirement Our progress Find out more
Discuss the The Group has a standalone ESG strategy, "Care at Our Heart”, which underpins | 2022
metrics used by the Group’s overall strategy and business model. Sustainabillty
g;zecs;:;oc?li?r::te- To support the delivery of this strategy, our working groups ir_m energy g:z::f::;ﬁ?’e
related fisks and and carbon, wasge, One Healith, pec_ple development, wellbeing, EDI and Website www.
opportunities in cammunity monitor and assess our impact in these areas. Each group has its cvsukitd.co uk /
fine with its own terms of reference and targets, within which climate-related challenges inve stor-.ce:-'ftre y
‘ can be identified and managed.
strategy and risk 2022 Annual
management in addition, in 2022 we released our first standalone Sustainability Report in Report:
process which we produced a full disclosure report under the Sustainability Accounting St‘r :amI} d
Standards Board {SASB) standards. This reporting framework was selected to Ener ar:::j Carbon
provide reliable data on financially material sustainability factors which is Rep ogr{ing on °
comparable and consistent, thereby assisting investors to make better pages 99 to 100

investment and voting decisions.

SASB standards are industry specific, and under the current classification
system used by SASB, there is no single industry frarnework that would be fufly
aligned with the indicators relevant to a vetetinary business.

To maximise the transparency and suitability of our reporting, we decided to
report against two industry-specific sets of standards within SASB: “Heaith Care
Delivery”, and “Muitiline and Speciality Retailers & Distributors™. In some cases
the metrics within the SASB standards were adapted to suit the Group's
business and markets. We were advised and suppored in the selection of the
SASB framework, and the reporting of this data, by an external expert which
also advised in the creation of our Care at Qur Heart strategy.

Thisis the first year in which we have reported against SASB standards and we
intend to continue doing so going forward. This will involve improving our data
collection processes to provide our stakeholders with a full picture of our
performance. and aligning the reporting period of various disclosed metrics to
the extent possible. We have calculated the data on a basis which can be
consistently applied in future years for maximum comparability.

As this is the first time we have reported against SASB standards, some of the
data we have disclosed relates only to certain areas of the business, in
particular our Veterinary Practices division which is cur largest operating
division, and to differing periods.

in all cases, we have disclosed the scope and boundary of the information
presented within our SASB repart. We have made efforts to align the reporting
period of the data to our financial year where this is possible, and going forwards
we intend 1o ensure all data is aligned to this period, and 1o extend the scope of
the data to cover the entire Group wherever refevant.

Metrics regarding water, energy and land use and waste management arg
included in the SASB stendards; we have provided data to the fullest extent
possible within our 2022 Sustainability Report.

In most cases, the data required to report against SASB metrics is available
internatty. This is with the exception of some energy and carbon data, for which
we use an external energy consdltancy which also supports us in the delivery of
cur Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) in our Annual Report.
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Sustainability continued

Metrics and targets continued

Disclosure

requirement Our progress Find out more
Discuss the The Board are aware that the Group has runway to improve in a range of 2022

metrics used by sustzinability and climate-related metrics. One of the key intantions when Sustainability
the Group to publishing the Sustainability Report and SASB data is to ensure accountability Reportavailable

assess climate
related risks and
opportunities in
line with its
strategy and risk
management
process continued

across the Group in delivering improvernents to these metrics. The creation of
our ESG working groups helps to disaggregate responsibility for delivering
progress in the Group's sustainebllity and readiness for climate-related risks
and opportunities.

The Group repors alternative climate-related metrics within the SASB section
of our 2022 Sustainabllity Report, however there are not currently specific
timalines for improvement of these metrics.

oh our Investor
Website www.
cvsukitd.co.uk/
investor-centre/

Disciose Scope 1,
Scope 2, and if
appropriate, Scope
3 greenhouse gas
{GHG) emissions,
and the related
risks

The Group's Scope 1. Scape 2 and Scope 3 emissions and the methodalogy for
calculating these are disclosed in the SECR report within our 2022 Anhual Report.

The SECR iays out the total emissions, as well as the methodology applied. An
internal carbon price is celeulated to normalise year-on-year data, by caloulating
the emissions In tonnes of CO, per £m of revenue. This allows for more
effective year-on-year comparison.

2022 Annual
Report:
Streamfined
Energy and Carbon
Reporting on
pages 59 to 100

Describe the
targets used by the
Group to manage
climate-related
risks and
opportunities and
perfarmance
against targets

The Group has initlatives in place to reduce its impact on the environment,
which are disclosed in eur 2022 Sustainability Report. Qur purpose is to give
the best possible care to animals and, tc be able tc deliver this purpose, the
Group must be able to centinue In oparation despite climate-related risks.
Therefore, the Board is oversesing the implementation of specific targets
relating to climate resilience,

We have set sustainability-related targets in bonuses for Directors and other
Senior Management, for the financial year to 30 June 2023, as a stratagy to
incentivise the achievement of climate-related targets. These are set out in our
Remuneration Committee Report on page 93,

2022
Sustainability
Report available
on our Investor
Wabsite wiww.
cvsukitd.co.uk/
investor-centre/

2022 Annual
Report:
Remuneration
Committee Report
on pages 83to 93

L4 | CVS Group plc Annua! Report and Finangicl Stotements 2022



Operational review

Outstanding people,
delivering outstanding care
to our patients and clients

Ben Jacklin
Chief Operating Officer

The year delivered much to be proud of in CVS, despite the
lingering challenges of a global pandemic. COVID-19
infection rates have besn an ongoing challenge for both
our colleagues and our clients, but our teams continue

to demonstrate their unending passion and dedication to
achieving our purpose of giving the best possible care to
animals. 1 would like 1o take this opportunity ta thank them
once again for everything they do for our patients and
each other.

We continue our relentless pursuit of our purpose through
our clear vision 10 be the veterinary company people most
want to work for. Beneath our purpose and vision are our
four strategic pillars:

> we recommend and provide the best clinical care
every time;

» we are a great place to work and have a career;
= we provide great facilities and equipment; and
» we take our responsibilities seriously.

As we have done for a number of years, we have placed
significant focus on attracting great clinical talent and
providing them with great places to work and have a career.
Mugch of our success has come from the culture we have
fostered, putting clinical care at the forefront of what we do.
This has meant alignment of all our operational practices to
this goal, from KPIs and incentive schemes, to the investments
we continue to make in the very best clinical equipment. Our
national network of hub clinical leads, who are experienced
and inspirational vets, are core to this. They support our
companion animal practices across the business by
teaching advanced diagnostics and techniques, and by
mentoring vets who are developing interests in specific
disciplines. This makes best use of expertise by spreading
that knowladge across our practices, improving the quality
of care we can offer, then supporting teams to deliver this
care to their patients. Furthermore, we have added pastoral
support roles for recently graduated veterinary clinicians
across our practices. This pravides new vets with experienced
cclleagues o support and guide them through their first
years in practice and ensure they have a great expetience.
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Operational review continued

“Having clearly set out our stall
of providing the best possible
care to animals, we have
continued to attract and retain
the very best clinical talent,
which has had huge benefits
for our patients and clients.”

One KPl we introduced in 2021 was employee Net Promoter
Score, and | am delighted we have seen yet further improvernents
in this measure during the year, By having live monthly
feedback from colleagues. we are able to ensure we are
making the right decisions for them, and creating a workplace
that is the envy of the vaterinary profession. We also reduced
attrition rates of clinical colleagues during the year, further
to the significant improvements we made in this measure
when we facilitated changes to the culture of our Group.

Our quality improvement team is equally important to this
culture, providing data-driven feedback to all our clinicians
on where we Gan mMake improvements and reduce errors.
By Ieading national and international projects, the quality
improvament team makes a big difference to the patients
they serve and ultimataly the profession as a whole.

Our Advanced Clinical Services Network (ACSN) has
continued to grow, supporting our colleagues in primary
care practices. Our ACSN clinicians hold advanced
qualifications in specific disciplines end, by being available
across a region of our practices, they make advanced
treatments available to clients and patients that would
otherwise necessitate referral elsewhere. The goal of our
AGCSN is to be an accessible service to all CvS colleagues in
the UK, offering a unigue clinical career pathway for vets and
nurses and belng advocates of excellent patient care, whilst
contributing to the development of gsneral practice,
taboratory and specialist services. The number of ACSN
clinicians grew to ten during the year, and revenues grew

by 22.9%.

We have further developed our vet-to-vet telemedicine
service, Vet Oracle™, and we now have five specialisms
within this business, offering specialist interpretation of
results and practical virtual assistance, This not only has the
benefit of creating new direct revenue streams but, more
impcrtantly, spreads our expertise across 8 much wider
network, improving the care offered and given to aur
patients. This includes installations of advanced imaging
equipment, such as CT scanning, in practices which would
otherwise not have the expertise to interpret the results.

In 2022, Vet Oracle™ considered £13.000 cases for

CVS and non-CVS vets, a growth of 54% year-on-year.
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Did you know?

One of our nursing assistants in the Northern
region, Julie Beckett, is our Signvideo ambassador,
supporting the Group in its project to improve
accessibility to our veterinary practices for deaf
and hearing-impaired customers, In July 2022,
Julie attended the Deaf Rally, teaching children
about veterinary medicine whilst also expanding
their British Sign Language vocabulary.

At the Desaf Rally, Julie had a teble at which she
answered questions about the Healthy Pet Club
scheme and how Signvideo enables clear
communication on visits to the vet. She alsc
gave a stage presentation in which she
discussed the range of services CVS offers,
again explaining how Signvideo can support
hearing impaired customers.

Julie also hosted a range of children's activities,
supporting them to enhance their British Sign
Language vocabulary, whilst teaching thermn a
little ahout veterinary medicine. The feedback
from the event was excellent.



We are equally focused on all the other aspects of being a
colteague at CVS that can help us achieve our vision of
being the vaterinary company people most want to work
for. One significant step this year has been to increase the
rate of pay for all our colleagues on the National Living
Wage/National Minimum Wage, to 3.0% above the
standard set by the government both now and in the
future. Many of those colleagues are critical to our
success and often lead the first and most regular
interactions cur clients have with their veterinary practice.
Ensuring we took the appropriate steps to support these
colleagues as costs of living rose was the right way to
deliver on our vision.

Looking after the wellbeing of our colleagues is a crucial
part of what we do at CVS, and our 280 active Wellbeing
Champions continue to do excellent work across the
business. These Champions ensure our colleagues are
informed of the various resources available to them,
including our Employee Assistance Programme and our
Wellbeing Zone on the Knowledge Hub, onto which over
1,000 colleagues enrolled in its first year. During the year,
COVID-19 isolations impacted a significant number of our
veterinary practices, as we made every effort to ensure
the safety and wellbeing of our colleagues across the
Group. We retained some social distancing, PPE and
other restrictions as we continued to follow government
guidance and the guidance of our most senior clinictans.

Ensuring our nurses have great places to work and
rewarding careers remains a key aim, led by our Chief
Veterinary Nursing Officer. We continue to improve the
number of procedures undertaken by nurses in our
practices. We alsc continue to see nurses leading our
business in a variety of areas, including a number of
qualified veterinary nurses across our senior leadership
group and Executive Committee.

Despite the challenges that remain in the recruitment of
both vets and nurses, | am delighted that we increased
the average number of vets employed in the Group by
6.0% during the year, and the number of nurses by 11.4%.
We continue to drive forward recruitment across the UK,
Europe and further afield, but most encouraging has
been the number of vets and nurses joining us on the
back of a referral from an existing colleague. We saw 362
colleagues join via a referral from an existing colleague
during the year, up 91.5% from the prior year.

Another major area of focus is attracting the very best
new graduate vets, and following the hugely popular
inaugural “CVS Summer Camp” in 2021 we have repeated
and enhanced the event this summer. This gives recent
graduates the very best start in their careers, allows us to
share all the benefits of the wider CVS from the start of
their time with us, and gives us and them the best chance
of & long and rewarding career with CVS. Read more
about our summer camps on page 59.

Did you know?

During the year, we completed 23 refurbishments and
reiocations. This work is critical to our strategy of ensuring
the clinicians have the right environment to do the
best work for animals. We have invested in our property
team tc ensure we can deliver on our objectives of
refurbishing or relocating around half of our companicn
animal sites over the next few years. The refurbishments
and relocations are very much undertaken with ESG in
mind, installing energy saving equipment, and other
measures such as car chargers and alternative sources
of energy.

Despite being unable to make acquisitions during much of
the financial year due to the Competition and Markets Authority
(CMA) investigation into our acquisition of Quality Pet Care 11d
in August 2021, we completed three acquisitions, comprising
four practice sites, during Q4. We continue to see significant
opportunity for acquisitions in the UK, with the majority of
potential targets unaffected by the CMA's determinaticn on
Quality Pet Care Ltd. To that end, | am delighted we have
acquired a further three practice sites since the year end.

In our 2021 Annual Report we introduced our ESG strategy,
"Care at our Heart”, which underpins our strategic pillars and
gives meaning to all that we do, as we aim not only to have a
positive impact on our teams, our patients, our customers
and our other stakeholders, but also to make a bigger
contribution to wider society. Many of our initiatives across
our operations in 2022 have been driven by this intention.
Read more about our ESG strategy, including key actions
from cur new ESG working groups, on pages 32 to 44,

CVS Group plo Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 | w7

uodey ojbenanns syl



Operational review continued

Veterinary Practices division

Delivering clinical excellence
in an expanding market

Veterinary Practices revenue share®

85.5%

£492.1m

revenue

8.5%

revenue growth

470,000

HPC customers

* Revenue share before intercompany sales batween practices
and other divisions.
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Our Veterinary Practices division comprises our companion
animal, referrals, farm animal and equine vetarinary practices,
as well as our buying groups, veterinary wholesaler "Vet
Direct”, and MiPet insurance. The division has again
performed well during the financial year, against a comparater
which included favourable tailwinds from a post-pandemic
backlog of non-essential procedures. Like-for-like sales
growth in the division was 7.6%, contributing to total revenue
growth of 8.5%. This like-for-like growth was also hamperad
during the final guarter of the financial year where we
experienced a significant increase in COVID-19 isolations of
our colleagues, which impacted revenues. We made three
acquisitions during the financial year, adding four practice
sites to the Group. A further three practice sites have been
acquired since the year end, and we are pleased to welcome
these colleagues to the Group. As we continue our focus on
delivering the best client service ascross our business and
being the veterinary company pecple most want to work for,
we continue to review our facilities and have closed a
number of small branch sites in the year to consolidate the
work to our larger practice sites.

Companlon Animal

Our Companion Animal division forms the majority of our
Veterinary Practices division. The focus of our Companion
Animal division on delivering the very best care continues to
fare well in a market that has grown since the pandemic, and
where the hurnanisation of pets continues apace.

Gur Patient Care Index (PCl} is a measure of the quality of
care we give to patients in ocur Companion Animaf first-
opinion practices. High PCI is associated with high-quality
clinical diagnostics and the targeted treatmant that follows,
as opposed to more symptomatic treatments. We have seen
improvernents in PC| across our practices as we work towards
our purpose to give the best possible care to animals. This
focus has enabled us to deliver revenue growth of 10.3% in
our Companion Animal division.



Referrals

Our Referrals division has grown strongly in recent years. We
have continued to invest in our nursing and administration
teamns within this division, which are essential ta support
such strong growth. We also continue to expand our
natwork of advanced peripatetic practitioners, who provide
advanced clinical services to our first-opinion practices
entering new disciplines and gengraphical locations.

The range of clinical disciplines we offer in our hospitals has
expanded, and we are developing opportunities to open
new sites. There has been an increase in investment in
highest-quality medical equipment and facilities, such as
MRI scanners and our cutting-edge Bristol Referral Hospital
which is planned to open in 2023.

Equine

Our Equine division has 12 equine locations across the UK.
The division has performed well in the financial year; this has
partly resulted from growth in client numbers through cur
focus on attracting new clients, and the introduction of

a new greenfield practice in the South of England.

Farm Animal

QOur Farm Animal division consists of 14 farm animal
locations and a large specialist poultry veterinary business,
Slate Hall. During the year we have increased fee revenue in
particular, with drug revenue impacted by conscious
movement away from antibiotic usage wherever possible.

We have been able to secure our medication supply through
one of our Group companies, Pharmsure, which is a
specialist wholesale and distribution company supplying
veterinary medicines for the pig and poultry industries. This
has helped aur farm practices to achieve improved margins.
secure prices, and be more confident in medication supply.

International

Our international division comprises 27 practices in the
Netherlands and four practices in the Republic of Ireland.
These include companion animal, equine and farm practices,

Internationally. we have increased investment into our highly
valued nurses, to mitigate challenges in vet recruitment and
help us to attract and retain colleagues. This includes
benchmarking of salaries and increased investment in

our colleagues’ wellbeing.

Head Office

Central administration costs include those of the
central finance, (T, human resources, purchasing,
legal and property functions, Total costs were
£16.6m (2021: £15.7m), representing 3.0% of
revenue (2021: 31%). The increased spend
primarily relates to salary costs for new roles to
support the continued growth of the Group and
delivery of our strategy: for example, by investing
in our human resources team, we are able to
implement more initiatives to help reduce clinical
role attrition.

As a percentage of revenue, the spend on support
functions has remained broadly flat. The Group
continues to base support colleagues in regions
where possible, so they can easily provide the
close support that the operations teams require.
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Operational review continued

Veterinary Practices division
continued

Healthy Pet Club

As well as offering first class care to sick or injured animals,
we continue to offer preventative healthcare through aur
Healthy Pet Club scherne, which offers routine flea and
worming treatments and vaccinations, as well s rwice
vearly health checks. These clients can spread the cost of
accessing the best preventative healthcare, allewing our
clinicians to identify diseases and recommend the best
diagnostics and treatments. The scheme membership has
grown by 4.4% over the past year to around 470,000
members, representing roughly 40% of our companion
animal active client base.

MiPet products/purchasing

Our own-brand spend consistently made up ¢.34% of the UK
practices’ pharmaceutical spending in 2022 and 2021,
During the year, we have expanded our efforts to increase
purchases of our own-brand products rather than thirg-
party branded pharmaceuticals. This provides increased
choice for our clients and we hope this will translate to an
increase in own-brand spend in our practices.

We have continued to improve our warehouse management
system, enhancing efficiency and increasing cur permanent
staffing, which has enabled us to cope with the increase in
anline retail arder volumes as well as successfully complying
with social distancing requirements through effective use of
space and adjusted shift patterns within our warehouse.

Qutlook

We are optimistic that our Veterinary Practices division will
continue to deliver strong revenue growth. This optimism is
driven primarily by our continued fogus on high-quglity clinical
care, and we are confident we can continue to deliver
significant improvements year on year. Whilst we are mindful
cf inflationary pressures, we are reassured that based on the
responses to our consumer insight survey in August 2022,
pet spend on veterinary care and food appears highly resilient.
Secandly, we are also in a market of Increasing humanisation
of pets, with owners willing to spend more and more on the
health of their pets. with increasingly high expectations and
desire for their pets to have the same quality of care as every
other member of the family.

Our colleagues continue to be our biggest focus inour
Veterinary Practices division, as they are across the Group. In
our 2022 Sustainability Report, we introduced our target to
further reduce attrition by 10% which will enable us to bring
down our vet and nurse vacancy rates, which have been
relatively steady over the past two years despite significant
workforce shortages in the industry. Mare broadly we expect
significant improvements in supply of veterinary surgeons
into the market over the next ten years, as the number of
new graduates in the UK is set to roughly double by 2032.
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Household and furnishings,
equipment & maintanances

Area of focus

Consumer insight survey

Our clients value the high guality of our services, and
based on our August 2022 consumer insight survey’,
will preserve their spend even in the face of
economic pressures.

Based on these survey responses, we are further
reassured pet spend on veterinary care snd food
appears highly resilient, with only 5.8% of clients
feeling they would try and reduce spend on
veterinary care in the face of an economic recession.
High-guality pet healthcare continues to be of great
importance to our clients, with 52.1% of clients
feeling spend on their pets healthcare would
increase over the next 2 years, whilst only 5.2% felt it
would decrease.

Spend an pet foad is also considered a pricrity for
our clients, with 96.5% of clients feeling spend on
pet food would either stay the same or increase cver
the next two years.

1 InAugust 2022, we issued a consumer insight survey 1o 2,000
clients and recewved a 23.2% responsa rate.

5.8%

Only 5.8% of pet owners said veterinaty care was an
area they would consider reducing spend onin the
event of recession.

The consumer insight survey asked:

“in the face of an economic
recesslon, which of the following
categories of spend would you
try to reduce over the next
2 years?”

Restaurants and hotels

Clothing and foatwaar 57.2%

Miscellaneous goods
and services

Recreation and culture 51.0%

54.6%

50.8%

Alcoholic beveraggs. L8.6%
tobacco and narcotics
Housing, water, slectricity, 41.0%
gas and othey fuals

Transport 32.0%

Foed and non-alcoholic
beverages

Education 17.3%

23.8%

Communication 9.3%

Spend on Veterinary Care
for my Pets 5.8%

Health 4.8%

T11%



Laboratories division

Reliable diagnostic testing
supporting vets to deliver
excellent clinical care

Laboratories revenue share*

4.7%

£27.2m

revenue

-2.9%

revenue growth

445,000

laboratory tests performed

* Revenue share before intercompany sales between practices
and other dwisions.

Qur Laborataries division provides diagnostic servicas and
in-practice desktop snalysers to both CVS and third-party
practices, and employs a naticnal courier network to
facilitate the collection and timely processing of samples
from practices across the UK. We continue to develop our
capability to ensure we can support the wider Group focus
on growing diagnostic care.

Revenue has decreased 2.9% compared to the prior year
which benefitted from one-off COVID-19 testing for CVS
and third parties. On an underlying basis, adjusting for the
COVID-19 PCR tasting revenue in the prior year, revenue
increased 1.1% on the back of remarkable non-COVID-19
testing growth in the prior year. Approximately 45% of our
diasgnostic laboratory tests are for CVS practices, reflecting
the importance of our integrated veterinary model.
Adijusting for the number of COVID-19 tests performed in
2021, the number of diagnostic tests was broadly consistent
between 2021 and 2022, with price rises contributing to
underlying revenue growth.

Outlook

The Laboratories division has ramained resilient despite
increasing consolidation in the veterinary sector, By
increasing the speed and range of testing we offer in our
laboratories, continuing to ensure field-leading client
servica, and employing a high'y skilled network of sales
teams and engineers, we are optimistic of growth in the
years to come.
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Operatlonal review continued

Crematoria

CVS provides compassionate service
throughout a pet’s life and beyond

Crematoria revenue share*

1.7%

£9.5m

revenue

18.8%

revenue growth

5.5%

increase in iIndividual cremations

* Revenue share before Intercompany sales between practices
and other divisions
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Qur Crematoria division provides both individual and
communal cremation services for companion animal and
equine clients, as well as clinical waste disposal services
for both CvS and third-party veterinary practices.

The strong grawth in the division was driven by the Direct
Pet Cremation service we introduced in the previous
financial year. Putting customers directly in contact with
crematoria to make pet aftercare arrangerments, and giving
therm more time 1o consider their options, has resuited in
significant changes to customers’ cholces and generated
improved customer care alongside financial returns. As a
result of the service, the number of individual cremations
increased by 5.5% in the year.

Outlook

We are investing in a modern new crematorium to relocate
one of our existing crematoria. The new facility will be the
first pet crematorium in the UK to incorporate temperature
and oxygen control systems, which to date have only been
used in human cremators, to minimise our enviranmental
impact by delivering optimal combustion efficiency.

This new facility, due to complete in the 2023 financial year,
alongside continued expansion and development of the
Direct Pet Cremation project, is expected to continue 10
deliver revenue growth across the Crematoria division.



Online Retail Business

Shaking up the pet food
and pharmacy sales market

Online Retall Business revenue share*

8.1%

£46.6m

revenue

11.8%

revenue growth

368,000

unique customers

* Revenue share before intarcompany sales betwsen practices
and other divisions.

Qur online pet food and pharmacy retailer. “Animed Direct”,
focuses on supplying pet food and prescription and
non-prescription medication, directly to customers. This is
supported by the buying power of the Group as a whole,
which ensures the business is able to provide tha best value
for customers.

During the financial year, our Online Retail Business division
delivered revenue growth of 11.8% and adjusted EBITDA
growth of 20.7%. We have focused on shifting the marketing
and delivery of Animed Direct from low cost to a trustad
auality retailer, which is in line with the Group's overall
purpose and strategy. This has supported in delivering
revenue growth in the division despite the reduction in
unique customer numbers to 368,000 (2021: 404,000}

We have also successfully implemented a new logistics and
fulfilment system to align with our improved warehouse
rmanagement processes and ensure increased productivity
and quality control,

Outlook

In the secend half of the financial year, we began the design
and implementation of a new website to enhance the
customer jourmney, expected to launch in the 2023 financis!
year, Our improved website and warehouse systems will
enable us to increase capacity, delivering future growth in
online sales, generating revenue growth and improving
customer satisfaction.

Ben Jacklin
Chief Oparating Offlcer
22 September 2022

CVS Group plc Annual Raport and Financlal Statemante 2022 | %3

Hodey ojbaynag syt



Financial review

Well positioned for continued
growth despite the more
uncertain macro-economic

environment

Robin AHfonso
Chief Financial Offlcer
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Financial highlights

The Group has continued to deliver against its strategy, with
strong performance in both revenue and adjusted EBITDA,

Key financial highlights are shown below:

Change

2022 2021 %

Revenue {Em) 554.2 5101 8.6%
Adijusted EBITDA (Em)* 107.4 975  102%
Adjusted profit beforg tax (Em)*  75.5 66.2 14.0%
Adjusted earnings per share (p)* 85.8 751  14.2%
Operating profit (Em) 42.8 401 6.7%
Profit before tax (Em) 36.0 331 88%
Basic earnings per share (p) 36.2 273 326%

A reconciligtion of the difference between the reported
operating profit figure and adjusted EBITDA is shown below:

2022 2021
£m Em
Qperating profit 42.8 401
Adjustments for:
Armortisation, depreciation, impairment’
and profit on disposal 473 481

Costs relating to business combinations 49 8.3
Exceptional iterns? 12.4 -

Adjusted EBITDA 1074 975

1. Impalrment of non-Gurrent assets, except far impairment of the
investment in Quality Pet Care Ltd in 2022,

2. Impairment of the investment in Quality Pet Care Ltd In 2022 Js included in

exceptional items,

* Adjusted fingncigl measures (adiusted ERITDA, adjusted profit before tax
and adjusted earnings per share) are defined in the financial staterments,
and reconciled to the financlal measures defined by Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) on pages 114 and 132 of the Annual
Report. Management uses adjusted EBITDA and adjusted earnings per
share ("adjusted EPS") as the basis for assessing the financial performance
of the Group. These figures exclude costs relating o business combinations
and exceptional items and hence assist in understanding the performance
of the Group. These terma are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not
be directly comparable with other compsenies’ sdiusted profit measures.



“Delivery of our strategy drives strong
performance and robust cash flows.”

Financlal performance

Revenue increased by 8.6% to £554.2m from £510.1m, with
streng like-for-like growth of 8.0%. The Group continues 10
benefit from favourable market trends such as the sustained
increase in pet population and the demand for and ability

to deliver quality clinical intervention. The focus of delivery
against our strategy has underpinned revenue growth and
we have seen a 6.0% increase in the average number of vets
we employ and a 4.4% increase in our Healthy Pet Club
membership, t¢ 470,000. This performance was particularly
pleasing given the ongoing operational challenges
associated with COVID-18.

We continue to see an opportunity to grow like-for-like sales
and have increased our development capital expenditure
10 £13.7m from £8.4m to support ongaing expansion
opportunities including refurbishments and relocations.

We also see an opportunity to open Greenfield sites with
three planned over the next twelve months.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 10.2%, 1o £107.4m from
£97.5m. Adjusted EBITDA margin increased to 19.4% from
19.1%. benefitting from operating leverage and strong revenue
growth. Adjusted EBITDA also included £2.0m from another
year of Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credits,
which is the Group’s second claim under this scheme.

During the year an impairment of £12 4m was recognised as
an exceptional item, outside of adjusted EBITDA, following
the Competition and Markets Authority’s (CMA) investigation
into the acquisition of Quality Pet Care Ltd and the
subsequent divestment. This followed the CMA's conclusion
that there was a potential substantial lessening of
competition in a number of the sites acquired.

Since the conclusion of the investigation, three acquisitions
have besn completed for an investment totalling £8.4m (net
of cash acquired). contributing during the period aggregate
revenue of £0.5m and adjusted EBITDA of £0.1m. The
pipeline of acquisitions remains strong and we continue to
see opportunities for further investment in the future both in
the UK, where there is now a clear framework to follow, and
also in other territories.

We continue to closely monitor macra-economic trends
including the Impact of rising inflation. We believe that the
Group Is well placed to deliver continued growth from our
integrated madel, strong balance sheet and available
investment opportunities.

Adjusted profit before tax increased by 14.0%, to £75.5m
from £66.2m, in line with the increase in adjusted EBITDA.
Adjusted EPS correspondingly increased by 14.2%, to 85.8p
from 75.p. Adjusted profit before tax and adjusted EPS
exclude the impact of amortisation of intangible assets, costs
ralating to business combinations and exceptional items.

Profit before tax increased by 8.8%, to £36.0m from £33.1m,
benefitting from an increase in adjusted EBITDA, a reduction
in costs relating to business combinations, which includes
business combinations costs in respect of prior periods,
partially offset by the impairment in relation to Quality Pet
Care Ltd (further information available in note 16 to the
financial statements). Basic EPS increased by 32.6%,

to 36.2p from 27.3p.

Taxation

The total tax expense has reduced by £3.5m to £10.3m

from £13.8m, primarily due to the prior year having included
2 one-off £4.3m expense in respect of the re-measurement
of deferred tax balances following the substantive enactment
of the increase in the UK corporation tax rate to 25.0% from
April 2023. This was partially offset by a £2.3m capital loss, in
relation to the divestment of Quality Pet Care Ltd, which could
not be utilised in the current year. A deferred tax asset has
not been recognised in respect of this loss as presently it is
nct probable that the Group will utilise this loss in future periods.
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Financial review continued

Financlal performance continued

Taxation continued

The Group's effective tax rate was 28.6% {2021 417%). A
reconciliation of the expectad tax charge, at the standard
rate, to the actual charge is shown below:

£m %
Profit before tax 36.0
Expected tax at UK standard rate of tax 6.8 19.0%
Loss on disposal of non-qualifying assets 2.3 6.4%
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.2 3.3%
Adjustrments to previous year tax charge (0.4) {11%}
impact of unrecognised losses 0.2 0.5%
Effect of difference betwsen closing
deferred tax rate and current tax rate 0.2 05%
Actual charge/effective rate of tax 103 786%

* Percantage of profit before tax.

All of the Group's revenues and the majority of its expenses
are subject to corporation tax. The main expenses that are
not deductible for tax purposes are costs relating to
acquisitions, amortisation and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment that do not qualify for tax relief. Tax
relief for some expenditure, mainly property, plant and
eduipment, is received over a longer period than that for
which the costs are charged in the financial statements.

Financial position

2022 2021

£m £m

Intangible assets 2165 2284
Property. plant and equipment 697 574
Right-cf-use assets 1017 972
Other non-current assets 24 ol
Current assets 1279 1014
Current liabilities {(101.4) (985)
Non-current liabilities (199.4) (1949)
Equity 2174 1911

As at 30 June 2022, intangible assets amount to £216.5m
(2021: £228.4m), consisting of goodwill, patient data records
and computer software. The net reduction of £11.9m primarily
relates to amortisation in the year of £22.2m(2021: £23.8m),
offset by additions through business combinations of £8.8m
(2021: £22.9m). The Group maintains significant headroom
between the value-in-use of the groups of Cash Generating
Units (CGUs) and the carrying amount of the associated
assets, resulting in no impairment noted.
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Property, plant and equipment of £69.7m (2021: £57.4m)
includes freehold land and buildings, leasehold improverments,
fixtures fittings and equipment and motor vehicles. The net
increase of £12.3m primarlly relates tc additions (including
those arising via business combinations) of £23.7m (2021:
£16.7m), reflecting our continuing commitrnent to investing
in our facilities, offset by depreciation of £11.3m (2021: £10.3m).

Right-af-use assets of £101.7m (2021: £97.2m) consists of
property leases for cur veterinary practices, specialist
referral centres and support offices and short term leases
for vehicles and equipment. The net increase in the year of
£4.5m primerily relates to additions (including those via
business combinations) and re-measurement of lease terms
of £19.6m (2021: £15.4m), partially offset by depreciation and
impairment charge in the year of £14.1m {(2021: £14.0m) and
net disposals of £1.0m (2021: £1.7m).

Other non-current assets of £2 4m (2021: £0.1m) primarily
relates o the fair value of the cash flow hedge of £2.3m
(2027 liability of £0.4m).

Current assets of £127.8m (2021: £101.4m) comprisas
inventories of £26.2rm (2021: £19.5m), trade and other
raceivables of £5627m (2021: £48.1m) and cash and cash
equivalents of £49.0m (2021: £33.7m). The net increase of
£26.5m mainly relates to Increased inventories in line with
growth in overall revenues and increased cash and cash
equivalents arising from strong operating cash flows.

Current liabilities of £101 4m (2021: £98.5m) comprise trade
and other payables of £86.6m (2021: £86.0m}, pravisions of
£21m (2021 £3.9m), lease lizbilities of £2.4m (2021 £8.6m),
current tax liabilities of £3.3m (2021: asset of £0.1m). The net
increase of £2.9m mainly relates to the increase in liability for
corporation tax.,

Non-current liabilities of £199.4m (2021: £194.9m) includes
borrowings of £84.3m (2021: £83.8m), lease liabilities of
£95.1m (2021: £90.2m), and deferred tax liabilities of £20.0m
(202%: £20.4m). See below for further dstails regarding the
Group's borrowings.

Equity of £217.4m (2021: £191.1m) increased by £26.3m as a
resuit of total comprehensive income of £27.6m (2021;
£19.0m), new shares issuad and shares disposed from the
Employee Benefit Trust (EBT} of £2,.3m {2021: £1.5m) to settle
obligations under the Group's Save As You Earn (SAYE)
scheme, and transactions in relation to share-based
payments and associated deferred tax of £1.0rm (2021:
£4.0m). A dividend payment of £4.6m was paid in 2022
(2021: £nil).



Cash flow and movement in net debt

Net debt decreased by £14.9m to £35.3m from £50.2m. The
mavement in net debt is explained as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Cash generated from cperations 931 803
Capital expenditure - maintenance (10.8) 8.2)
Repayment of lease ligbility zn (13.0)
Taxation paid (m.2} (13.0)
Interest paid (6.4) (71
Free cash flow 52.0 390
Capital expenditure - development (13.7) {8.4}
Business combinations (net of cash
acguired) (8.4) (19.49)
Loans and borrowings acquired through
business combinations (0.9) (1.0)
Exceptional items (12.4) —
Dividends paid (4.6) -
Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.2 086
Proceeds from Ordinary shares 2.3 1.2
Proceeds from Treasury shares - 03
Amortisation of debt issuance costs {0.4) {0.4)
Dacrease in net debt 14.9 na

The Group remains highly cash generative and de-levers
quickly post-investment. Cash generated from operations
increased by 15.9% to £83.1m from £80.3m benefitting from
increased adjusted EBITDA and a reduction in contingent
consideration payments in respect of acquisition from prior
years, partially offset by an increase in inventory. Working
capital was also adversely impacted in the year by the
commutation of a portion of clinical cclleagues’ bonus
payments to salary in July 2021

The analysis of capital expenditure between maintenance
and development in the table above reflects a broad split
between expenditure which we believe will primarily maintain
profit, and that which we expect to increase profit. Development
capital expenditure includes new sites, relocations, significant
extensions and significant new equipment. All other capital
expenditure is included as maintenance; maintenance
capital expenditure remains less than 2.0% of revenue.

Repayment of lease liabilities of £12.7m (2021: £13.0m) are in
respect of property leases for our veterinary practices,
specialist referral centres and support offices and short-term
leases for vehicles and equipment.

No corporation tax ralief is received on the maijority of the
amortisation and transaction costs which are deducted in
arriving at the unadijusted profit before tax figure. Therefore,
the tax liability moves broadly in line with the adjusted profit
before tax of the Group.

The decrease in tax paid in the year is predominantly as a
result of an increase in capital allowances and increase in
the year-end corporation tax liability.

Interest payments of £6.4m were lower than the prior year of
£7:2m, reflecting the Group’s maintenance of low levels of
net debt during the financial year. During the year, the Group
transitioned its interest benchmark rate in relation to its loan
facility from LIBOR to SONIA.

Cash available for discretionary expenditure (“free cash
flow") increased to £62.0m from £39.0m, primarily as a
result of increased adjusted EBITDA.

Development capital expenditure increased in the year to
£13.7m, from £8.4m, to support ongoing eéxpansion
opportunities, including a number of relocations and
renovations. We continue to see opportunities to grow
organic revenue end therefore expect development capital
expenditure to increase over the next few years,

For business combinations {net of cash acquired) acquired
during the financial year, £8.0m (2021: £19.4m) was paid for
three practices (four practice sites), with an additional £0.4m
liability on the balance sheet. A further £0.4m (2021: £nil)
was paid in relation to prior year acquisitions. In addition,
£0.1m (2021 £1.0m) was paid to settle loans transferred as
part of the business combinations.

On 19 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share
capital of Quality Pet Care Ltd, an eight site companion
animal practice spread across the UK, for total consideration
of £20.4m, including repayment of loans of £3.4m. On 22
September 2021, the CMA served an initial enforcerent
order in respect of this acquisition and during the period a
further £1.0m loan was provided for working capital. On 30
June 2022, the entire shareholding was divested for proceeds
of £9.0m, resulting in an Impairment of £12.4m, which has
been recognised as an exceptional item.

A dividend of £4.6m was paid in the year {2021: £nil) reflecting
the final dividend for the pricr year of 8.5p per share.

Sale of property, plant and equipment of £0.2m (2021;
£0.6m) primarily related to the sale of motor vehicles,

Proceeds from the sale of Ordinary and Treasury shares of
£2.3m (2021 £1.5m) arose on the exercise of options under
the Group's approved SAYE scheme, which alflows
colleagues to save regular amounts each month over a
three-year period and benefit from increases in the Group's
share price over that time.

Amortisation of debt issuance costs of £0.4m (2021: £0.4m)
were in line with our policy.
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Financial review continued

Cash flow and movement in net debt continued

Net debt and borrowing costs
The Group’s net debt comprises the following:

20z zaA
Em £m

Borrowings repaysable after more than
One year:

Loan facility 85.0 850

Unamortised borrowing costs ((eh)] (1)
Tota! borrowings 84.3 839
Cash and cash equivalents (49.0) (337
Net debt 35.3 502

The Group has total facilities of £175.0m to 31 January 2024,
provided by a syndicate of four banks: NatWest, HSBC, BO!
and AlB, and comprising the following elements:

> afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayable on 31 January 2024
via a single bullet repayment;

» a four-year Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £85.0m, that
runs to 31 January 2024:

> an envisaged, but not committed, accordion facility of up
to £100.0m, that runs to 31 January 2024; and

» a £5.0m overdraft facility, renewable annually.

The two financial covenants associated with these facilities,
described below, remain unchanged and will continue to be
calculated based on the Group's accounting policies
applicable at 30 June 2019 for the duration of the facilities,
i.&. pra-IFRS 16.

At the year-end, the total borrowings principally consist of:

> the £85.0m term loan (gross of unamortised issue costs)
(2021; £85.0m); and

> £nil drawn down under the RCF (gross of unamortised
issue costs) (2021: £nil).

The twoe financial covenants associated with the Group's bank
facilities are based on the ratios of bank test EBITDA to interest
and bank test net debt to bank test EBITDA. Bank test EBITDA
is based on adjusted EBITDA. annualised for the effect of
acquiisitions, including costs relating to business combinations
and exciuding share option costs, prior 1o the adoption of IFRS
16. The bank test EBITDA t© intarest ratio must not be less than
4.5x. At 30 June 2022 it was 41.00x (2021 24.97x).

The covenants allow a maximum net debt to bank test
EBITDA ratio ("gearing”) of 3.25x, although it is not the
Group’s intention to operate at this level. The gearing ratio
decreased during the year, to 0.40x at 30 June 2022 from
0.68x at 30 June 2021. This decrease in ratio reflects both
the decrease in net debt and increase in EBITDA.

The Group manages its banking arrangements centrally.
Funds are swept daily from its varicus bank accounts into
central bank accounts to optimise the Group’s net interest
payable position.
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Interest rate risk is also managed centrally and derivative
instruments are used to mitigate this risk. On 28 February
2020, the Group entered into two four-year fixed interest rate
swap arrangements to hedge fluctuations in interest rates on
£70.0m of its term loan facility. During the year, the loan
facility and twe hedge arrangements were transitioned from
LIBOR to SONIA benchmark rate, further information can be
found in note 17.

Going concern and viabliity

At the year end, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
£49.0m, a drawn term loan of £85.0m, an unutilised
revolving credit facility of £85.0m and an unutilised
overdraft facility of £5.0m. The Group are fully compliant
with all covenants in respect of these facilities.

The Directors consider that the £5.0m overdraft and the
£170.0m of debt facilities will be sufficient to enable the Group
to meet all iabilities when they fall due. The Group are not
reliant on any Government support. Since the year end, the
Group has continued to trade profitably and to generate cash.

After consideration of market conditions, the Group's
financial position (including the level of headroom available
within the bank facilities), financial forecasts for the next 12
months, its profile of cash generation and the timing and
amount of bank borrowings repayable, and principat risks,
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that both the
Company and the Group will be able to continue in operation
and meet our liabilities as they fall due over the period. For
this reason, the going concern basis continues to be
adopted in preparing the financial statements.

More infcrmation on the Group's viability statement can be
found on pages 95 and 96.

Share price performance

At the year end the Company’s market capitalisation was
£1.2bn (1,656p per share), compared to £1.7bn (2,415p per
share) at the previous year end.

Forward-looking arrangemants

Certain statements and arrangements described in the
Annual Report and results release are forward-looking.
Although the Board is comfortable that the expectations
reflected in these forward-looking statements are reascnable,
it can give no assurance that these expsctations will prove
tc be correct. Because these statements involve risks and
uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those
expressed orimplied by these forward-fooking statements.

Roblin Alfonao
Chlef Financial Officer
22 September 2022



Area of focus

Giving our graduate vets
a warm welcome

Attracting key talent

Qur vision and purpose rely on recruiting and retaining the
very best talent. We heava close relationships with the eleven
veterinary schools in the UK and new graduate vets who
chose to work at CVS are welcomed with an industry-leading
residential camp.

The summer camp

Qur Graduate Surmmer Camp was developed to help
provide new gradustes with the skills required for a
successful start in the profession; our belief being that a
good experience in the first months of practice would set
them up for a long, happy and successful career.

Our graduates start with lectures on common conditions
and webinars. The second week of the course is residential,
in which graduates have opportunities to practice in areas
such as suturing, ultrasound, CPR, and dentistry. There are
also social events so they can get to know their new colleagues.
Following this, new graduates attend clinics in pairs to spend
time consulting and opaerating with direct and dedicated
support from an experienced CVS vet.

One of our graduates who completed the summer camp,
shared the following feedback after her first day in practice:
“l just wanted to say that if | didn’t do the
Summer Camp, | would have been a
burden today. All the vets were really
surprised about how independent | was.
So, a massive thank you for all the work
and effort that’s been put into the
Summer Camp to make my transition
to employment so much easier!”
Testimonials such as this have also been backed up by the
data University of Surrey is currently analysing. In a guestionnaire
where new graduates scored their confidence going into

practice at the beginning and end of the residential week,
there was a dramatic increase from 1.7 to 8.4.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Proactively identifying and
managing risk throughout

the Group

Risk management structure

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring risk is
approptiately managed across the Group. The day-to-day
identification, management and mitigation of risk is
delegated to the Group’s senior management,

Risk registers are prepared which evaluate the risks most
likely to impact the Group. Colleagues across the business
are involved in the preparation and regular review of these
risk registers to ensure that all potential areas of risk are
adequately identified, recorded and managed. Controls that
are in place are assessed in order to determine the extent to
which they mitigate risk and in circumstances where it is
considered appropriate to reduce risk further, appropriate
actions are determined.

The Group's business cperations are subject to a wide range
of risks. Some of the most significant risks are explained on
pages 81 to 68, together with details of actions that have
peen taken to mitigate these risks.

The key roles and delegated
responsibilities

Executive Management taam
Callectively responsible for managing risks.

Audit CommHitee

Assists the Board to fulfil its corporate governance duties
and oversees responsibilities in relation to finencial reporting.
internal control and the risk management structure.

Internal gudit

Holds meetings with risk owners across the business,
assesses the risk ratings and documents the controls in
place to mitigate each risk, and recommends improvements
and corrective actions.
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Risk appetite

The effectiveness of the Group's risk management approach
relies upon a culture of transparancy and openness that is
encouraged by both the Board and senior management. The
Group's appetite for risk is considered low; whilst some risk is
accepted in order to develop the business and invest in future
growth, the Group has no appetite for major risks which
cannot be effectively mitigated through appropriste controls,

Assessment of princlpal risks

During the year, the Board undertook a robust, in-depth and
comprehensive assessment of the emerging and principal
risks facing the Group and specifically those that might
threaten the delivery of its strategic business model, its
future performance, sclvency or liguidity. A summary of the
principal risks and uncertainties that could impact the
Group’s performance is shown on pages 61 to 68.



“During the year, the Board undertook a robust, in-depth
and comprehensive assessment of the emerging and

principal risks facing the Group and specifically those

that might threaten the delivery of its strategic business
model, its future performance, solvency or liquidity.”

Risk management framework
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk

- 1

1. Key employees

Description

Failure to retain and attract
kay staff, particularly
veterinary surgeons due to
structural shortages of
qualified vetsin the industry.

Potential impact

» Fzilure toc be able to
meeat the increased
demand from clients
and their animals.

» Increased employment
costs leading to adverse
impact on financial

performance of the Group.

> Increased pressure on our
colleagues to cover
vacancy gaps.

Increasing risk

Reducing risk  Now risk

{ N

Mitigating factors
> Close relationship with UK veternary schools,

» Market leading graduate induction programme.

» Focused training programmes to cover clinical, customer
service and management training.

» Appropriate reward and benefits.

» Regular feedback from colleagues to address common
issues or concerns.

> Highly qualified recruitment tearm.

> Annual bonus scheme and a Group Long-Term Incentive
Plan (LT1P) scherne for senior colleagues. An annual Save
As You Earn (SAYE) scheme is in place for all UK
colleagues.

» Home Office reinstatement of veterinary surgeons on UK
Shortage Occupation List,

> Increasing number of veterinary schools,

> Summer and Winter Camps aid an increase in the number
of graduate intake.

» Post COVID travel restrictions have sased allowing
more flexibility.

Changes in the year

> Increased the number of vets
and nurses employed by 6.0%
and 11.4% respectively.

Vet and nurse attrition rates
remained relatively stable.

Additional pay rises of 3.0%
for all colleagues in May 2022
to manage rising cost of
living, in addition to the July
2021 pay review in the year.

Increased nurse Gtliisation,
improving nurse job
satisfaction and reducing
pressure on vets,

Summer and winter camps to
attract new gracluate vets,
and increased engagement
with tha top vet schools.

Introduced an additional days
leave for each completed year
of service up to a maximum of
five additional days.

L

v

v

v

v

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 26 and 27

1 2 3 u

2. Economic environment

Description
Risk of potential further
decline n the UK sconomy.

Potentiol Impact

» Reduction in consumer
confidence and spending
on veterinary services in
light of inflationary
pressures.

v

Rising inflation costs
impacting cost of product
and adversely effecting
margins.

> The impact of Brexit on the
Group's business is clearer.

The main risks are a

potential risk to supply and

increased compliance
around importing and
exporting goods.

MHitigating factors

» Diverse range and provision of services across the Group
to a wide range of animals in the UK, the Netherlands and
the Republic of Ireland,

» Strong year-on-year growth in the Healthy Pet Club (HPC),
which increased to 470,000 members from 450,000 at
the year end, a 4.4% increase. This scheme helps to
promote loyalty to the Group.

> Online retail business protects the Group against changes
In consumer spending habits.

> Ability 1o source supplies from a number of
manufacturers. We have strong relationships with our
suppliers ahd manufacturers,

» Veterinary is considered 1o be an essential service.
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Changes In the year

» A new fixed-term energy
contract has been signed
to protect the Group against
increasing energy prices.

Latest PDSA "PAW" repart
found 2.5 million dogs and
cats acquired between 2020
g March 2022 showing
increased pet population is
here to stay.

Shift in working partterns to
more employees working
frorn home rmakes it easier
for pet owners to look sfter
their pets.

v

v

> The Group is monitoring
rising inflation.

Link to

strategy T
Read more on

pages 26 and 27
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3. Competition

Description

Increased consclidation and
acquisition of independent
veterinary practices.

Potential impact

» Loss of third-party practice
clients to Laboratories,
Crematoria and Referrals.

» Increased acquisition
value multiples being paid.

» Increased price competition
may limit the ability to pass

Mitigating factors
» The Group has & wide range of services to offer its clients
by way of its integrated veterinary platform.

» Continuous investment to maintain high-class facilities
and equipment in order to provide excellent clinical service.

» Detailed assessment of acquisition opportunities
measured against clear target criteria.

> Regular reviews of pricing of products and services
to ensure we remain comgestitive.

> Healthy Pet Club (HPC) scheme offers clients access
to preventative healthcare for their pets while spreading
the cost.

Changes in the year
» Ongoing market
consolidation.

» Continued increase in
our HPC scheme.

» Growth In revenues in the
year reflecting on focus to
deliver organic growth.

» Clear guidelines set by
Competition and Markets
Authority on how to assess
local market compstition.

on increases inemployment, Link to
pharmaceutical and strategy +—
other costs. fead mare on
pages 26and 27
1 2 3
. Adverse publicity
Deseription Mitigating factors Changes In the year

Any adverse publicity on the
Group, other corporate
veterinary groups or the
veterinary sector as a whole.

Potentia! Impact

» Reduction in customer
numbers leading to
adverse revenue.

» Adverse impact on our
ability to attract and retain
key colleagues.

» Policies and procedures in place to monitor service
delivery and ensure continued levels of high class
veterinary care.

» Participation in the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme and
RCVS Knowledge QI Champion accreditation.

v

Established Clinical Advisory Committee to advise on
clinical standards and drug lists across the Group.

v

Individual practice branding to reduce risk of adverse
publicity by being associated with other practices.

» Group marketing and communications teams to respond
swiftly to any issues.

> Prominent representation on national bodies and at
industry events to enhance the Group's reputation
and credibility.

v

Financial PR agency appointed to support with
media communication.

v

Positive feedback from Summer and Winter Camp for
Veterinary graduates.

» 2021 Quality Improvement report issued which outlines
our approach to increasing clinical standards.

v

Leading Learning, Education and Development programme
offering a wide range of continued professional
development courses for our Vets and Nurses,

> Increasad media coverage
regarding veterinary
consolidation and the impact
on end user pricing.

Continued monitoring of cur
clinical standards against
our quality improvement
framewarks for clinicians and
practices.

» We have engaged with third
partes to further enhance
reporting of important issues
such as sustainability.

v

Link to

strategy
Read mare on
pages 28and 27

1 2 a &
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Nochangetorisk  Increasingrisk  Reducingrisk Newrisk
“ 1 l N

5. Information technology

Description Mitigating factors

The Group is dependent
on various aspects of
information Technology (IT)
and support for

its operations.

Potential impact

» Loss of connectivity and
avalilability of systems
across gur network.

» Policies and procedures are in place to ensure stability
and security of our networks and systems.

> Restricted access to systems, networks and applications
wherever possible,

» Scheduled pragramme of network security enhancament
with external reviews performad periodically.

> Fuil system testing of any developments prior to live
deploymant.

» A cyber attack couid result
in loss of systems and
potential loss of client data.

» Regular backups and testing of the recovery of those
system backups.

» Established Practice Management System In place which
is able to work without access to the internet for short
pericds of time.

» Appropriate training offered to all colieagues.

Changes in the yeor

» Strengthened senior IT team
including appointment of
Head of Cyber Security and
Head of Infrastructure.

» The Group’s new Chief
Technology Officer {CTO) is
undertaking a review of
key risks.

Link to
strategy

Read maore on
pages 26and 27

3 b

6. Changes In industry regulations

Desecriptiaon

The industry is subject
to a number of laws
and reguiations.

Potential impact

> Failure to aghere to these
could have a material
impact on the Group
through damage to
reputation and/or financial
penaltiss.

Mitigating factors
» Policies and procedures in place to monitor compliance
and any developments or proposed changes.

» Regular engagement with regulatory and legislative
bodies to promote best practice and lobbying for change
where considerad appropriate.

» Clinical Directors in place to ensure high standards
are maintained.

» Changes in regulations
could adversely impact
the Group.

Changes In the year

» We cantinue to review and
respond to evolving
government and regulatory
guidance and able to adapt
our services accordingly (8.g.
use of tele-consultations).

Link to
strategy

Read more on
pages 26 and 27

1t 2z 3 &
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7. Sourcing pharmuaceutical supplies

Description

Failure to source
pharmaceutical products
at the required price

and quantity.

Potentlal Impact
> Inability to treat patients

Mitigating factors
» Supply agreemants in place with muitiple major
wholesalers to cover stocking issues.

» Supply of own-brand preducts in Group warehouses for
onwards supply.

» Regular pricing reviews with all major suppliers across all

Changes n the year

> New warehouse system fully
implemented for monitoring
stock levels accurately.

» Whaere possible, we have

included price capsin
supplier contracts to protect

i . i for ossi imi the Group from price
with the required divisions for best possible pricing. noreases
prescription and non- » Increase in direct supply of products.
prescription medicines.
Link to
» Adverse revenue impact. strategy «—p
. faad more on
» Adverse impact on . pages 26 and 27
margins through having to
source alternative supplies 1 u
on less favourable terms.
8. Sourcing and integrating acquisitions
Description Mitigating factors Changes in the year

Failure to attract, acquire and
integrate acquisitions at the
appropriate price with
minimal disruption.

Potenticai impact

> Pressure that higher
multiples reduce growth
opportunities through
acquisitions.

» Failure tg integrate
efficlently impacting
actual performance versus
business casa.

» Dedicated team cormmitted to sourcing acquisitions.

» Clear fist of criteria used to assess any potential acquisition
targets.

» Mulii-disciplined tearm communications in advance
of acquisition to plan the integration.

» Use of professional advisors to ensure appropriate due
diligence and legal advice are undertaken.

» Close monitoring of post-acquisition performance versus
business ptan.

» Ligise with Competitions and Marksts Authority (CMA) on
acquisitions where appropriate.

» Added further conditions to
pre-acquisitions checklist.

» Strengthened acquisitions
team.

» Clear guidelines set by CMA
on how to assess local market
competition.

Link to

straotegy
Read more on
pages 26 and 27

3
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to tisk

o 1

Increasing risk

Reducingrisk New risk

i N

9. Health and Safety legisiation

Description

Failure to compily with heslth
and safety legislation across
our practices, laboratories,
crematoria, warehouse and
other sites.

Potential Impact
» Colleagues, clients or the
general public are injurad,

> Required temporary
closure of sites whilst any
issues are addressed.

» Loss of revenue and
potential ¢claims against
the Group.

Mitigating factors
» Robust hesith and safety procedures are in place ensuring
full compliance with health and safety legistation.

> Mandatory employee training to ensure they can perform
their duties safely.

> Appropriate protective equipment supplied t al!
employees in order for them to perform their duties safely,

» Speciatist health and safety team which regularly reviews
any risks and identifies areas for improvement.

» Participation in the RCVS Practice Standards Schems to
ensura the Group promotes the highest levels of
clinical standards.

» Specialist and appropriately qualified third-party
advisors undertake maintenance, Inspections and
property development.

» Haalth and Safety committee in place.

Changes in the year
» Continued focus on health
and safety in all practices.

> Emphasis on ensuring health
and safety standards are at
the forefront when
considering property
improvements.

» Appointment of Director of
Property and Health and
Safety.

Link to
strategy l

Read more on
pages 28 and 27

1% &

10. Corporate legisiotion and regulatory requirements

Description
Failure to comply with laws

Mitigating factors
» Appropriate training supplied to colleagues in the relevant

Changes In the year
» Tender process and

and regulations. areas required, appaintment of new
A Nominated Advisor during

Potential impoct > Suitable experts employed to ensure compliance and the year.
» The Group could face regularly update policies and procedures.

I:ﬁi::g;?ggmes leading | Appropriate insurance cover and third-party professional | Link to

) advice used as required. stretegy “—

» The Group could Read more an

face suspension of pages 28and 27

certain operations. .
11, Bank facifities
Description Mitigating factors Changes In tha year

Faifure to comply with bank
covenants and ability to
secure future funding.

Potential Impact
» Lack of availability
of funding.

» Increased borrowing costs.

» The Group maintains suitable facilities from a syndicate of
leading banks with an appropriata term.

> Existing facilities comprise term debt, revolving credit
facility and an overdraft.

> Regular reparting of headroom and compliance to the
Board and Executive Committee.

> Reguiar meetings with bank syndicate members to
appraise performance.

> Focus on maintaining relationships with main lenders and
other banking partles.

» Daily cash flow forecasts prepared and reviewed for a
rolling three-month period to enable working capital
requirements to be understood and to optimise bank
drawings and interest costs.

» The Group has the ability to de-lever guickly.

» Strong cash generation
continues and net debtand
leverage remain low.

» No additional borrowings
utilised in the year.

» Transition from LIBOR to
SONIA on 31 December 2021

» The Group Is monitoring the
changes In interest rates
ahead of the repayment date
of the existing credit facilities,
whichis 31 January 2024,

Link to
strategy l

Read more on
pages 26 and 27

T 2 3 &
J\_
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12, Future pandemic or lockdown

Description

Future uncertainty over
COViID-19 or other pandemic
and associated lockdowns.

Potential impact

» Future lockdowns affect
our ability to service our
clients if nan-emergency
services are unable to be
undertaken.

» Short-term restrictions in
rasource due to

Mitigating factors
» Working closely with the RCVS and BVA to review evolving
guidance.

» Multiple geographically-spread locations across the UK,
Netherlands and Republic of ireland protect the Group
from any localised lockdowns.

» The Group operates across a diverse number of
operations with an online retail business and provides
veterinary care across companion, equine and farm
animal species.

» The Farm Animal division is protected due to it being
eritical to the human food chain.

Changes In the year

» Continued adherence to
govemnment and regulatory
advice across all operating
territories.

> We continue to maintain the
highest levels of protection
for our staff and customers.

» Wae continue to offer flexible
working where appropriate to
promote safety across the
Group as a whaole,

requirement for COVID-19 Link ta
self-isolation. strategy l
Read more on
pages 26 and 27
£
13. Sustainability and climate change
Description Mitigating factors Changes In the yeoar

The Group’s continued
success depends on the
social and envircnmental
sustainability of

its operations.

Potentlal Impact

» Disruptions to our
supply chain leading 1o
stock shortage and
financial loss.

» Adverse weather
leading to a decline in
our client demand.

» Changes in regulations
increasing the cost of
our aoperations.

» Sustainability and ESG is discussed as a standing agenda
itemn in Board meetings.

» ESG implementation Group formed which is chaired by
the CEQ. Supported by an additional seven working
groups in the following arsas: (1) Energy and Carbon,
(2) Waste, (3) One Health, (4) Wellbeing, (5) People
Development, {6) Equity, Diversity and (7) Inclusion
and Community.

» [ntroduction of additional electric vehicles for the car fleet
and use cf energy from renewzble sources.

= Focus on implementing targets to aim for Net Zero
carbon emissions.

> Appointment of ESG advisors to help assess our risks
and to implement our ESG strategy, “Care at our Heart”.

» Sustainability Report
pubtlished with SASE-
comphliant data.

> TCFD reporting in Annual
Report.

» Risks and opportunities
assessment and scenario
analysis performed in relation
to climate change.

link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 26and 27

1 2 3 w
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No chongetorisk  Increasingrisk  Reducingrisk  New risk
e 1 l N

14. Epidemiclogy

Description Mitigating factors

There is a risk to the Graup
as a result of potential
animal epidemics.

Potential Impact

> New diseases entering the
UK due to animal
importation could lead to
animal deaths, and loss of

» The Group continues to invest in research and
development and closely monitors trends and concerns

through our well established Clinical Advisory Committee.

» Invested in ensuring we drive quality mprovement and
continue 1o publish our Quality Improvement Repart.

> Notification system implemenied 1o aid tracking and
resolution of issuing arising.

Changes In the year

» We launched our Clinical
Research Awards to fund
clinical research. including
quality imprevement, which
are open to both internal and
external applicants via
collaboration with universities.

future revenues. » Focus on increased protection if suspected cases Link t:gg N
> Diseases transmitted from ere identified Read mare on

animals to humans may pages 26 and 27

lead to operational 10

disruption.
15. Cyber attack
Description Mitigating factors Changes In the year

Potential for a targeted
breach of the Group’s
IT security.

Potentlal Impact

» Loss of client data
resulting in reputational
damage.

> Disruption to operations.

» The Group has a number of policies in place that are
aimed at ensuring the stability and security of our
netwaorks and systems.,

» Network security is regularly enhanced with external
reviews being performed periodically to identify areas of
risk. A scheduled programme of equipment and software
replacement takes place to help ensure that the latest
security features are available.

» The Group employs a Head of Cyber Security alongside
third-party advisars where appropriate to ensure we
maintain high standards of protection.

» Systerns are regularly backed up and the recovery of
those systems is tested.

» Use of anti-virus software in place across the Group.

¥

Password palicies are in place encouraging use of strong
passwords. Forced password changes on a regular basis
and two factor authentication used where appropriate.

> Fully encrypted paymenits terminals being rolled out
across the group.

» Restricted access to systams, networks and applications
wherever possible.

The Strategic Report is approved for issue by the Beard of Directors

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
22 September 2022

e

68 | CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022

» Strengthened senior IT team
including appointment of
Head of Cyber Security and
Head of Infrastructure.

» The Group's new Chief
Technclogy Officer {CTO}
is undertaking a review of
key risks.

» We switched provider of
anti-virus software to mitigate
potential threats arising from
the changing political
landscape in Europe.

» We continue to review our
equipment and software and
regularly instail updates.

Link to
strategy N

Read more on
pages 26 and 27
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Chair’s introduction to governance

Strong governance
and leadership delivers
sustainable growth.

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present our Corporate Governance report
for the year ended 30 June 2022 on behalf of the Board. This
report explains how we have applied the principles of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the "Code”) during the course
of the year, as well as setting out details of changes to the
Board of Directors and our governance structure. We believe
that effective corporate governance is key to delivering the
Group's strategy and ensuring long-term success and this
report includes information about the progress we have
made in diversity and inclusion, stakeholder engagement
2nd our sustainability strategy.

Board changes and effectiveness

in Septernber 2021, we welcomed David Wilten to the Board
as an independent Non-Executive Director. David has also taken
over the role of Chair of the Audit Committee following the
departure of Mike McCollum and has brought & wealth of
financig! skills and experience to the role. In addition to this,
Deborah Kemp was appointed Senior Independent Director
as well as continuing to act as the Board's dedicated
Non-Executive Director for employee engagement,

During the year, | conducted an internal evaluation to
assess the effectiveness of the Board with support from
our Company Secretary. We have internally set out the
outcome and actions arising from the evaluation and
this includes ensuring that the Beard agenda includes
opportunities for the Board to meet with and engage
with the wider management team.

Equity, diversity and Inclusion

Focus on nurturing an inclusive culture at CvS through our
Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (ED{) workstream has continued
throughout the year with good progress made against our
ten-year plan. During 2022, we ran training for our HR teamon
recognising and minimising bias within perforrmance and
reward management, created EDI zones in our learning and
development platform, launched psychological sefety
training and prepared updated company policies on EDY,
Bullying. Harassment and Incivility and Menopause. CVS
Colleague EDI groups, comprising over 80 colleagues from
across the Group, have been established to focus on: ability
and neurodiversity; ethnicity: gender, LGBTQ+ matters; and
social mebility. These groups are already making an impact
across the business and | am pleased to report that CVS
joined together to celebrate Pride month this year through
activities and the sharing of colleague stories.

Section 172(1) and stakeholder engagement

During the course of the year, | held a number of meetings
with our institutional shareholders so | could understand their
priorities and discuss key themes including the development
of our approach to ESG and capital management.

During my time as Chair, CVS has built a strong corporate
culture based on investing in our people, our facilities and
our clinical equipment. We continue to expand our business
and our focus remains on attracting and retaining the very
best taient. The Board takes into account the interests of its
stakeholders when taking decisions and some examples

of how the Board has fulfilled its Section 172(1) duties and
engaged with stakehaolders during the course of the

year can be found on pages 22 to 25.

Sustainability

During the year the Board has discussed the development
of its approach to €5G st every Board meeting and we are
pleased to have released our first standalone Sustainability
Report, detailing the progress we are making and outlining
how our ESG strategy is closely aligned to our purpose,
vision, values and strategic pillars.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

Cur 2022 AGM will be held on Wednesday 23 Novermber 2022
at 11:00am. Full details including the resolutions to be proposed
to shareholders will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will
be made availlable in the Invester Centre on our website,

Cutcornes of the resolutions put to the AGM, including

poll results detailing votes for, against and withheld, will be
published on the Company’s website and the London Stock
Exchange once the AGM has conclided.

Richard Connell
Chalr
22 September 2022
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Board of Directors and Company Secretary

Our experienced Board with

diverse skills and expertise

Board and Company Secretary gendar diversit

1. Richard Cannesll (67)
Non-Executive Chair

Appolntment to the Board
Richard was appointed to
the Board in Cctober 2007,

Career and experience
Richard is a Chartered
AcGountant and worked in
investment managerment with
3i Group, Invesco and HSBC.
Previously he was Chair of
Dignity plc. Mercury Pharma
and [deaf Stelrad Group.

Male 75%
Female 25%
A R N

2. David Wliton (69)
Non-Executive Diraector

Appointment to the Board
David was appotnted to the
Board in September 2021

Career and experience
David is a qualifiad Chartered
Accountant with more than

30 years’ post-qualification
experienca as a Chief Financial
Officer, Nan-Exacutive Director
(NED) and consultant after many
years in corporate finance,
prirmarily in mid-cap M&A with
Rothschilds. David has held roles
in both public and private equity
backed companies including as
CFQ of sumo Group plc, Group
Finance Director of WYG plc and
NED and Chair of the Audit
Committee of Sweett Group plc.
With effect from 22 September
2022, David was appointed as
NED and Chair Designate at
Frontier Developments plc, due
to take over as Chair in
Decernber 2022,

Board and Company Secretary ethnlc diversity

A R N

3. Deborah Kemp (61)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Deborah was appointed to
the Board in January 2018.

Career and experience
Deborsh has held a variety of
Chief Executive Officer roles in
the consumer and hospitality
sector, including as a FTSE 100
main board Director at Punch
Taverns plc. Her career started
at Bass plc as a Chartered
Surveyor, subsequently holding
kay strategic roles in the
evotution and growth of the
Punch Tavems pub company.
Following a period in private
equity and a trade sale of Laurel
Furerals, she is now a Director
of vennco Limited and a
consultancy and interim
spedcialist in the consumer-
facing retail and hospitality
sactor, and assists mulki-site
businessas through growth,
change and transformation.

White
Ethnic minority

87.5%
12.5%

A R

4. Richard Gray (65)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed to
the Board In July 2020,

Career and experience
Richard is a career investment
banker who has extensive
capltal markets and corporate
finance experience. He is
Chairman of CT Private Equity
Trust PLC, a Non-Exacutive
Girector of Alpha Rea! Capital,
Vice Chairman of Invaescore
Group and a Director at Zeus
Capital. Ha has previously
worked at Panmure Geordon.
Lazard, Charterhouse and UBS.

Committee membership
Richard is hot a rmember of
the Audit, Remuneration or
Nomination Committees.

Committee membership
David is Chair of the Audit
Committee, and is a member
of all three Board Committees.
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Committee membership
Deborah is Chair of the
Remuneration Committee. She
is a member of all three Board
Committees and is the Senior
Independent Director.

Committee membership
Richard is Chair of the
Nomination Committee,

and is 8 member of all three
Board Committees.



5. llilchu.rd Fairman (55)
Chlef Executive Officer

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed as

a Director in August 2018 and
was appeinted as Chief Financial
Officer in October 2018, then
as Chief Executive Officer in
November 2019.

Career and experience
Richard spent six and a

half years at the RAC Groug,
including as Chief Financial
Officer frorm 2016. Prior to this,
Richard qualified as a Chartered
Accountant at EY, later working
at PwC, following which Richard
keld roles including Finance
Director of Virgin Money, CFO
of Central Trust and Finance
Director of Virgin Money Giving.

6. Ben Jacklin (38)
Chlef Operating Officer

Appointment to the Board
Ben was appointed as a Director
and Chief Operating Officer

in November 2019.

Career and experience

Ben Is responsible for the
leadership and management of
our business operations, across
all our territortes. These include
all our veterinary practices end
our {aboratories, crematoria,
marketing and communication
departments. Ben joined CVS in
2015 and. pricr to his appointment
to the Board in 2019, led the
Veterinary Practice division
across the CVS territories.

Ben qualified as a Veterinary
Surgeon from Cambridge
University, and is a European
College of Veterinary Surgecns
and Royal College of Veterinary
Surgeons recognised specialist
in equine surgery.

7. Robin Alfanso (43)
Chlef Financlal Officer

Appolntment to the Board
Robin was appointed as a
Directer and Chief financial
Officer in November 2019.

Career and experience
Robin spent eight years at the
RAC Group, initially as Group
Financial Controller and then
as Divisional Finance Director of
its largest commercial division
and profit centre, Consumer
Roadside and Marksting. Prior
to this, Robin qualified as a
Chartered Accountant at PwC,
following which he moved to
Aviva where he performed a
technical accounting role.

8. Jenny Farrer (4L5)
Company Secretary

Appointment

Jenny was appointed
as Company Secretary
in August 2021,

Career and experience
Jenny is a fellow of the
Chartered Governance Institute
with 16 years’ experiance

of acting as Company Secretary
to listed and large private
comganies through in-house
and professional practice roles.
Jenny is a Corporate,
Governance Professional and
also spent over seven years in
professional practice building
and heading the Company
Secretarial Practice at Mills &
Reeve LLP Jenny established
the East of England Branch of
the Chartered Governance
Institute in 2008 and still takes
an active role on its committee.

Committee membership

g3uDWIBAGs) syptodion)

A Audit Committee N Nomination Committee

r Remuneration Committas Chair of Committee
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Corporate governance statement

Effective management
across the business

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary

This Corporate Goverhance Statement explains how

the Company is managed. the roles of the Board, its
Committees and Directors and compliance with the
standards set out in the UK Corporate Governance Cods
2018 ("the Code™) for the financial year ended 30 June 2022,
For more information about the Code set by the Financial
Reporting Council {(FRC), visit www.frc.org.uk.

During the year to 30 June 2022, and up to the date of this
Annual Report and Financial Statements, the Company has
complied with the principles set cut in the Code apart from
certain lirmited exceptions which are explained on page 75
(Chair's independence and tenure - Provisions 10 and 19)
and page 86 (Directors’ Remuneration Policy - Pension -
Provisicn 38). The Corporate Governance Repaort explains
how the Company has applied the principles of the Code;
please tind below a guide to the most relevant explanations
for each of the principles:

Disclosure In the

Board activity during the financial year

to 30 June 2022

Strategy, business
nd operational

performance

>

¥

v

Reviewing and testing the Group's
overall strategy and supporting strategic
plllars and monitoring performance
against targets.

Considering and approving major
acquisitions and disposals.

Monitoring trading and market
conditions, cornpetitor activity
and regulatory raquirements.

Financial
performance

v

Receiving Audit Committee reports
on full and half year financial results.

Reviewing and approving the Group's
annual budget

Considering the Company’s dividend
policy and approving the allocation of
capital for investment.

Risk management
and internal
control

>

v

v

v

Reviewing the Group’s rigk register.

Receiving reports from the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness
of internal controls.

Approving the Audit Cornmittee’s
recommendation to appoint KPMG
as internal auditor

Receiving reguler updates on legal
and regulatory matters.

Board and
Comrmittee
governance

v

Receiving reports from
Board Committees.

Reviewing terms of reference
for Board Committees.

Adopting updated Schedule of Matters
Reserved to the Board.

Principles 2022 Report » Receiving carporate
Board leadership and A,B,C. DandE Pages 72 governance updates.
Company purpose and 73 )
> Conducting annual review

Divisfon of responsibilities F,GandH Page 74 of Board effectiveness.
Composition, succession and I J, KandL Pages 74
evaluation and 75
Audit, risk and internal control M, Nand O Page 77

and 78
Remuneration B QandR Page 90
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Our governunce framework
The Group's governance framework comprises matters resarved to the Board, Committees with clear terms of reference
and our Delegated Authorities policy which ensures that decisions are made at appropriate levels within the Group:

The Board

\)

\

Audit Committee
Key responsibilities:

\)

Noemination Committee
Key responsibilties:

8

Remuneration Committee
Key responsibilities:

SoUDLIGADS 2)biodion)

» reviewing and monitoring » making recommendations on » assisting the Board in ensuring
financiel reporting; all Board appointments and appropriate retmuneration policies
succession planning: are in place for the Group:

v

ensuring an appropriate intemal
control and risk management > monitoring and reviewing Board
framework; composition; and

v

ensuring Executive Director
remuneration is aligned to the
strategic priorities of the Group
and its performance; and

v

monitering internal and external » undertaking an annual evaluation
audit arrangements {including of the effectiveness of the Board
auditor independence): and and its Committees

v

making recommendations
regarding Long-Term Incentive Plan
terms and conditions, and awards.

v

maintaining appropriate
whistleblowing procedures.

Membership: Membership:
Membership: Richard Gray - Chair D:[;grai Kerr:]p - Chair
David Wikton - Chair

Deborah Kemp David Wilton
Deborah Kemp David Wilton

I H b
Richard Gray Richard Gray
Executive Commities

The Executive Committee ("Exco”) comprises the Group CEQ, COO, CFQ, Group HR
Director, Chief Veterinary Officer, Group Procurament Director, Director of Clinical
Operations and Chief Technology Officer. The Exco assists the CEC in managing the
Group's operations and the implementation of strategy. The Exco meets at a minimum
on a monthly basis to set performance targets, monitor key objectives and commercial
plans and evaluate opportunitias and business initiatives. Exco members report annually
to the Board in person as well as providing monthly updates through the CEQ, COC and

CFC Board reports.

Sanlor Leadership Group (SLG)

The SLG comprises the heads of major business units and key service functions
The SLG meets on a monthly basis to collaborate and discuss major projects and
Group performanca.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Structure of the Board and Board Committees

At 30 June 2022, the Board of Directors consisted of seven members, including a Non-Executive Chair and three independent
Non-Executive Directors. Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set out on pages 70 and 71.
The responsibilities of the Board members are set out in the table below. Tha Board ang its Committees have access 1o
management and external advisors to assist them in discharging their duties. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the
Board and Board Committees received sufficient. reliable and timely information in order far them to perform their
respensibilities effactively.

Roles and responsibilities
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chair and the CEC, and all Board members have clearly defined
roles and responsibilities as set out below. Board members have the range of skills and experience required to ensure
the successful operation, growth and sustainability of the Group, as set out in their biographies on pages 70 and 71.

Rale Name Respanslbility

Chair Richard Connell > The Chair is responsible for leading the Board and for its averall effectiveness
in directing the Cormpany. The Chair also facilitates constructive Board
relations and the effective contribution of all Non-Executive Directors as well
as ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information
and ovarseeing the governance framework.

CEO Richard Fairman > The CEO is rasponsible for leading the Company's executives in managing the
day-to-day operation of the Group. The CEQ is accountable to and reports to
the Board and is assisted in his role by the Group’s Exco, all of whom report
directly or indirectly to the CEOQ.

CcO0 Ben lacklin » The COQ reports to the CEC and is responsible for overseeing and directing
the day-to-day operations of the Group in addition to supporting the CEQ with
developing and implementing Group strategy.

CFO Robin Alfonso > The CFQ reports to the CEO and is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group's finances and development and Implementation
of financial strategy as well as supporting the CEO with developing and
implemanting Group strategy.

Senior Deborah Kemp » The Senior Independent Director (SiD) provides advice and additional support

independant and experience to the Chair.

Director

Independent Richard Gray » [ndependent Non-Executive Directors provide constructive challenge, strategic

Non-Executive David Wilton guldance and specialist advice as well as holding management to account and

Directors : being availatle to work with the Chair to resolve contentious issues.

Company Jenny Farrer » The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Board and its Committees

Secrotary and is responsible for ensuring that the Board has the policies, processes,

information, time and resources it needs in order to function effectively and
efficiently as well as supporting the Chair in developing and overseeing the
governance frarmework,

Board and Committee meeting attendance

The Board meets formally eleven times a year and meetings are planned around key events in the corporate calendar
including interim results, full-vear results and the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The Non-Executive Directors confirm that
they have sufficient time to devote to meet their Board responstbilities. In addition to the eleven scheduled Board mestings
and other Committee meetings, the Non-Executive Directors make themselves available for ad-hoc meetings and Board
calls tc receive regular updates and to deal with specific projects or matters arising during the year.

The Chair and Non-Executive Directors meet from time to time as appropriste without the Executive Directors present.
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The table below sets out attendance at Board rmeetings
during the financial year ended 30 June 2022, including a
dedicated strategy meeting held in the same week as the
Beoard meeting in March 2022,

Audit Romunaration Nomination

Board Committae Commitiee Committee
Number
of meetings 15 2 8 2
R Connell 19 2* o+ 2*
& Kemp 15 2 5 2
R Grey 15 2 5 2
D Wilton 0 * 4% **
M McCGollum G+ 1 1 ™
R Fairman 15 2* 5 2*
R Alfonso 15 2* 5* 2*
B Jacklin 15 2* 5* 2*

* In attendance by invitation of the respective Committee,

** Mike McCollum resigned as a Director on 23 September 2021 and was
replaced by David Wilton with effect from 24 September 2021. Both
Dirsctors attended all mestings whilst in appaintment.

Board processes and sffectiveness

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved for its
approval which includes matters of strategy, structure and
capital, financial reporting, internal controls, contracts,
Board membesship, remuneration, delegation of authority
and corporate governance. Matters that fall outside of those
reserved to the Board or its Committees fall within the
responsibility and authority of the CEQ, CQQ and CFO and
are either reserved to them or delegated further through the
Group's Delegated Authorities Policy.

Board and Committee papers are circulated well in advance
of meetings and Directors have access to a Board portal
containing Board packs and reference materials from previous
meetings as well as all Board policies and procedures. In
addition to formally scheduled meetings, the Chair maintains
regular contact with the Non-Executive Directors, CEQ,
COQ, CFO and Company Secretary in performing his duties
leading the Board.

Given the size of the Group and the Company’s AlM listing,
the Board does not believe external evaluation of the Board
to be appropriate. During December 2024, the Chair,
assisted by the Company Secretary, carried out an internal
review of Board effectiveness which included a review of
the information provided to the Board, the composition of
the Board, decision-making processes and the Board's
annual agenda.

Cutcomes from the Board effectiveness review:

» dedicated strategy day held in March 2022 to review
and refresh the Group's five-year plar;

> development of an annual rolling agenda to encourage
interaction with Executive Cornmittee membaers;

> Nomination Committee to continue to monitor the gender
diversity of the Board: and

» introduction of a Board portal to support Directors in
reviewing Board papers and create a reference point
for Board policies and procedures.

Board induction and tralning

New Directors appointed to the Board undertake an
induction programme to assist in developing their
understanding and awareness of the business, its
governance framework, employees and Group policies and
precedures. Induction is tallored to suit the requirements of
sach new Director and includes site visits to practices
around the Group, meetings with the heads of Group
functions and one-on-one meetings with felfow Board
mermbers, Executive Committee members and the
Company's external advisors in addition to being provided
with details of the Group’s policies and procedures.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2022, Board
members received refresher training on AlM and the Market
Abuse Regulations delivered by the Company's Nominated
Advisor and external legal counsel.

Iindepandence

Richard Connsll has held the position of Chair of the Board
since October 2007 and has therefore served on the Board
for more than nine yaars, which is an example in the Code
of a circumstance in which a Non-Executive Director’s
independence is likely to be, or could appear to be,
impaired. The Board of Directors believes that Richard's
knowledge of the veterinary sector and the Group's
operations and experience of transactions continue

to be invaluable to the leadership of the Group.

Deborah Kemp, Richard Gray end David Wilton are
considered to be independent by the Board.

All Directors will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022
AGM of the Company.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Relations with shareholdars

Copies of the Annual Report and Financial Statements are
issued to all shareholders where requested and copies are
available on the Group's website, www.cvsukitd.co.uk.
The Group slso uses its website to provide information to
shareholders and other interested parties. The Company
deals with sharsholder correspondence as and when it
arises throughout the year.

The CEQ, COO and CFO have reguler meetings with
institutional investors, private client brokers, individua!
shareholders, fund managers and analysts tc discuss
information made public by the Group.

The Chair and the Non-Executive Directors are always
available to sharehclders on all matters relating to governance
and strategy. Thay may be contacted through the Company
Secretary at company.secretary@Ccvsvets.com.

Shareholder engagemant activities:
» Preliminary results roadshow - September 2021

> Annual General Meeting - Novernber 2021
» Interim resuits roadshow — March 2022

> US roadshow - April 2022

» Republic of lreland roadshow - June 2022

The Audit Committee

During the year under review the Gommittee Chair was
David Wilton. David became Chair of the Committee in
September 2021 and has a wealth of experience in senior
finence roles including in listed companies. All Non-Exacutive
Directors other than the Chair were mambers of the Committee.

The Board ¢onsiders that members of the Audit Committee
have recent and relevant financial expertise, and that the
Committee as a whole has competence relevant to the
sector in which the Company operates.

The Audit Committee’s duties primarily concern financial
reporting, internal control and risk management systems,
whistleblowing procedures and internal audit and external
audit arrangernents (fncluding auditor independence).

The Audit Committeg report can be found an pages 79
and 80.
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The Nomination Committee

During the year under review the Chair of the Nomination
Committee was Richard Gray, following his appointment
as a Non-Executive Director in July 2020. All Non-Executive
Directors other than the Chair were members of

the Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing

the structure, size and composition, including skills,
independence, knowledge and experience, of the Board.

It is also responsible for the co-ordination of the annual
evaluation of the performance of the Board and of its
Committees, and for ensuring appropriate succession plans
are in place. Given the size of the Group and the Company's
AlM listing, the Board does not believe external evaluation
of the Board to be appropriate. All Directors engage in the
internal evaluation and appropriats action is taken in light

of the assessment.

The Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on all Board appointments and on the
successlon plans for both Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directars. During the year it appointed

a new Non-Executive Diractor David Wilton, to replace

Mike McCollurn.

The Nomination Committee Report can be found on
pages 81and 82.

The Remuneration Committee

During the year under review the Chair of the Remuneration
Committee was Deborah Kemp. Deborah became Chair of
the Cormnmittee in July 2020. All Non-Executive Directors
other than the Chair were members of the Committee.

The Rermuneration Committee has delegated responsibility
for designing and determining remuneration for the Chair,
Executive Directors and next level of senior management,
as well as the Company Secretary.

The CEQ, COO and CFQ are invited to attend meetings as
appropriate but do not participate in discussions relating to
their own remuneration. The Chair will also be invited to
attend meetings as appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee Repcrt can be found
on pages 83 tc 93.



The Company Secretary

The Gompany Secretary is responsible for ensuring that
Board procedures are complied with, advising the Board

on all governance matters, supporting the Chair and helping
the Board and its Committees to function efficiently.

Jenny Farrer was appointed Company Secretary with effect
from 16 August 2021.

Annual General Meeting 2022 — voting results

In the 2021 Results of AGM announcement, the Board of
CVS noted that all the resolutions had been passed with
the requisite majerity. During the course of the year, the
Board of Directors has continued to actively engage with
shareholders and to discuss and consider their feedback.

Over the past two years, the following changes have been
made to remuneration policies and committee composition:

» introduction of malus and clawback for annual bonuses
and Long-Term Incentive Plans (LTIP);

» Remuneraticn Committee discretion to override formulaic
outcomes introduced for bonuses and LTIPs;

» LTIP scheme performance conditions amended so as to
closely align with shareholder returns with 50.0% of the
performance condition now based on total shareholder
return;

» target shareholding thresholds introduced of 100.0% of
salary for the CEQ, COO and CFC;

» two-year holding period introduced for new LTIP awards
for the CEO, COOQ and CFO; and

» Board Committees were restructured as Richard Connell
stood down from all Committees.

Whistieblowing

The Group’s whistleblowing policy is reviewed by the Board
annually. The policy sets out the procedures for employees
or third parties to raise concerns about any suspected
wrongdoing. Employees also have access to a wide range
of akernative and informal routes through which to raise
concerns. This reflects the open culture and strong internal
communication channels of the Group, in line with our
strategy, and supports the formal whistleblowing policy we
have in place. The Board receives a whistleblowing report at
each Board meeting and will receive more detailed reperts
of any investigations that may take place. There were no
issues reported to the Board under the whistleblowing
policy during the year.

Audit, risk and internal control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s systern of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness on an
ongoing basis.

The system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the Group's strategic objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss,

The key risk management processas and internal control
procedures include the following:

» the close involvement of the Executive Directors in all
aspects of the day-tc-day operations, including regular
maeetings with senior colleagues from across the Group
and a review of the monthly operational reports compiled
by senior management;

v

clearly defined responsibiiities and limits of authority. The
Board has responsibility for strategy and has edopted a
schedule of mattars which are required 1o be brought to
it for decision;

» a comprehensive system of financial reporting,
forecasting and budgeting. Detailed budgets are prepared
annually for all parts of the business. Raviews occur
through the management structure culminating in a
Group budget which is considered and approved by the
Board. Group management accounts are prepared
monthly and submitted to the Board for review. Variances
from the budget and the prior year are closely monitored
and explanations are provided for significant variances.
Independent of the budget process, the Board regularly
reviews revised profit and cash flow forecasts which are
updated to reflect actual performance trends;

> a cantinuous process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks across the Group together with
a comprehensive annual review of risks which covers both
financial and non-financial areas;

» an independent internal audit function that reports to the
Chair of the Audit Cornmittee;

> a central tearn that checks clinical and health and safety
compliance in all parts of the Group; and

» the Company’s Scheme of Delegation of
Financial Authority.
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Corporate governance
statement continued

Audit, risk and internal control continued

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
business conduct and ethics, and has an ongeing process
for identifying, gvaluating and managing any significant risks
in this regard.

The internal control procedures are delegated to the
Executive Directors and senior management and are
reviewed in light of the ongoing sssessment of the Group's
significant risks.

Internal Audit

During the year, the Audit Committee took the decision to
appoint KPMG as Internal Auditor to provide an
outsourced service.

Remuneration

The Board considers that policies on executive remuneration
should be transparent. They should be implementad in a
manner which supports strategy and promotes long-term
sustainable growth. in addition, remuneration should reflect
both the performance of the Company as well as individuals.
The Board has delegsted to the Remuneration Committee
responsibility for complying with these aspects of the Code
and the work of the Committee is reported in full on pages
83 10 93 of this Annual Report.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company will take
place on 23 November 2022. Full details of resolutions to be

proposed to our sharehslders will be set out inthe Natice of

AGM will which will be made available in the Inyestor Centre

on our website.

Outcornes of the resolutions put 1o the AGM, including polt
results detailing votes for, sgainst and withheld, will be
published on the website of the Company and the London
Stock Exchange once the AGM has concluded.

v

By order of the Board

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
22 September 2022
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Area of focus

Engaging with charities

Every year, CVS colleagues nominate and vote for their
favourite animal charities to be selected as the Group's
Charity of the Year. Throughout the year, our colleagues
fundraise for this charity; this ranges from callection pots
in veterinary practices, to bake sales, 1o large sponsored
events, Each year. CVS matches the amaount raised by
colleagues for the Charity of the Year, with & donation to
velife, a charity that provides ermotional, financial and
mental health support to the veterinary community.

For 2022, the chasen Charity of the Year is the Pet Blood

Bank, a charity set up to support vets by providing a blood

service for pets, just like the one we have as humans.

“We are absoclutely over the moon to have
been chosen by CVS colleagues as their
charity of the year! Pet Blood Bank is
small charity but what we do is critical to
the veterinary industry. The support from
CVS will help to fund things like free
training and education for vets and go
towards helping to keep the cost of our
blood products as low as possible.
Uitimately, this partnership will help to
save mere lives and we are so grateful
for the nomination.”

Nlcole Osborne
Marketing Manager for Pet Blood Bank



Audit Committee report

Ensuring the continued integrity
and quality of financial information

David Wilton
Audit Committes Chair

Key responsibllities:
» reviewing and monitoring financial reporting;

» ensuring an appropriate internal control and risk
management framework:

» monitoring internal and external audit arrangements
{including auditor independence); and ‘

» maintaining appropriate whist/eblowing procedures.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2022 Attendance
David Wilton* 1
Deborah Kemp 2
Richard Gray 2
Mike McCollum** 1

*  David Wilton attended the Audit Committee mesting hald
following his appaintment on 24 September 2021,

=+ Mike McCollum attanded the Audit committee meeting held prior
to him stepping down from the Board on 23 Septembar 2021,
frior to his resignation, Mike McCollum chaired the
Audit Committee.

Responsibllities and terms of reference

The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial
performance of the Group is praperly controlled, monitored
and reported, for liaising with the extemal auditor and reviewing
its reports relating to the Annual Report and Financial
Statements, and for internal control matters. David Wilton
became Chair of the Committee following his appointment
as a Non-Executive Director on 24 Septermber 2021,
replacing Mike McCollum. David is a chartered accountant
and, unti{ his retirement at the end of October 2022, will be
the Chief Financial Officer of ancther company that was
listed until January 2022. All members of the Committee are
Non-Executive Directors with considerable experience in
senior roles and are deemed to have the necessary ability
and experience to understand financial statements. The
Chair, the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), the Chief Operating

Ofticer (COO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) are
invited to attend such meetings, but the Committee also
meets with the external auditor without the CEQ, COO and
CFQ being present at least once annually. Other members of
management are invited to present such reports as are
required for the Committee to discharge its duties.

The agenda of each meeting is linked to the reporting
requirements of the Group and the Group's financial
calendar. Fach Audit Committee member has the right to
request reports on matters relevant to its terms of reference
in addition to the regular items.

Summary of octivity

I the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of
this report, the actions taken by the Audit Commitiee 1o
discharge its duties included:

> raviewing the Annual Report and Financial Statements and
the Intarim Report, including significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein. As part of these reviews
the Committee received a report from the extarnal auditor
on its audit of the 2022 financial statements;

> advising the Board that the Anrual Report and Financial
Statements are fair, balanced and understandable, and
provide the information necassary for shareholders to
assess the Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy;

» reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls and reports received from the Group's internal
audit function in respect of its programme of internal
audit reviews;

> reviewing the Group’s risk management framework;

> reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit
function and arranging for the appeintment of KPMG to
provide an outsourced internal audit service;

» reviewing the external auditor’s audit planning document,
with particular reference to the audit approach, planned
materiality, significant risks as detailed in the Independent
Auditor’s Report and the audit approach to these risks;

> reviewing the external auditor’s audit findings
memaorandum, noting conclusions in respect of identified
audit risks, materiality of adjusted and unadjusted
misstatements, control obsarvations and suggested
improvements in the disclosure provided in the Annual
Report and Financial Statements;

> considering papers prepared by the CFO to support the
going concern basis of preparation of the Annual Report
and Financial Statements;
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Audit Committee report continued

Summary of activity continued
» considaring papers prepared by the CFO 10 suppott
goodwill and cash-generating unit impairment review;

» reviewing the calculation, application and presentation of
Alernative Performance Measures (APMs) in the Annua!
Report and Financial Statements;

» agreeing the fees to be pald to the external auditor
for its audit of the 2022 financial statements; and

= reviewing the performance and indspendence of the
external auditor,

Significant financlal reporting risks and judgement
areas considered during the year

Revenue recognition

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the Group’s
revenue recognition in accordance with |FRS 15 Revenue
frorn Contracts with Custormers, The Committee reviewed
the revenue recognised under the Healthy Pet Club
membership scherme, to ensure revenue is recognised on
delivery of the performance obligation. In the year the Board
raviewad the assumptions around the occurtence of the
performance abligations and cancluded the recognition of
Healthy Pet Club revenue ta be appropriats.

Management override

During the year, the Committes has reviewsd the
appropriateness of controls around management override
of controls taking into account reasens which could lead
management ta override controls. The Committee
concluded there are adequate palicies and procedures in
place and there is a culture of high adherence to compliancs,
ethics and code of conduct acrass the Group. The Group
also has an appropriate whistleblowing policy in place.

The Audit Committes also received and considsted reports
from the external euditor, Deloitte LLP, which included
control findings relevant to their audit. Management
conducts regular reviews to identify and evaluate the

risks faced by the Group and to ensure that mitigation

Is appropriate. This process was reviewed by the Audit
Committee and is considered appropriate.

The Board also carries out its own annual review and assessment
of key risks. During the year the Audit Committee has
received a presentation detailing each key risk, and the
mitigating actions in place,

Research and Development Expenditure Tax Cradit
{RDEC) income

During the year, the Committes has reviewed the
appropriatensess of the income recognised in relation

to RDEC. The Group has considered the facts and
circumstances relating to the claims in order to make a
judgemant as to whether compliance is reasonably assured
and therefore receipt Is reasonably certain. Tha Committee
has reviewed the estimated discount applied to the gross
claims and the associated uncertainty of the claims untii
either the formal acceptance of the claims has been
received from HM Revenue & Customs or the expiry enguiry
window of the relevant claims. The Committee concluded
the income recognised is considered to be appropriate.
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In respect of these significant financial reporting risks and
judgement areas, we concluded that the Group’s accounting
treatment and/for contrals in place were appraopriate.

Golng concern and viability assassment

in considering going concem and viability overall, the
Committee reviewed the Group's forecasts with particular
focus on the key agsumptions in relation to revenue, gross
margin and cash flow management. Senslitivities to these
key assumptions were also teviewed based on the impact of
the Group's key risks, as set out on pages 60 to 68.

Foltowing a review of the detailed considerations set cut
above by the Committee and Executive Commities, the
Committee is satisfied that it is appropriate for the Group to
continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing the
Annual Repart and Accounts of the Group and, further, that
tha going concern longer term viability statement on pages 95
to 96 is appropriate.

Extaernal auditor

The external auditor was appceinted with effect fram the
year ended 30 June 2017 giving a current tenure of six years.
A tender precess was carried out prior to this change. From
the year ending 30 June 2022, in line with guidance from the
Auditing Standards Board, thera has been an audit
engagement pariner rotation and a new audit partner has
become the Senior Statutory Auditor. The appointment of
the external auditor is reviewed and subject to a shareholder
vote at the AGM on an annual basis. Details of the fees paid
to the external auditor during the financial year are set out.

in note 6 to the financial statements.

The Audit Committes has primary responsibility for the
supervision of the relationship with the external suditor,
including oversesing its qualification, independencs,
expertise, performance and effectiveness, and the terms

of its engagement and remuneration. The Committee is also
responsible for ensuring the quality and efficiency of the
external audit. enabling the Gommittee to formally evaluate
the effectivenass and quality of the external auditor’s output,
which it does annually. After reviewing the external auditor's
performance during the year, the Committee has concluded
that it is satisfied with the effectiveness of the external
auditor and the external audit process, and that Deloitte
remains effective in its role as external auditor. The
Committee has therefore recommended to the Board

that Deloitte LLP be reappointed for a further year and

a resolution 1o this effect will be proposed at the AGM.

Appraval

Tha members of the Audit Committee have raviewed the
financial statements and the content of the draft Annual
Report and Financial Statements to ensure that they are fair,
balanced and understandable and, accordingly, the Audit
Committee resolved to recommend that the Board makes
the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 97.

David Wikton
Audit Committes Chalr
22 Septernber 2022



Nomination Committee report

Ensuring an appropriate level
of experience on the Board

Richard Gray
Nomination Committee Chalr

Key responsibllities:
» making recommaendations on all Board eppointments
and succaession planning;

> monitoring and reviewing the Board composition; and

» undertaking an annual evaluation of the effectivenass
of the Board and its Committees.

The Committee is comprised of the three independent
Non-Executive Directors, The primary purpese of

the Committee is to lead the process for Board
appointments and to make recommendations to the
Board to achieve the optimal compaosition of the Board
having regard to:

> its size and composition;

> ensuring that it consists of individuals who are best
able to discharge the responsibilities of Directors;

» potential conflicts of interast;

» the extent to which the required skills, experience
or attributes are represented; and

» the need tc maintain the highest standards of
corporate governance,

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse
Board and workforce and encourages reviewing ways of
working to ensure candidates from all backgrounds can
apply. Each appointment of a Board mamber or senior
executive is made on merit and the best candidate will
be appointed. The Board recognises that further steps
can be taken to improve the diversity of the Group at

all levels and across all business streams, and

continues to work towards this aim.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2022 Attendance
Richard Gray 2
Deborah Kemp 2
David Wilton* 1
Mike McCollun** 1

* David Wilton attended the Nomination Committee meeting held
fallowing his appointment on 24 Septernber 2021,

** Mike McCollum attended the Nomination Committee meeting held
prior o him stapping down from the Beard an 23 September 2021,

Board appointments and resignations

Mike McCollum, former Senior Independent Non-Executive
Directer and Chair of the Audit Committes, resigned from
the Board at the end of his term on 23 September 2021 to
pursue a full-time opportunity outside of the Group.

In light of Mike McCollum's resignation, Deborah Kemp,
who has served as a Non-Executive Director since her
appointment on 2 January 2018, was appointed Senior
Independent Director.

The Nomination Committee oversaw the appointment of
David Wilton as the new Chalr of the Audit Committee with
effect from 24 September 2021, David Wilton is a qualified
Chartered Accountant with more than 30 years’ post-
gualification experience as a Chief Financial Officer, Non-
Executive Director and consultant after many years in
corporate finance, primarily in mid-cap M&A with
Rothschilds. David has held roles in both public and private
equity backed companies including as CFQ of Sumo Group
plc. Group Finance Director of WYG plc and Non-Executive
Director and Chair of the Audit Committee of Sweett Group
ple. With effect from 22 September 2022, David was
appointed as Non-Executive Director and Chairman
Designate at Frontier Developmenits pic, taking over as
Chairman in December 2022,

Tha Nomination Committee engaged a third-party
recruitment specialist, Chief Officers Group, to support
with the appointment of David Wilton.
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Nomination Committee report continued

Board evaluation and effactiveness

The Nomination Committes scrutinises the performance

of the Executive Directors, taking inta account the perfarmance
of the business against agreed plans. The Nomination
Cormmittee also cansiders the other commitments of
Directors and is satisfied that all Directors devote appropriate
time to the Company’s affairs.

1n April 2022, the Nomination Committee evaluated the
results of the internat Board Effectiveness review carried out
by the Chair and the Company Secretary and was satisfied
that the Board remains effective and has the right balance of
skills and expetience to provide continued effective
stewardship of the Group.

Committee terms of reference

The Nomination Committae’s terms of reference were
reviewed during the course of the year and wera considered
to be appropriate.

Succession planning

The Committee s responsible for ensuring that plans are

in place for orderly succession to Board and executive
positions, and {o oversee the development of a diverse
pipeline for succession, taking into account the challenges
and opportunities facing the Graup end the skills and
expertise needed on the Board in the future. The Nomination
Commiitee considered contingency and successian plans
in April 2022.

The Committee is alsa responsibis for keeping under review
the leadership needs of the Group, both Executive and
Non-Executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability
of the Group to cormnpete effectively.

It is important that a diverse pipeline for succession is
developed in line with the Company’s strategy on pages 26
and 27. The gender balance of thoss in the senior
rmanagement, which, in accordance with the Code, we
consider to be the Executive Committee and the Company
Secretary, is four women and five men.

The Committee is respensible for keeping up to date and
fully-informed about strategic issuas and commercial
changes affecting the Group and the market in which it
operates. The Group competes with 2 number of private
equity backed vererinary businesses and, in order to
respond appropriately to changing and increasing
competition, and to successfully execute accretive
acquisitions, it is considered important that the Board
contains Executive and Non-Executive Directors with both
private equity and transaction experience.
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Condlicts of interest

The Board has established rcbust procedures for menitoring
conflicts of interest in accordance with the Group's Articles
of Association and conflicts of interest policy. All Directors are
required to make the Board aware of any other commitments
and potential cantlicts of interest are appraved by the Goard
where approptiate, and recorded in the conflicts register, The
Board has delegated authority to the Nomination Committae
1o keep under review any actual or potential conflict of
interest situations authorised by the Board, and 1o determine
whether it is appropriate for such matter{s) to remain so
authorised. During the year the Committee reviewed the
conflicts register and it was noted that none of the Directors
have interests or external appointments which give rise to
material conflicts of interest.

Electing and re-electing Directors

The Committee has reviewed the independence of the
Non-Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Chair and
corcluded that sl remain independent and have sufficient
time to meet theiy Board responsibilities in accordance with
tha criteria set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code.

The Committee will recommend to the Board and the
shareholders that all serving Directors should be submitted
for re-election at the Company’s 2022 AGM.

Ongolng review

Whilst the Committee will continue to raview the
composition of the Board, it is confident that the Board has
the right balange of skills, experience and tenura at presant
o successfully steer the Group through the next stagaes of
its growth and to respond appropriately to the strategic
opportunities ahead.

The Group's continuing strong financlat performance,
strengthened balance sheet and experienced msnagement
tearn position it well {0 take advantage of these opportunities
and to deliver further enhancements in shareholder value.

Richard Gray
Nomingation Committee Chair
22 September 2022



Remuneration Committee report — unaudited

Ensuring remuneration is aligned
with shareholders’ interests

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chalr
Key rasponsibilities:

» assisting the Board in ensuring appropriate
remuneration policies are in place for the Group;

» ensuring Executive Director remuneration is aligned
to the strategic priorities of the Group and its
performance; and

» making recommendations regarding Long-Terrn Incentive

Plan (LTIP) terms and conditions, and awards.

The Ramuneration Committee is comprised of three
independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee meets frequently
throughout the year to consider remuneration matters
of the Group, to consider feedback from shareholders
on remuneration matters and to make appropriate
recommendations to the Board.

Terms of Reference

The full Terms of Reference for the Committee are
reviewed and approved annually. These were last
updated on 22 September 2022.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2022 Attendance
Debarah Kemp 5
Richard Gray 5
David Wilton* 4
Mike McCollum** 1

* David Wilton attended all Rermuni@ration Committea meetings held
following his appointment on 24 September 2021,

** Mike McCallum attended the Rerruneration Committea meeting held
priot 1o him stepping dawn frorn the Boerd on 23 September 2021.

As an AIM-guoted company, the information provided in this
report is disclosed to fulfil the requiremenits of AlM Rule 18.
CVS Group plc is not required 1o comply with Schedule 8 of
the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. The information
is unaugited.

Remuneration peolicy

The Remuneration Committee seeks to develop the
Company’s executive remuneration arrangements
appropriately taking due account of matters specified in
the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Investment
Association Principles of Remuneration in light of the
Company's growth ang its status as an AIM 50 company.

The Remuneration Committes considers it important that
remuneration policies for Executive Directors are aligned
to the Group's long-term strategy and that a meaningful
portion of Executive Director reward is linked to long-term
performance. In light of this, remuneration for Executive
Directors is comprised of base salary, an annua! bonus and
a Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) with performance criteria
based on earnings per share and total shareholder return.

In respect of basic salary, the objective is to ensure that the
Group attracts and retains high calibre Executives with the
skills, experience and motivation necassary to direct and
manage the affairs of the Group. The annual bonus scheme
is designed to reward exceptional performance with criteria
aligned to the annual budget approved by the Board.
Long-Term Incentive Plans are seen as an important part

of Executive Directors’ total remuneration and are designed
to drive and reward exceptional performance aligned with
shareholder interests over the long term.

The policy alsc provides for post-retirement benefits through
contributions to Executive Directors’ personal pension
schemes, together with other benefits such as a company
car (or car allowance), and life and medical insurance.

A description of how the Company has addressed the
matters specified in Rule 410f the FRC Code is set out
on page 89.

Ongoing developmant of remuneration policy in
alignment with gshareholder interests

The Remuneration Committee has introduced the following
changes in Executive Director reward and benefits over the
past two years following consultation with major shareholders:

> the introductior of malus and clawback provisions for
annual bornuses and LTIPs;

> the zbility for the Remuneration Committes to override
formulaic outcomes;
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Ongoing development of remuneration policy in

alignment with shareholder interests continued

> the amendment of LTIP performance criteria such that
50.0% of the performance condition is based on achieving
total shareholder return with the reraining 50.0%
continuing 1o be based on delivering real increases in
earnings per share; and

> the introduction of formal shareholding guidelines of
100.0% of salary for the three Executive Directars.

In light of these changes, and the voluntary forgoing of
20.0% of salaries by all Directors in the final quarter of the
financial vear to 30 June 2020 at the peak of the COVID-19
pandemic impact, tha advisory vote to approve the
Directors” Remuneration Report at our 2021 AGM was
supported by 94.5% of votes cast.

The Rermuneration Committee is committed to ensuring that
the Group's remunaration policies remain appropriate given
its AIM-quoted status and has introduced the following two
additional changes in the past year:

> a new two-year hold period has been introduced for all
new LTIP awards for Executive Directors, commencing
with the awerds made in October 2021 In relation to the
three-year performance period ending 30 June 2024 (save
that the Executive Directors will be able to sell sufficient
shares to cover any tax liability arising); and

> new non-financial measures have been introduced in the
Executive Directors’ annual bonus scheme for the year 1o
30 June 2023 with 20.0% of bonus potential being based
on the delivery of five non-financial measures. These
measures are alignhed with sharehaolder interests and
comprise targets on improving Patient Care Index,
reducing attrition, improving employee net promoter
scores, improving client net promoter scores and raducing
gross tonnage clinical waste which is sent to landfill.

The Remuneration Committee will continue to review a
number of further matters on remuneration in particular;
bonus deferral, the leve! of the shareholding guidelines and
Director pension alignment with the workforce.

In relation 1o bonus deferral, the Remuneration Committee
continues to see Mmerit in & clear distinction between annual
honus and long-term incentives and does not propose this
should be introduced at this point. The maximum annual bonus
is capped at 100.0% of salary for each Executive Director.

The Executive Directors have each increased their individual
shareholdings in CVS Group plc over the past year and the
company intends to maintain its shereholding guideline at
100.0% of salary for the three Executive Directors.

Executive Director Service Agreements

During the prior year, the Remuneration Committee
oversaw the agreement of new Service Agreements with
each Executive Director ta reflect current best practice in
light of input from the Group’s legal advisors, DLA Fiper UK
LLP. The Remuneration Committee belleves that the terms
of these Service Agreements remain appropriate and in
line with best practice.
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Executlive Director salary review

Salaries are reviewed annually and are regularly
benchmarked against similer AIM-quoted and other listed
companies with changes effective annuafly in January, The
Remuneration Comrittee decided to Increase the salary of
the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), Chief Operating Officer
{COO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) by 2.0% with effect
from 1 January 2022 in line with the average Company-wide
increase, The CEQ salary increased to £416,000, the CQO
salary increased to £312.000 and the CFO salary increased
to £270,000.

Exacutive Director annual bonus scheme

The annual bonus scheme in which the Executive Directors
participate is based on the achievernent of adjusted EBITDA
prior to share option costs, in comparison to the annual
budget approved by the Board. For 202122, the maxitmum
bonus for the CEQ, COO and CFQ was 100.0% of salary.

In lighi of the financia! performance in the year, the
Remuneration Committee proposes that the CEC, COO and
CFQ achieve 98.4% of their bonus entitlement.

LTIP awards

In October 2021, the Company granted awards under its LTIP
scheme to the CEQ with a value of 125.0% of salary, and to
the COO and CFO with a value of 100.0% of salary. These
awards are subject to an adjusted EPS real growth perforrmance
ceondition measured over thies vears in addition to the total
shareholder return benchmarked against the FTSE 250
index (less investment trusts) measured over three years. For
the first time these swards are now subject to a two-year
hold petiod post-vesting. Detail on the performance
conditions is set out later in this report.

The Rermuneration Committee plans to make further awards
in Octcber 2022 on a consistent basis.

Recognising the contribution of alt CVS colleagues
CVS colleagues continue to work tirelessly to ensure CVS
provides the best possible care to animals. In recognition of
the dedication and praofessianalism of colleagues, duting the
year the Remuneration Committee made the foliowing
changes:

» salary review dates for all colleagues (save for Directoers)
were accelerated from 1 January 2022 w1 luly 2071;

» the Ramuneration Committee decided to increase the
holigiay entitement to colleagues with an additional day's
hioliday for every completed year of senvice, uptoa
maximum of five days; and

» the Remuneration Commitiee approved an additional
3.0% salary increase for ali colleagues {save for the Board
whose salary review will take place under the normal
cyole) in May 2022, recognising the pressures faced with
the increased cost of living. At the same time they
comrmitted to always paying all colleagues at feast 3.0%
2bove the National Minimum Wage/Nationa! Living Wage,
Iimproving salaries for our lower income colleagues.



In light of the competitive [andscape and the continued shortage of vetarinary professionals in the UK, the Remuneration
Committee will continue to consider reward and benefits across the Group to ensure that CVS remains well positioned to

attract and retain talent.

Ongoing review

The Remuneration Committee intends to keep remuneration policies under review and will continue to consider and

develop its approach to remuneration on an ongoing basis.

I he Remuneralion Committee has recoived advice in relation to the matters outlined above and overall executive

remuneration from h2glenfern Remunerztion Advisory.

| hope that you find the report helpful and informative, and | look forward to receiving further feedback from our investors

on the information presented.

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the ramunaration policy of the Company with regard ta its

Executive Directors,

Purpona and link to strategy Operation
Base salary

Base pay is designed to  Salaries are reviewed annually and
reflect Executive benchmarked against similar
Directors’ experience,  AlM-guoted and listed companies
cepabilities and role with any changes effective from
within the business. 1 January. The review takes

i nt:
To be set at a level Into accou

which is sufficiently
compaetitive to recruit
and retain individuals of
the appropriate calibre
to deliver the Group's
strategy.

» Company performance and
increase in scale and complexity;

» the role, experiance and
performance of the individual
Diractor: and

» agverage workforce satary
adjustments within the Company.

Benefits

To complement
base satary by
providing market
competitive benefits
to attract and retain
Executive Directors.

Reviewed from time to time ta
ensure that benefits, when taken
together with other elements

of remuneration, remain

market competitive.

Benefits for the Executive Directors
currently include the provision of

a company car and medical and
life insurance.

Potential remuneration Performance metrica

The CEQO's base salary was
reviewed cn 1 January 2022
{the prior review being in
January 2021y and was
increased by 2.0% to £416,160.

The COO's base salary was
reviewed on 1 January 2022
{the prior review being on

1 January 2021) and was
increased by 2.0% to £312,120.

The CFO's base salary was
reviewed on 1 January 2022
{the prior review being on

1 January 2021) and was
increased by 2.0%

to £270,300,

Not applicable.

The cost of providing these
benefits varies year on year
depending on the schemes’
premiums. The Remuneration
Committee monitors the
overall cost of the

benefits package.

Not applicable.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remunerction policy continued

Purpaose and link to strategy
Pension

To provide retirement
benefits which, when
taken together with
other elements of

the rernuneration
package, will enable
the Company to
attract and retain
appropriately qualified
Executive Directors.

Annual bonus

To drive and reward
exceptional
performance.
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Oparation

The CEQ participates in a defined
contribution pension arrangement

and receives payments partly in
lieu of pension.

The COO receives payments In lisu
of pension which are partly used

for an enhanced company car
contribution.

The CFO receives payments in lieu

of pension.

Pension arrangements, including

contributian rates, for any new

Executive Directors will be aligned

with those of the majority of the
UK workforce.

The Executive Directors are eligible

to participate in a discretionary,

annual, performance related bonus

scheme. Targets are set at the
beginning of each year based
on the recommendations of

the Remuneration Comimittee.

Bonuses are paid in cash basad

on audited financial results. Annual

bonus payments are subject to
malus and clawback provisions.

Patential remunaration

The CEQ i entitled to

a Company pension
contribution of 12.0%. This is
partly taken as a payment in
lieu of a pensiot.

The COQ Is entitled to

a Company pension
contribution of 10.0%. Thisis
partly taken as a payment in
lieu of pension and partly as
enhanced company car
contribution.

The CFO is entitled to

a Commpany pension
cantribution of 8.0%. This

is taken as a payment in lieu
of pension.

Only base salary
is pensionable.

During the year under review,

the maximum capped bonus
potential for the GEO, COO
and CFQ is 100.0% of base
salary.

Parformanca metrics

Not applicaole.

For the year ended

30 June 2022 the targets are
based on adjusted EBITDA.
The 1arget is adjusted to take
account of acquisitions made
in the course of the year. The
level of payment commences
from zero at the threshold
target increasing on a
straight-lina basis to full
payment at the maximum
target. For the yeer ending

30 June 2023, 80.0% of
bonus will be payable on
adjusted EBITDA as
described above, and 20.0%
on non-financial ESG related
targets. More information can
be found on page 93.



Purposa and link to strategy Operation Potential remuneration Performances matrics
Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP)

To drive and reward The Executive Directors are The Remuneration Committee  From 2019, awards are
exceptional entitled to be considered for the would in normal circumstances subject 50.0% to an adjusted
performance over the  grant of awards under the Group's  expec: to make annual LT(P EPS CAGR real growth target,
medium term and to LTIP scheme. The awards take the  awardstothe CEQ of 125.0%  whete adjusted EPS reflects
align the interests of form of nominal cost options over  of salary and the COO and adjustments for amortisation
Executive Directors and  a specified number of Ordinary CFQ of 100.0% of salary. of intangibles, costs of
shareholders. shares. Awards are not transferable business combinations and

The maximum annual award
permissible under the 2017
plan rules in exceptional
¢circumstances is 200.0%

or assignable. Awards are released
to participants after a performance
period of three years, subject to
certain performance and service

associated income tax and
exceptional items, and 50.0%
to a relative Total Shareholder
Return performance

conditions being met. 25.0% of salary. condition against the FTSE
of awards vest at threshold 250 companies excluding
performance for each target, investment trusts.
being adjusted EPS growth and In addition, and irres .

, pective
Total Shareholder Return. of the targets, no award will
The LTIP rewards the future vest unless, in the apinion of
performance of the Executive the Remuneration
Directors and certain other Committee, the underlying
employees by linking the size performance of the Group
of the award to the achievement of has been satisfactory over
Group performance targets. the measurement period.
Participation is at the discretion An amendment to the 2017
of the Remuneration Committee. plan was made in 2019 to
Awards will typically be made ensure that the Committee
annually based on a percentage of has discretion to vary award
annual salary. The Remuneration vesting in the event of
Committee sets performance excepticnal negative events
conditions at the time of the and to override formulaic
award. The 2017 plan rules, outcomes.

amongst other things, include
clawback provisions and a
limitation to ensure that new
shares issued, when aggregated
with all other employee share
awards, must not exceed 10.0%
of issued share capital over any
ten-year period.

Commencing in 2021, a
two-year holding period
applies to Diractors for shares
awarded under LTIP
schemes, other than the
requirement ta sel to settle
associated tax liabilities.

for schermes granted from 2027,
there will be a two-year holding
period for LTIPs for Executive
Directors, other than for settling
related tax liabilities.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Purpose and link to strategy Opearation Potential remuneration Performance metrics
Shareholding guideline

To incentivise Target value to be achieved over Not applicable. Not applicable.
Executives to five years:

achieve the Company's ey _100,0% of salary.

fong-term strategy

and create sustaingble COO -100.0% of salary.

sharehelder value,

To align with CFQ -100.0% of salary.

shareholder interests.  Current shareholder interests
are shown on page 92.

In relation to both annual bonus and LTIP awards, the Remuneration Committea may. in line with the UK Corporate Governance
Code, exercise its discretion to override formulaic outcomes, inciuding to reflect overall corporate performance and the
experience of shareholders of the Company and if the business has suffered an exceptional negative event. Malus and
clawback provisions are effective for three years from the date bonus is paid. Issues which may trigger malus and clawback
include discovery of misstatement of the financial results or error in assessing the achievemarnt of the performance
conditions, Other circumstances include the individual being found guilty of misconduct.

Save As You Earn (SAYE)

The Group operates a savings scheme for all UK calleagues, including the Executive Directors, being the CVS SAYE plan.
A SAYE scherme is operated for each calendar year. Under the SAYE14 and SAYE'3 schemes, the awards were made at a
20.0% discount to the closing mid-market price of the day preceding the date of invitation. Under the SAYE12 and SATEN
schemes, the awards were made at a 10.0% discount. There are no performance conditions attached to any of the

SAYE schernes.

Policy an Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration

The Chair and the other Non-Executive Directors” remuneration comprisas oniy directorship fees. They are reviewed annually.
The Chair's and the Non-Executive Directors’ fees are approved by the Boeard on the recommendation of the CEQ. The
Non-Executive Directors are not Involved in any decisions about their own remuneration. The Chair and the other
independent Non-Exacutive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses.

Details of the fees pavable for 2021/22 are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

The current annual fees are as follows:

Direetor

R Connell £117650
O Kemp £47858
R Gray £45,257
D Wilton £47858

Executive Directors’ service agreements

Richard Fairman's service agreement commenced on T Auguist 2018 and his most recent service agresment is dated 10
September 2020. The CEQ's agreement can be terminated by either the CEO or the Company on twelve months’ nofice.
Ben Jacklin's service agreement commenced on 7 September 2015 and his most recent service agreement is dated 18
Septermnber 2020. The COQ's agreernent can be terminated by either the COO or the Company on twelve months’

naotice. Robin Alfonso’s service agreement commenced on 8 July 2018 and his most recent service agreement is dated

22 September 2020. The CFO's agreement can be terminated by either the CFO of the Company on twelve months’ notice.
As well as an annual salary, the service agreements also detail the provision of other benefits including performance related
bonuses, medical and life insurance, a car aftowance and contributions to personal pension plans.

B8 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financlal Statements 2022



Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment

Richard Connell was appointed on 4 October 2007, His most recent service agreamant is for a one-year term snding on

21 September 2023. His appointment may be terminated by the Company or himself giving three months' notice. Debaorah
Kemp was appointed on 2 January 2018. Her most recent service agresement is dated 2 January 2021 for a three-year term
ending on 2 January 2024, Her appointment can be terminated by the Company or harself by giving three months’ notice.
Richard Gray was appointed on 16 July 2020 for a three-year term ending 16 July 2023. His appeointment can be terminated
by the Company or himself by giving three months’ notice. David Wilton was appointed on 24 September 2021 for a three-year
term ending 24 Septemben 2024. His appointment can be terminated by the Company or himself by giving three months’
notice.

Further items specified under Rule 41 of the FRC Code

The Remuneration Committee helieves remuneration is appropriate in light of the skills and experience of the Executive
birectors, and the need for differentials between different levels of seniority, and in the context of the amounts and structure
of remuneration at comparable UK companies.

Mindful of provision 40 of the Code, the Remuneration Committee will continue to consider factars including clarity,
simplicity, risk, predictabiiity, proportionality and alignment to culture. The Remuneration Committee believes that the
Company's remuneration practices are clear and simple, as lzid outin this Remuneration Report. The Committee has always
been conscious of reputational and other risks in managing remuneration and in taking decisions on remuneration matters.
Malus and clawback provisions, and the Remuneration Committee’s ability to exercise discretion within the policy to override
formulaic outcomes, support the mitigation of risks. The Committee believes that the range of possibie values of rewards is
clearly identified and explained in this report, that the rewards and potential rewards are proportionate and do not reward
poor performance and that remuneration arrangements are aligned with Company culture.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the policy operated as intended in terms of Company perfarmance and
quantum during 2021/22. The Committee continues to engage with the workforce in respect of remuneration and other
matters. The Committee did not apply discretions in respect of the operation of annual bonus or LTIP during 2021/22.

Annual Report on Remuneration

Introduction
This Annual Report on Remuneration sets out information about the remuneration of the Directors of the Gompany for
the year ended 30 lune 2022.

Mambership and role of the Remuneration Committee

The Rermuneration Committee is appointed by the Board, and comprises Deborah Kemp as Chair. Richard Gray and David
Wilton. Mike McCollum was a mermber of the Committee until he left the Board on 23 September 2021. The role of the
Remuneration Committee is to determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors.
This includes base salary, annual and long-term incentive awards and pension arrangements.

Advisors

During the year, the Company engaged h2glanfern Remuneration Advisory to provide advice on Executive remuneration.
h2glenfarn Remuneration Advisory is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group in relation to executive
remuneration consulting in the United Kingdom. h2glenfarn does not provide other services to the Group and has no other
connection with the Company or individual Directors. The Board is satisfied that h2glenfern is independent and has no
connection to any individual Director.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Remuneration of the Executive Directors — audited

Directors’ emoluments
Value of
share LTIF
Basic salary Parformance awards vested
allowsncs flensfits related during the
and fees inkind Pension bonus year® Tetal
E'O00 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
R Fairman 202 412 12 49 409 Fiell 1673
202 404 12 48 408 750 1,622
B Jacklin 2022 303 4 24 307 475 1m3
2021 303 10 28 306 150 797
R Alfonso 2022 268 10 21 266 261 826
2021 215 9 17 265 — 506
Non-Executive Chair
R Conneil 2022 16 — — — — 18
2021 14 — - - — 14
Non-Executive Directors
M McCollum’ 2022 16 - — - — 16
2021 48 -— - - — 46
D Kemp 2022 47 — —_ — - 47
2021 46 — - - — 486
R Gray 2022 45 - — - - 45
202 42 — — - — 42
D Wilten? 2022 37 - — - — 37
2021 - - — — -— —_

1. M MeCollum rasigned on 23 Septamber 2021
2. D Wilton was appaintad on 24 Saptambar 2021,

3. Inrespest of 2022, LTIP awards expected o vest by teference 1o 3 performance period ending 30 lune 2022 value i3 based on: the estimated vesting
outturn {100%) and the estimated value of a share at vesting calculated by referance to the three month average share price up to 30 June 2022 (being
£17.08) less the per share exercise price (0.2 pence). In the 2021 Directors’' Remunearation Report, the value ot awards vesting in respect of tha performance
period ending 30 June 2021 was celculated by reference to the share price at date of grant. The values have been updated te reflact the share price an the
dats of vesting (13 October 2027), beng £24.22. The velue of these awards is not included in the table in note & to the financial statements.

Benefits in kind include the provision of a company car and medica! and life insurance for each Fxecutive Director.
No Directars waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 30 June 2022,

The remuneration of the Executive Directors of CVS Group nlc is borne by the subsidiary company, CVS (UK) Uimited,
without recharge to CVS Group ple.

LTIP vasting
LTIP awards for the three year performance period ended 30 June 2022 are due to vest in December 2022 {"LTIP 13"
The vesting of these awards is subject to meeting adjusted EPS and total shareholder return targets as set out below:

Adjusted EPS

Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EPS for the year ended 30 June 2022 was 87.5p. This compares to adjusted EPS of 46.7p for the year
ended 30 lune 2019, a Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 17.8% above inflation. The target CAGR for threshold and
full vesting of LTIPs issued in December 2013 was 5.0% and 10.0% above inflation, respectively. This target has been
substantially exceeded and, therefore, 50.0% of the options granted have vested.
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Total shareholder return

Total shareholder return for the three years to 30 June 2022 was 124.0%, and in the upper quartile when benchmarked
against the FTSE-250 index {less investment trusts), measured over the same period. This target has been exceeded and,
therefore, 50.0% of the options granted have vested.

in light of the adjusted EPS and total shareholder return targets having been achieved, 100.0% of the options granted have
vested for LTIP13.

Discretionary bonus
Renge Actual

Bonus {adjusted EBITDA (adjusted EBITDA Payout

{% of salary) pre-share option cost)” pre-ghare option cost) £'000

R Fairman 2022* o84 £101.Im to £M10.6m £1M1.5m 409
2021 100 £57.2m to £627m £791m 408

B Jacklin 2022~ 884 £101.Im to EN06m £1M.5m 307
2021* 100 £5672m to £62.7m £791m 3086

R Alfonso 2022* 884 £101Im to £1106m £1M.5m 2685
2021 100 £57.2m to £627m £791m 265

* 2022 bonus targets were adjusted FBITDA, excluding Executive Committee borus accerual, share option costs and associated employes national insurance.
** 2021 bonus targets were pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EBITDA, and pre-share option costs.
The Remuneration Committee has considered the financial performance of the year and cansiders it appropriate that the

CEQ, COO and CFO are paid 98.4% of their bonus entitlement. The Group has not taken government support in the current
or previous financial year.

Share schemae Interests as of 30 June 2022
Details of plans at the reporting date that have not yet vested are set out below.

Award Grant date Vasting period

LTIP13 19 December 2019 3 years The performance targets for awards LTIP13, LTIP14 and LTIP15 are based
LTIP4 02 October 2020 3 years on achieving adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation and total

LTIP1S 06 October 2021 3 years shareholder return in comparison to the FTSE 250.

50.0% of the awards will vest if adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation,
pre-IFRS 16 (LTIP14 and LTIP15 post-IFRS 16}, is achieved as follows:

> less than 5.0% CAGR - no award subject to this condition;

» 5.0% to 10.0% CAGR - awarded on a straight-line basis between 25.0%
and 100.0% of total award subject to this condition; or

» more than 10.0% CAGR - full award subject to this condition.

50.0% of the awards will vest if total shareholder returns in comparison to
the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts) are achieved as follows:

> below median comparable performance ~ no award subject to
this condition;

» median comparable performance - 25.0% of awards subject to
this condition;

» median to upper quartile comparable performance - 25 0% to 1C0.0%
of awards subject to this condition measured on a siraight-line basis; or

» upper guartile comparable performance - 100.0% of awards subject
to this condition.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Share scheme interests as of 30 June 2022 continued
Options over Ordinary shares awarded to Executiva Directors under the LTIP and SAYE schemes in place on 22 September 2022

are as follows:

Market price of shares Earilest exercive date and Numbsr of
Schemne Date of grant on date of grant date of vesting of ghares Exsrcise price shares
R Fairman
LT1P13 19 December 2019 1080p 30 fune 2022 Q2p 48,796
LTIF14 02 Qctober 2020 1219p 30 June 2023 02p 41,030
LTIMS 06 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 0.2p 21188
SAYELR 02 December 2020 14150 a1 January 2024 1009p 806
SAYE14 25 November 2021 2,230p 01 January 2025 1974p 30
B Jacklin
LTIP13 19 December 2019 1,080p 30 June 2022 02p 27778
LTiP14 02 Cctober 2020 1,219p 30 lure 2023 02p 24618
LTIP5 06 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 02p 12,712
SAYE12 04 December 2019 1,054p Q1 January 2023 863p 769
SAYE13 Q2 December 2020 1415p Q1 lanuary 2024 1.0089p 870
SAYE14 25 November 2021 2,230p 01 January 2025 1.574p 310
R Alfonso
LTIM3 18 December 2018 1,080p 30 June 2022 0.2p 15278
LTImMa 02 October 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 02p 13,540
LTIP14{b) 04 January 2021 1485p 30 june 2023 02p 6,733
LTIPS 06 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 C.2p n.009
SAYE(Z 04 December 2019 1054p 01 January 2023 863p 709
SAYE13 02 December 2020 1415p 01 January 2024 1,009p 606
SAYE14 25 November 2021 2.230p Q1 January 2025 1974p 291
During the year, shares were exercised as follows;

Market price of shares Enriiest exarcisa date and Numker of
Scheme Date of grant on date of grant date of vasting of shares  Exercise price shares
R Falrman
LTiP2 12 Qctober 2018 807p 30 lune 2021 0.2p 30869
SAYEN 30 November 2018 N3p 01 January 2022 830p 737
B Jacklin
LTIP12 12 Cctober 2018 807p 30 June 207 Q2p 6194
SAYEN 30 November 2018 AN3p 01 January 2022 830p 737

No options have lapsed during the year.

Diraectars’ interests In shares
The interests of the Directors when combined with their spouses’ holdings as of 30 June 2022 in the shares of the Company were:

Ordlnary

shares

of 0.2p sach

Number

R Connell 164,500
[ Kemp 6,559
R Gray 5,000
D Wilton 5500
R Fairman 29462
B Jacklin 5446
R Alfonso 2000
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Apart from the interests in shares and share options disclosed above, the Directors had no other interest in shares of Group
companies. There have been nc changes to the Directors’ interests in shares between the year end and the date of this
Annual Report.

On 30 June 2022, the market price of the Ordinary shares was 1,656p.
Statement of voting

At the 2021 AGM, a motion was proposed to the shareholders 10 approve on an advisory onty basis the Directors’ Remuneration
Repart contained in the 2021 Annual Report. 94.5% ol votes cast were in favour of the maotion and 5.5% of votes cast were against.

Remuneration In 2022/23
Salaries and tess
Salaries and fees effective from 1 January 2022 are detailed earlier in this report.

Bonus targets for the financial year to 30 June 2023

The Remuneration Committee has approved a bonus scheme for Executive Directors for the financial year to 30 June 2023,
with 80.0% of bonus potential being based on EBITDA performance versus budget, with 20.0% being based on ESG related
non-financial measures for the first time.

The targets of the financial element of the bonus are deemed commercially sensitive, and therefare the committee has decided
that the targets will not be disclosed for the current financial year. The Committee intends to retrospectively publish the annual
bonus targets in the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year to June 2023.

The ESG related non-financial element is based on targets being achieved in key non-financial metrics as follows.
1. Patient Care [ndex - an increase of cne percentage point.

2. Attrition - 10.0% reducticn.

3. eNPS - 50.0% improvement in employee net promaoter scote.

4

. Clinical waste - 5.0% reduction in gress tonnage clinical waste which is incinerated or which is sent to landfill (measured
across axisting CVS sites and excluding acquisitions in year).

5. Client NPS - 5.0% improvement in client net promoter scare.

LTIP targets for the three-year performance period to 30 June 2025
The Remuneration Committee is proposing new LTIP targets for Executive Directors for the three-year LTIP scheme ("L TIP 16"}
for the perfermance period to 30 June 2025 on the following basis:

50.0% of the awards will vest if adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation is achieved as follows:

« less than 1.0% CAGR - no award subject to this condition;

- 1.0% 10 6.0% CAGR - awarded on a straightline basis between 25.0% and 100.0% of total award subject to this condition; or
= more than 6.0% CAGR - full award subject to this condition.

50.0% of the awards will vest if total shareholder returns in comparison to the FTSE 250 index {excluding investment trusts)
are achieved as follows:

+ below median comparable performance - no award subject to this condition;
»  median comparable performance - 25.0% of awards subject to this condition;

+ median to upper quartile comparable performance — 25.0% to 100.0% of awards subiect to this condition measured
on a straight-line basis; or

- upper quartile comparable performance - 100.0% of awards subject to this condition.

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chalr
22 September 2022
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Annual Report and Financial
Sraternents together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2022,

Principal activities and results

The principal activities of the Group are to operate animal
veterinary practices, complementary veterinary diagnostic
pusinesses, pet crematoria and an onfine retail business.
The principal activity of CVS Group plcisthatof a

holding company.

The Group made a profit after taxation of €25.7m (2021: £19.3m).

Particulars of events which have occurred since the end
of the financial year have been disclosed in note 32 to the
financial staternents.

Business review

The information that fulfils the requirements of the business
review, including details of the 2022 results, key performance
indicators, principal risks and uncertainties and the outlook
for future years, is set out in the Chair's statement (pages € 1o 8),
the Chief Executive Officer's review (pages 10 ta 12), the
Cperational review (pages 45 to 53] and the Financial review
(pages 54 to 58) including key performance indicators {pages
28 to 31 and principal risks and uncertaintias {pages 60 to 68).

Dividends

In respect of the year under review, the Directors recornmend
a dividend payment of 70p, amounting to £5.0m (2021: £4.8m).
The aggregate dividends recognised as distributions in the
vear ended 30 June 2022 amounted to £4.6m {2021: £nil).
No interim dividends (2021: £nil) have been paid during the
year.

Dividend policy

The Group has established an ordinary dividend policy that
is both progressive and sustainable, based on growing the
ordinary dividend per share over time. The rate of growth

of the ordinary dividend will be decided by the Board in Light
of the circumstances at the time. The Board elso gives due
consideration ta the return of capital through the uss of
special dividends or share buybacks,

The ability of the Group to pay a dividend is also subject to
constraints including the availability of distributable reserves
and the Group’s financial and operating performance.
Distributable reserves are determined as required by the
Gompanies Act 2006 by reference to a company's individual
financial statements.

o4 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022

Directors
The foilowing Directors held office during the year and up to the
date of signing the financial statements unless otherwise stated:

R Connell

v McCollum {resigned 23 September 2021)
0 Kemp

R Gray

D Wilton {sppointed 24 September 2021}

R Fairman

8 Jacklin

R Aifonso

Biographical details of the Directors are provided on
pages 70 and 71.

Ro-election of Directors

The Articles of Assaciation of the Company raquire all
Directors to be re-slected at intervals of not more than three
years. The Board has decided that it s appropriate for all
Directors to be re-appointed each year, so in accordance
with that decision all Directors will stand for re-election at
the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ romuneration and interests

The Remuneration Committee report is set out on

pages 83 to 93. It includes details of Directors’ remuneration,
interests in the shares of the Company. share options and
pension arrangements.

Environment

The Group recognises the significance of environmental
responsibility and undertakes ciinical compliance reviews
to ensure environmental standards are conformed with
in addition to providing training to its employees o
ensure compliance.

Although the Group's activities do not have a major impact
on the enwvironment, every effortis made to reduce any
effect. Details of the Group's approach to sustalnability
and ESG are set out on pages 32 to 44.

Health and safety

The Group s fully aware of its obligations to maintain high
heslth and safety stendards at all times, and the safety of our
colleagues and customers is of paramaunt impartance. The
Group's operations are managed at all times in such a way
as to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicabie, the health,
safety and welfare of all of our colleagues and all other
pecple who may be attending our premises.

Corporatae governance
The Board's Corporate Governance Statement is set out on
pages 72t 78.



Going concern

The Governance Code requires the Board to assess and
report on the prospects of the Group and whether the
business is a going concern. In considering this requirernent,
the Directors have taken into account the Group's forecast
cash flows, liquidity, borrowing facilities (which mature in
January 2024) and related covenant requirements and the
expected operational activities of the Group.

As part of the going concern assessment, the Group
modelled a base case scenario and undertook sensitivity
analysis to stress-test the performance at which the Group
would breach its covenants, This sensitivity analysis
assessed the impact of a sustained reduction in revenues on
cash and covenants, with reductions between 5% and 30%
modelled. While the sensitivity analysis was modelled up to
a sustained 30% decrease in revenue, it is considered that a
reduction of 15% would be a realistic worst case scenario,
given this was the short-term decrease in revenues
experienced across the Group at the height of the COVID19
pandemic. In the 15% decrease scenario, the Group would
breach its cavenants in September 2023, hawever this
analysis excludes any reduction in costs and in practice, the
Group is confident that sufficient mitigating actions could
be taken to remecly this, Additional details on the above scenario
analysis can be found in the Viability statement below.

Having due regard to these matters and after making
appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expactation that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to remain in operation until at least
twelve months after the approval of these Financial
Statements. The Board has therefore continued to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consclidated Financial
Statements.

Viability statement

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Carporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the
prospects of the Group over a longer period than 12 months
required by the "Going concern” provision. A period of five
years is believed to be appropriate for this assessment since
this is consistent with the Group's long term strategic
planning, and other assessment periods included within the
Annual Report, for example impairment reviews. The Group
also finances debt on a four-plus-one-year period, which is
consistent with a five-year assessment period.

The Directors confirm that they have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will continue in operation to
mest its liabilities as they fall due, up to 3C June 2027,

The Directors’ assessment has been made by reference

to the Group's financial position as at 30 Jung 2022, its
prospects, the Group's strategy, the Board's risk appstite and
the Group's principal risks, all of which are described in the
Strategic Report. The assessment also considers scenario
anzlysis over the key principal risks to the business, how the
Group Is resiliant to those risks and how the Group can
mitigata the effects of those risks.

The Directors’ assessment of the Group’s viability is underpinned
by & paper prepared by management. The paper is supparted
by comprehensive and detailed analysis and modelling,
containing financial projections for a detailed one-year plan
and extended five-year pericd. The longer-term plenis
reviewed each year by the Board as part of the strategy
review process. Once approved by the Board, the plan is
cascaded across the Group and provides the basis for setting
all detailed financial budgets and strategic actions that are
subsequently used by the Board to monitor performance.

The five-year plan provides a robust planning tool against
which strategic decisions can be made. In making their viability
assessment, the Board has taken into consideration that
financing facilities are maintained for the duration of

the forecast.

For the purposes of assessing the Group’'s viability, the
Directors identified that, of the principal risks detailed on
pages 60 to 68, the most important to the assessment of
the viability of the group are Economic environment, Future
pandemic or lockdown, and Bank facilities.

As part of the going concern assessment, the Group
modelled 2 base case scenario and undertock sensitivity
analysis to stress test the perfoermance at which the Group
would breach its covenants. The Group has two financial
covenants associated with the Group’s bank facllities, which
are based on the ratios of net debt to bank test EBITDA and
bank test EBITDA to interast. The net debt to bank test
EBITDA ratio must not exceed 3.25x. The bank test EBITDA to
interest ratio must not be less than 4.50x. Further details on
the covenants, solvency and liquidity are included below.

Scenario analysis was cormpleted to assess the required
reduction in revenue that would lead to a breach of
covenants before any mitigating actions. At a sustained
15.0% decrease in revenue, covenants would be breached
by September 2023 due to the negative impact on EBITDA.
This sustained decrease in revenue has been modelled
around the impact of the first COVID-19 lockdown as the
Directors consider this to be an accurate representation of
a potential worst-case scenario.

The Directors consider the Group to be resilient to future
pandemics or lockdowns, inchuding through the following:

» geographically-spread locations across the UK, the
Netherlands and the Republic of Ireland protect the Group
from any localised lockdowns;

> better knowledge and understanding of the impacts of
lockdowns on the business, reducing the level of
uncertainty; and

» improved infrastructure to cope with remote warking,
such as telemedicine capabilities.
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Directors’ report continued

Viabllity statement continued

The scenario analysis assurmaes that no mitigating action is
taken. However, the Group would be able to mitigate the
impact of future pandemics or lockdowns on covenant
compliance through reductions in non-essential spending,
including locum vets and discretionary bonuses, and the
deferment of non-essential capital expenditure.

Therefore, the Diractors consider that under this worst-case
scenaric, the Group woulkd be able to cormply with Its
covenants and secure further funding if required.

The Directors have considered other sources of risks and
uncertainties that may impact on the Group’s sbility to trade,
and the controls in place to mitigate them, on pages 60 to 68.

The cutputs of the above scenario tests have been reviewed
against the Group’s current and projected future cash and
liquidity position. At the year end, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of £49.0m, a drawn term loan of £85.0m.
an unutilised revolving credit facility of £85.0m, and an
unutilised overdraft facility of £5.0m.

During the viability period, on 31 January 2024, the term loan
of £85,0m wilt expire. The Directors have considered the
available cash and undrawn overdraft facility and cash flow
forecasts (including those prepared on the basis of a lower
investment capital expenditure profile) and consider that the
Group will be able to meet its ligbilities in full as they fail due,
including the repayment of the term loan if not refinanced.
The Group monitors cash flow on a daily basis, and
maintains sufficient cash reserves to ensure both solvency
and liguidity within the Group.

In making this assessment, the Board has assumed that there
is no material adverse change in the legis/ative environment
in the practice of veterinary medicine. The Group expects
that legislative changes, such as the proposal by the RCVS to
enabie highly skilled nurses to undertake a brosder range of
proceduras without veterinary surgeon supertvision, will
benefit the Group moving forwards. It is recognised however,
that such future assessments aro subject to a level of
uncertainty that increases with time and therefore future
outcomes cannot be guaranteed or predicted with certainty.
in the scenario analysis, the Board has also assumed that e
worst case scenario would not exceed the impact of the
initial COVID-19 lockdown. On this basls and in conjunction
with other matters considered and reviewed by the Board
during the year, the Board has reasonable expectations that
the Group will be able 1o continue in operation and meet its
tiabilities as they fall due over the five financial years used for
its assassment.

©6 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022

Finaneidl instruments
Details of the Group's financial risk management objectives
and policies are included in nate 3 to the financial statements.

Share capltal and substantiol shareholdings

31 August %
Shareholdar 2022 Ic
BlackRock Inc 5,905,327 8.30
Qctopus Investments Limited 4759771 6.69
Grandeur Peak Global Advisors 4,371,773 6.00
Ameriprise Financial 3672818 516
sbrdn plc 3,378,649 475
Global Alpha Capital Managerent 2,892,337 406
Canaccord Genuity
Wealth Managemernit 2616423 368
Invesco 2,210,381 an
29,707,379 4175

Details of the share capital of the Company as at 30 June
2022 are set out in nota 26 to the financial statements. Each
share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of
the Company.

At 31 August 2022, the Company has been notified (using
TR1 standard form) of the substantial shareholdings detailed
in the table above comprising 3.0% or more of the issued
Ordinary share capitai of the Comparny.

The Board is satisfied that no major shareholder presents
a conflict of interest or exerts undue influence over the
Board's independsnt judgement.

Employees

Consultation with employees takes place through a numbaer
of regional meetings throughout the year and an annua
staff survey. The aim is to ensure that employees’ views are
tsken Into account when decisions are meade which are likely
to affect their interasts and that all employees are aware of
the general progress of their business units and of the
Group as a whole. To enhance communication within the
Group, a committes is in place which is constituted of
regional members from all areas of the business with the
aim of improving consuitation and cormmunication levels.

Deborah Kemyp is the Board’s dedicated Non-Executive
Director for employee engagement and during the year
Deborah has consulted with employees through online
meetings with the Company’'s Senlor Leadership Team,
vistts 1o our businesses and regular reviews of the Group’s
manthly employee Net Promoter Scare. The business has
further reviewed its monthly employee survey and additional
questions have been added to this to obtain more detailed
faedback from employeas in addition to calculating the
empicyea Net Promaoter Score.

The Group regularly consults with, and seeks feedback from,
employees, and the Board monitors employee engagement.



Applications for employment by disabled pecple are always
fully considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes
and abilities of the applicant concerned. In the event of
members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made
to ensure that their employment with the Group continues
and that appropriate training is arranged.

ltis the policy of the Group that the training, career
development and promotion of a disabled person should
be, as far as possible, identical to that of 2 person who does
not have a disability.

The Group operates a Long-Term Incentive Plan for
Executive Directors and senior managers. Details are
included in note 11. The Group also has a Save As You Earn
scheme, now in its 14th year, under which emplovees are
granted an option to purchase Ordinary shares in the
Company in three years’ time, dependent upan their
entering into a contract to make maonthly contributions to

a savings account over the relevant period. These savings
are used to fund the option exercise value, The exercise
price in respect of options issued in the year was ata 20.0%
discount to the shares’ market value at the date of invitation.
The scheme is open to all UK Group employees, including
the Executive Directors. Details of the scheme are included
in the Remuneration Committee repart on pages 83 to 93,

Directors’ third-party indemnity provision

A gqualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined in
Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006 was in force during
the year and also st the consolidated and Company statement
of financial position date for the benefit of each of the Directors
in respect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office with
the Company and any associated company to the extent
permitted by law. In respect of those liabilities for which
Directors may not be indernified, the Company maintained
a Directors’ and Officers’ ("D&O"} liability insurance policy
throughout the financial year.

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and Financiai Statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financisl year. Under that law the
Directors are required to prepare the Group and Company
financiz| statements in accordance with international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2008. Under company law the
Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

> make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

» state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the
European Union have been fcllowed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriste to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the

Annual Report provides information necessary to enable
shareholders to assess the Company’s position, performance,
business model and strategy.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial
statemnents comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and the Group and hence for taking reasongble steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financgial information included
on the Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

> the financial statements, prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
reguitements of the Companies Act 2008, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings
included in the consclidation taken as a whole;

> the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and perfarmance of the business and the
position of the Company and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whole, togather with
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face; and

> the Annuzl Report and Financial Statements, taken
as awhole, are fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Company's position and performance.,
business model and strategy.
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Directors’ report continued

Disclasure of Information to auditor
Each of the persons who is a Diractor at the date of approval
of this Annual Report and Financial Statemenits confirms that:

» s0 far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
inforrmetion of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

» the Director has taken ail the steps that hefshe ought to
have taken as a Director in order 10 make himself/herself
aware of any relevant sudit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be Interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the
Compaznies Act 2006.

Resoluticns concerning the re-appointment of Delolite LLP
as auditor and authorising the Audit Committee to set its

remuneration will be proposed at the AGM.
N W

Caompany Secretary
22 Septamber 2022
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

The Group is required under the Streamtined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR) regulations to report how it
rnanages its energy consumption and carbon emissions and
has used a third-party consultant to advise on this and
support with the preparation of this SECR report. Since
2020, we have published our direct greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions frorm sources that are controlled or owned by the
Group ("Scope 17), indirect GHG emissions from the Group's
consumption of purchased electricity (“Scope 27) and all
emissions the Group is indirectly responsible for across its
value chain ("Scope 3°).

Monitoring and reporting these emissions enables

us to evaluate and minimise our impact on the natural
environment, which supports us in our purpose to give the
best possible care to animals. We have taken strong actions
10 increase our energy efficiency and reduce any adverse
impact our business has on the planet,

Our energy efficlency actions

Increasing energy efficlancy In our facliities

One of our strategic goals is to provide great facilities and
equipment, and a key part of this is to ensure our facilities
and operations are as energy efficient as possible.

We are currently warking through an updated and detailed
asset survey of the Group’s property portfolio in terms of
infrastructure and equipment. An output of this process will
be a reclassification of @ number of our key investment
priorities. Using this information we intend to develop a
programme of investrnent to halp improve our consumption
and monitaring capabilities. This will focus on, but not be
Himited to:

> replacing our lighting infrastructure with LED/Energy
efficient products;

» targeted deployment of Smart meters particularly focused
on high consuming locations;

» theinstallation of further EV chargers at appropriate
locations across our estate; and

> installing energy saving equipment such as Passive
Infrared (PIR) detectors and other intelligent solutions.

A greener approach to transport

We have added a range of ultra-low emissions vehicles
{ULEV) to our company car list, as well as more hybrid and
Clectric Vehicles (EV). All fossil fual-reliant vehicles on the list
are capped to 130g CO, emissions. To support the future
increasein EV and hybrid vehicles, we have installed several
EV charging points at a range of our sites. We have also
installed charging peints at our Wetherby and Diss support
office sites,

Using renewable sources

Since August 2021, all our veterinary practice sites across
the UK, the Netherlands and the Republic of ireland use
electricity from 100% renewable sources.

Reducing the energy consumad by our equipment
All relocations and new builds are fitted with LED lights from
the outset, combined with PIR switches where appropriate,
to ensure lights are not left on for longer than required.

In our existing sites we continue to roll out an LED fight
replacement programme which sees all bulbs which

expire across our estate being replaced with LEDs.

Where possible, all devices are set to hibernate after a short
periad of idle time, for example display monitors, computers
and printers.

We have briefed our suppliers to supply only A-rated
appliances, such as refrigerators and washing equipment.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) continued

Our UK and aoffshore enorgy usage and carbon emissions

2022 2071
1008 tC0e Change (%) Commants
Scope 1 8538 4,862 75.6% The increase in these emissions arises

from a return to reqular business transport
following the COVID-18 pandemic, as
business has begun to return to normal,
particularly in our support offices in
Wetherby and Diss. Emissions from gas
have decreased 7.2%.

Scope 2 2,619 2,940 -108% The reduction in these emissions arises
partly from the full-year impact of the
switch to renewable sources for all our UK
veterinary practices in January 2021 There
is a partial offset due to support office
workers returning to the office.

Scope 3 593 2 2955% The Group did not record grey fleet
mileage for the financial year ended 30
June 2021, howevar, we have implemented
a process to record this and therefore
emissions from grey fleet have been
included in 2022.

Total emissions 1,750 7804 506%

Total energy volume (kwh) 55,227,876 38920681 41.8%

Intensity ratio (tCO,2 21.2 153 386% The intensity ratio has increased from the

per £m revenue) prior year, as a resuk: of the prior year
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which
only impacted part of the current year.

Methodology

The Group has taken guidance from the UK Government's Environmental Reporting Guidelines (March 2019), tha Greenhouse
Gas Protoco! reporting standard, and the UK Government's Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporting
document for calculating carbon emissions.

Energy usage information {(Qas and efectricity) has been obtained directly from the Group's energy suppliers and Half-Hourly
Automated Meter Reading (HH/AMR] data, where available, for those suppliers with HH/AMR meters. For suppliers where
energy usage dsta was not available for a full twelve maonths, flat profile estimation techniques were used to calculate the
annual consumption. With all landlord sites these hiave had to be estimated using similar-sized sites’ usage for gas and electricity.

Transport mileage data was obtained from expense claims submitted for our company cars and grey fleet.

Exclusions

Transport mileage and/or fuel usage data was provided for the Group's and colieagues’ owned vehicles. Gray fleet mileage
was included for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 but was not recorded in the prior year comparative as the Group did
not have methads in place for recording this mileage at that time.

CO.e emissions were calculated using the appropriate emission factors from the UK Government's UK Greenhouse Gas
Conversion Factors and this is retained within the Group’s data file for reference where required.

Normalisation
The Group has chosen to report gross Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions tonnes of CO, equivalent (tCO,e) per £m revenue as this is
a cormmon metric used in corporate GHG reporting.

Approval
Authorised by order of the Board

e

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
22 September 2022

100 | CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financlal Stotements 2022



Independent auditor’s report
To the members of CVS Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion:

» the financial statements of CVS Group plc (the “parent
company™) and its subsidiaries (the “Group™} give a true
and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent
company’s affairs as at 30 June 2022 and of the Group's
profit for the year then ended;

» the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards;

» the parent company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards and as
applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financizl statements which comprise:
» the consolidated income statement;
» the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

» the consolidated and parent company staternents
of financial position;

» the consolidated and parent company stataments
of changes in equity;

» the consolidated and parent company statements
of cash flow; and

> the relsted notes 1 to 33.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparaticn is applicable law and United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards and, as regards
the parent company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2.Basls for opinlon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
finrancial statennents section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the
Financial Reporting Council's (FRC) Ethical Standard as applied
1o listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirerments.

We believe that the audit evidence we hava obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

3.Summary of our audit approach

Key audit The key audit matter that we identified
matters inthe current year was:
> Ravenue Recognition - Healthy Pet Club
Thia is a similar level of risk to the prior year.
Materiality  The materiglity that we used for the Group
financial statements was £3.0m {2021: £2.5m)
which was determined by reference to a
range of income statement measures.
Scoping Qur audit comprised of two componants
subject to full-scope audits and a further 13
components subject to audit procedures
on specified account balances. The
remainder of the Group was subject
to review procedures only.
Significant  There have been no significant changes
changes to our audit approach in the current year.
inour
approach

4 Conclusions relating to going concemn

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that
the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate,

Qur evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group’s
and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

» Assessrment of the financing facilities available to Graup,
including repayment terms and likelihood of breaching
financial covenants;

» Fvaluation of the assumptions used in the forecasts such
as revenue growth, gross margin changes and cash flow
movements, and whether these are appropriata in line
with historical performance;

» Assessment of the level of headroom in the financing
facilities under the base case forecast;

> Assessment of the arithmetical accuracy of the forecast
model confirming consistent calculations are used
throughout, using internal software;

> Assessment of the historical accuracy of forecasts through
comparing actug! performance to forecast, to assess the
historic accuracy of forecasts prepared by management;

> Assessmant of the reverse stress test scenario performed
by management. and consideration of whether the
adverse variance in cash flows required to produce a
covenant breach represents a remote possibility; and

» Assessment of the appropriateness of the going concern
disclosures in the financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

k.Conclusions relating to going concern continued

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concemn for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statemments are authorised for issue.

in relation 1o the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material
to add or draw attention to In relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors
considered It appropriate to edopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect t¢ going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

5.Key audit motters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current year and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstaternent (whether
or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters inciuded those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a seperate opinion on these matters.

6.41. Heaithy Pet Club — Revenue Recognition

Key audit The Group earns revenue vig the Healthy Pet Club (HPC) scheme whereby customers sign up for 2

matter monthly or annual direct debit arrangament in exchange for a program of preventative products and

description  treatments. The Group recognised £67.3m {2021 £60.2m) of HPC revenue during the year and has
approximately 470,000 (2021: 450,000) active members as at the year-end.

The revenue recognition for this scheme is judgemental since IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contrects with
Customers” requires revenue 1o be recarded either at a point in time or over time according to when the
performance obligation is satisfied, which in the case of HPC revenue Is not aligned to the timing of cash
receipts due to the weighting of treatments towards the earlier months of the schermne. Revenue must also
be adjusted for anticinated animal deaths (whereby cutstanding fees will be waived) and irrecoverable
debts. Additional adjustments are also required where a customer does not receive their treatment during
the scheduled month, due to varfous factors.

The Group's accounting policy is to record revenue according 1o the cost profile associated with providing
the services offered in the scheme. as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements, and due to the
complexities outlined above there is 2 risk that revenue recognition is not in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

How the In response to the kay audit matter, we performed the following procedures:

ﬁi‘:’;ﬁg{t > Tested management’s controls around HPC revenue recognition;

responded » Assessed the appropriateness of accruing revenue according to the cost profile of treatments offered,
to the key including adjustments to delay revenue recognition where treatments are missed, in fine with the

audit matter  reguirements of IFRS 15;
» Tested the accuracy and completeness of the membership data that drives the HPC revenue calculation;

> Tesgted the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data of the assumed cost profiles for the
different types of pet that ¢an be added to the scheme;

» Performed a reconciliation of amounts due from customers to cash receipts in bank statements,
for a sample of months;

» Performed a recalculation of accrued revenue based on member data and assumed cost profiles;

> Performed a recalculation of revenue subsequently deferred due to missed trestments, based on
operational end sales data used to estimate the level of missed treatments occurring across the Group:; and

= Critically assessed assumptions around animal deaths and cancellations through comparison and
banchmarking against direct debit collection rates and operational data around animal life expectancy.

Key Based on the audit procedures performed, we concluded that revenue recognition in respect of the HPC
observations is appropriate.
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6.0ur application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality
both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on ouwr professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial staterments as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Materiality

£3.0m (2021: £2.5m)

£2.3m (2021; £2.3m)

Basls for determining
materiality

3.9% (2021: 3.8%) of adjusted pre-tax profit.

1.5% (2021 1.5%) of net assets.

Rationala for the
benchmark applied

We have considered both adjusted pre-tax
profit of £75.5m (2021: £66.2m} and revenue
of £654.2m (2021; £510.1m), where adjusted
pre-tax profit is calculated as profit before tax
adiusted for amorttisation, costs associated
with business combinations and exceptional
itemns. These are the metrics that are deemed
to be of most importance to stakeholders, as
disclosed within Note 1.

As a holding company, net assets wera
considered the most relevant benchmark
to users of the parent company

financial statements.

Adjusted PBT
£75.5m

Adjusted PBT
Group materiality

Group materiality

£3.0m

Component
materiality range
£0.8m to £1.9m

Audit Committee
reporting threshold

£0.15m

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected
and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financlal statements as a whole,

Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Performance
materlality

70% (2021: 70%) of Group materiality.

70% (2021: 70%) of parent company materiality,

Basis and rationale
for determining

we have assessed the guakty of the Group’s
overall contrel environment, as well as the low

The assessrment at a Group level is also
applicable for the parent company, also noting

performance volume of corrected and uncorrected that minimal entries are made in the parent

materiality misstatements in the previous audit. company reducing the risk of material
misstaternent,

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committea that we would report to the Committee all audit differencss in excess of £150k (2021:
£125k) as well as differences below that threshokd thar, in our view, warranted reporting on cualitative grounds. We alse repart
to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial

statements.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1, ldentiflcation and scoplng of componants

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement.

We have focused our work on the UK-based subsidiaries which account for the majority of the Group’'s revenue, expenses
and net assets. We have subjected two components to full-scope audits and a further thirteen components to audits of
specified account balances, which covers 84% of revenue, B5% of expenses and 91% of net essets. The remainder of the
Group, including all components located overseas in the Republic of Ireland and the Netherlands, wers subject to review
precedures anly. All audit work was carried out by the UK engagement team, with no reliance of components auditors.
Testing was performed 1o component materiality ranging from £0.7m to £1.8m {2021 £0.8m to £1.5m).

16% 15% 9%

Revenue Expenses Net assets

18%

22% 62% 66% 9%

Fultaudit scope  Specified audit procedures  Review at Group level

7.2, Our consideration of the control environmamt

We have not relied cn controls in the current year, During the course of the audit, we have performed testing around
selected revenue controls and relevant IT systerns, and communicated a number of observaticns and recommendations
to management, in anticipation of adopting a controls reliance approach for material revenue streams in future years.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report therecn. The Directors are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual Report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent ctherwise explicitly
stated in our repart, we da not express any form of agsurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsihility is to read the other infarmation and, in doing so, consider whether the other infarmation is materially
inconsistent with the financial statermnents or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, of otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

1f we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstaternents, we are required to determine whether
this gives rise 10 a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a materia! misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibllities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible far the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internai contrel as the Directors
determine is necassary to enable the preparation of financial staterments that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Diractors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to ¢cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but t¢ do so.
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10. Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 2 guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected 1o influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with faws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potenticl risks related

to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in
respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance
with laws end regulations, we considered the following:

» the nature of the industry and seclor, control environment
and business performance including the design of the
Group's remuneration policies, key drivers for Directors’
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

v

the Group’s own assessment of the risks that irregularities
may occur either as a result of fraud or error:

» results of our enquiries of management and the audit
committee about their ownidentification and assessment
of the risks of irregularities;

> any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed
the Group's documentation of their policies and
procedures relating to:

> identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and
regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance

> detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
or alleged fraud

» theinternal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud
or non-compliance with laws and regulations

» the matters discussed among the audit engagement team
and relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations
and 1T specialists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and any potential
Indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, wea considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential
for fraud in the following area: Reverue Recognition -
Healthy Pet Club. In cornmon with all audits under ISAs (UK),
we are also required to perform specific procedures to
respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, focusing
on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct
effect on the determination of material amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and
regulations we considered in this context included the
Companies Act, AlM listing rules, corporate governance
code, pensions legistation and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and
regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental
10 the Group's ability to operate or to avoid a material
penalty. These inciuded the Group’s compliance with the
RCVS regulations appiicable to all practices and qualified
nurses, GDPR, Veterinary Surgeons Act 1866, Animed
Welfare Act 2006, Veterinary Medicines Regulations 2013
and The Animal Act 1986.

11.2. Audit response to risks identifled

As a result of performing the above, we identified Revenue
Recognition - Healthy Pet Club as a key audit matter related
to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section
of cur report explains the matter in more detall and also
describes the specific procedures we performed in
response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures 1o respond to risks
identified included the following:

> reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing
to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as
having a direct effect on the financial statements;

» enquiring of management, the audit committee and
external legal counsel concerning actual and potentizl
[itigation and claims;

» performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual
or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud;

> reading minutes of meetings of those charged with
governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing
correspendence with the Health and Safety Excecutive
{HSE) and the Royal College of Vetsrinary Services (RCVS);

> reviewing the disclosures in the Audit Committea Report
on pages 79 and 80; and
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Independent auditor’s report continued

11. Extent to which the enrdit wos considered

capable of detecting rregularities, Including fraud

continued

11.2. Audit response to risks Identified continued

> in addresging the risk of fraud through menagement
override of controls, testing the appropriateness of joumal
entries snd other adjustments; assessing whether the
judgements made in meking accounting estimates ane
indioative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business
rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual
or gutside the normal course of business.

we also commurioated relevant identified lews and
regulations and potentlal fraud risks to all engagement team
members including Internal specialists, end remained slert
to eny indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
reguiations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatary
requirements

12. Opinlons on other matters prescribed by the
Companles Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaker in the course
of the audit:

> the information given in the strategic repart and the
Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepeared Is consistent with the
financial stetements; and

> the strategic report and the Directors’ report have been

prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

I the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and the parent company and thelr envircoryment
obtalned in the course of the audit, we have not identified
any material rnisstaternents in the strategic report or the
Directors’ report.

13. Corporate Governanca Statement

Based on the work undertaksn as part of our sudit, we have
conciuded that each of the following elements of the
Corporate Governance Statement is materially consistent
with the financiel statements and our knowledge obtained
during the audit:

> the Directors’ statement with regards to the
appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of
accounting and any materigl uncertainties identified set
out on pages 95 and 86;

= the Directors” axplanation as to its assessment of the
Croup's prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the period is appropriate set out on pages 95 and 96;

> the Directors’ statement on being feir, balanced and
understandable set out on page 97;

> the Boand's confirmation that it has carried out a robust
assessment of the ernerging end principal risks set out on

page 95;
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> the section ¢f the Annual Report that describes the review
of effectiveness of risk menegement and internal control
systems set out on page 77 and

> the saction describing the work of the audit committee
set out on pages 79 and 80.

4. Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

tis.1. Adequacy of explanations received and
occounting records

Under the Companies Act 2008 we ara required to report
to you if, in our opinion:,

> we have not recetved all the information and explanations
we require for our audiv: ar

» adequate accounting records have not basn kept by the
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

> the parent company financial stalements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors® remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to
report if in our opinton certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration have not haen made,

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

15. Uze of aur report

This report is made solely to the company’s members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audic work has been undertaken
s0 that we might state to the compary’s members those
matters we ara required to stabe to them in an auditor's
repart and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do nat accept or assume responsibility
to anyone cther than the company and the company’s
members as & body. for our sudit work, for this report,

or far the opinions we have farmed.

Paul Schofleld FCA (Senlor Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloltta LLP
Auditor

Statutory
Cambridge, United Kingdom
22 Ssptember 2022



Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 200
Note Em £m
Revenue 4 554.2 5101
Cost of sales (315.1) (288.2}
Gross profit 23941 2219
Administrative expenses (196.3) (181.8}
Operating profit 428 401
Finance exoense 5 (6.8) (70)
Profit hefore tax 4 36.0 331
Tax expense 9 {10.3) (13.8)
Profit for the year 257 18.3
Earnings per Ordinary share (EPS)
Basic 10 36.2p 273p
Diluted 10 35.9p 21p

All aetivities detive from continuing operations.

Reconcllation of alternative performance measures

The Directors believe that adjusted measures, being adjusted EBITDA, adjusted PBT and adjusted EPS provide additional useful information
for shareholders. These measures are used by the Board and management for planning, internal reporting and setting Director and
management remuneration. In addition, they are used by the investor analyst community and are aligned to our strategy and KPls. These
measures are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures.

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by reference to profit before tax, adjusted for interest (net finance expense), depreciation, amortisation,
costs relating to business combinstions and exceptional iterns. The following table provides the calculation of adjusted EBITDA:

2022 2021
Alternative performance measure: adjusted EBITDA MNote £m £rn
Profit before income tax 36.0 kAl
Adjustments for:
Finence expense & 6.8 il
Amartisation of intangible assets 12 22,2 238
Depreciation of propefty, plant anc equipment i3 1.3 103
Profit on disposal of property. plant and equipment and nght-of-use assets (0.3} -
Depreociation and impairment of nght-of-use assets " 141 140
Costs ralating 1o business combinations? 4 4.9 93
Exceptional items? 15 12.4 —
Adjusted EBITDA 4 1074 975
Adjustad eamnings per share (EPS):
Adjusted EPS 10 85.8p 75lp
Dihited adjusted EPS 10 85.0p 746p

1. Includes amounts paid in respect of acquisiticns In prier years expansed 1o the Income statemant.

2  Exceptional tems relste Lo impairment |n relation to Quality Pet Care Ltd, refer to nota 16.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2022

207

Note £m £m

Profit for the year 257 193
Other comprehansive income - items that will or may be raclassified to profit or loss
in future periods
Cash flow hedges:

Net movement on cash flow hedge 28 09

Cost of hedging reserve (0.J) (0.4)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge and availzble-for-sale financial assets 25 (o on
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {0.) (o
Other comprsbensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax 1.9 {0.3)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent 776 19.0
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Consolidated and Company statement of financial position
as ot 30 June 2022

Company registration number: 06312831

Group Group Company Company

2022 207 2022 2021
Note £m £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 216.5 2284 — —
Property, plant and equipment 13 697 574 — —
Right-of-use assets 14 1017 g72 - -
Investments 1G 01 01 73.9 ne
Armounts owed by Group undertakings 33 - —_ 79.4 823
Derivative finangial instruments 17 2.3 — —_— -
390.3 3831 153.3 153.9
Current assets
Inventories 19 26.2 19.5 — —
Trade and other receivables 20 527 481 - -
Current tax receivable - Q1 - —
Cash and cash equivalents 21 49.0 337 — -
127.9 1014 —_ —
Total assets 4 518.2 4845 1533 1539
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 (86.6} (86.0) — —
Provisions 23 21 (3.9) — -
Lease liabilities 14 (9.4) (8.6) - -
Current tax lisbilities {3.3) — — —
(101.4) (98.5) - -
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 (84.3) {83.9) - —
Lease liabilities 14 {95.1) {90.2) —_— -
Derivative financial instruments 17 — {0.4) — —
Deferrad tax liabilities 25 {20.0) {204) — —
{199.4) (194.9) — —
Total liabilities 4 (300.8) {293.4) — —
Net assets 174 1911 163.3 15389
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 26 01 01 01 01
Share premium 27 105.4 1031 105.4 1031
Capitai rademption reserve 0.6 086 0.6 06
Cash flow hedge reserve 16 (05) - —
Cost of hedging reserve — 01 — -
Merger reserve {61.4) (61.4) - —
Retained earnings 711 1491 47.2 501
Total equity 2174 1911 153.3 1239

The Company reported a total comprehensive loss for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 of £0.6m (2021: £0.5m).
The notes on pages 114 to 150 are an integral part of these consolidated and Company financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 107 to 150 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 September 2022
and were signed on its behalf by:

E —

Richard Falrman Robin Alfonso
Director Dlrector
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2022

Capital Cash flow Costof
Share Share redemption  Tressury hedge  hedging Merger  Retained Total
cepltal  premium raserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings aquity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m Em £m £m
At1July 2021 Q1 1031 086 — (0.5) Q) (614) 1491 1911
Profit for the year - — — — — — — 257 257
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value income/(loss) - - — — 28 (on — — 27
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge and
available-for-sale financial assets - - — - (07 — — — (o7
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations — - — — — — — [(e3)] 01)
Total other comprehensive Income/
(loss) — — — — 21 [(eX))] —_ [(eX))] 1.9
Total comprehensive income/(loss) - — — — 21 (0N} — 258 716
Transactions with owners
issue of Ordinary shares 26 — 23 - - - — - - 23
Credit to reserves for share-based
payments 1 — — — — — — — 23 23
Deferred tax relating to share-based
payments 25 — — — — - — — 1.3} 13
Dividends to equity holders of the
Compary 26 — — - - - - — {46) (4.6)
Total transactions with owners — 23 — — — — — {35) {1.3)
At 30 June 2022 01 1054 0.6 — 1.6 — (61.4) 171.1 174
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Capital Cash fiow Cost of
Share Share redemption  Treasury hedga  hedging Meorger  Retained Total
capital  pramium Teserve reserve regserve reserve reserve  eamings aquity
Note £Em £m £m £Em £m £ £m £m £m
At1 hly 2020 01 1019 06 {0.3) (14) 05 (614) 1266 1666
Profit for the year — — — — — - - 193 18.3
Other comprehansive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value income/{loss) — - - — 08 (04) - — 05
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge
and available-for-sale financial assets — — —_ — — — — {om (01}
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations — — — — — — — (o7 {0.7)
Total other comprehensive
{loss)/income — — — — 09 {04) — (08) {0.3)
Jotal comprehensive income/{loss) — — — - (012] {04) — 185 180
Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 26 - 1.2 —_ — — — — — 12
Disposal of treasury reserve 26 — — — 03 — — — — 03
Credit to reserves for
share-based payments i — - —_ — — - — 2.2 22
Deferred tax relating to
share-based payments 27— — — — — — — 1.8 1.8
Total transactions with owners — 12 — 03 — — — 40 55
At 30 June 2021 01 1031 06 — (05) 01 (61.4) 1491 1911
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Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2022

Capital

Share Share reciemption Retalned Total

capital premium raserve edrnings equlty

Note £m Em Em £m Em

At1July 2021 01 1031 06 501 1539
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — {06) 08

Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 26 — 23 — —_ 23
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 11 — — — 23 23
Dividends to equity holders of the Company 26 — - - (4.6) {46}
Total transactions with owners — 23 — (2.3) —
At 30 June 2022 o1 105.4 0.6 4712 153.3
Caolal

Share Share radermption Retained Total

capital premium resenve earnings equity

Note £m £m Em £m Em

At 1 July 2020 0 1018 08 484 151.0
Total comprehensive loss for the year — - — (0.5) {05)

Transactions with owners

Issue of Ordinary shares 26 - 12 — — 1.2
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 1 - - — 22 22
Dividends to equity holders of the Company 26 —_ - - — -
Tetal transactions with owners — 1.2 — 22 34
At 30 June 2021 01 1031 06 501 1539
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Consolidated and Company statement of cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2022

Group Group Company Company
2022 2021 2022 202
Nots Em £m £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/{used in) operations 29 931 803 23 (1.2)
Taxation paid (1.2) {13.0) - -
Interest paid (6.4) (71 - -
Net cash generated from/{used in) operating activities 755 60.2 23 (1.2}
Cash flows from investing activities
Business combinations (net of cash acquired) 15 (8.4) (18.4) — -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (23.0) (161) - —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.2 08 - —
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (1.5) (0.5) - —
Purchase of other Investments 16 (1.4} — — -
Proceeds from sale of other investments 18 9.0 — — -
Net cash used in investing activities {45.1) (35.4) —_ —
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 26 {4.6) — (4.6) —
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary shares 26 2.3 1.2 2.3 1.2
Proceeds from sale of Treasury shares 26 - 03 — —
Repaymant of obligations under right-of-use assets (12.7) (13.0) — -
Repayment of borrawings 28 (0J3) (11) —_ —
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities {151} {12.6) {2.3) 1.2
Nst increase in cash and cash equivalents 153 12.2 — —
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 337 215 — —_
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 49.0 337 — -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

1. General information

The principal activity of CVS Group plc, together with its subsidiaries ("the Group”). is 10 operate veterinary practices,
complementary veterinary diagnastic businasses, pet crematoria and an online pharmacy and retail business. The principal
activity of CVS Group plc {"the Company”) is that of a halding company.

CVS Group pic is a public limited company incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and domiciled in England and
Wales and its shares are quoted on AIM of the London Stock Exchange ("CVSG”). Its company registration number is
06312831 and registered office is CVS House, Owen Road, Diss, IP22 4ER,

Usa of alternative performance measures

Adjusted EBITDA (Eornings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciotion and Amortlsation), adjusted prefit before tax {adjusted PBT)
and adjusted earnings per share (adjusted EPS)

The Directors believe that adjusted measures, being adjusted EBITDA, edjusted PBT and adjusted EPS provide additional
useful information for shareholders. These measures are used by the Board and management for planning, internal
reporting and setting Director and management remuneration. In addition, they ara used by the investor analyst community
and are aligned to our strategy and KPls. These measures are not defined by International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRS) and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures. They are not intended to be
a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measurements of profit or earnings per share.

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by reference to profit before tax, adjusted for interest (et finance expense), depreclation,
amortisation, costs relating to business combinations and exceptional items.

Adjusted PBT is calculated as profit before tax, amortisation, costs relating to business combinations and exceptional items.

Adjusted EPS is calculated as adjusted profit before tax, less applicable tax, divided by the weighted average number of
Ordinary shares in issue in the period.

The following table provides the calculation of adjusted EBITDA as dsfined above:

2022 201
Alternziva performance maasure: adjusted EBITDA Note £m £m
Profit before income tax 360 331
Adjustmants for:
Finance expense 5 6.8 70
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 22.2 238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 1.3 103
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (0.3) —
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 14 141 140
Costs relating to business combinations' 4 4.9 93
Exceptional items? 16 124 -
Adjusted EBITDA 4 1074 975
Adjusted earnings per share (EPS):
Adjusted EPS (pence) 10 85.8 751
Diluted adjusted EPS (pence) 10 85.0 746
1. Includes amounts paid in respect of acquisitions in prior years expensed 1o the income statement.
2. Excaptional items relate to impairment In relation to Quality Pet Care Ltd, refer to note 16.
The reconciliations for adjusted PBT and adjusted EPS can be found in note 10.
Net debt
Net debt is calculated as bank borrowings less gross cash and cash equivalents and unamortised botrowing costs.
2022 202
Ncte £m £m
Berrowings rapayable after mare than one year
Loan facility 850 85.0
Unamortised borrowing costs (0.7} fn
Total borrowings 24 84.3 832
Cash and cash equivalents 21 {49.0) (337)
Net dabt 353 502
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1. Generdl information continued

Use of alternative performance measures continued

Like-for-like sales

Like-for-like sales shows revenus generated from like-for-like operations compared to the prior year, adjusted for the number
of working days. For example, for a practice acquired in September 2020, revenue is included from September 2021 in the
like-for-like calculations.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basls of preparation

The consolidated and Company financial statements of CvS Group plc have been prepared in accordance with international
accounting standards and in cenformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008,

The consolidated financial staternents have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial instruments and share-based payments that have been measured at fair value. At the year end the
Group had cash balances of £49.0m and an unutilised overdraft facility of £5.0m. Total facilities of £170.0m are available to support
the Group's organic and acquisitive growth inttiatives over the coming years, comprising a term loan of £85.0m and an unutilised
revoiving credit facility of £85.0m. Tha Group is fully compliant with all covenants in respect of these faclliies. The Directors
consider that the £5.0m overdraft and the £170.0m facility enable the Group to meet alt current liahilities as they fall due. The Group
is not reliant on any Governrnent suppart. Since the year end, the Group has continued to trade profitably and to generate cash.
After consideration of market conditions, the Group's financial position (including the level of headroom available within the bank
facllities), financial forecasts, its profite of cash generation and the timing and amount of bank borrowings repayable, principal risks,
and considering the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) scenario analysis conducted, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For
this reason, they continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing these financial statements.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these
financial statements. The accounting policies which follow relate 1o the Group and are applied by the Company as appropriate.

Critical accounting estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make jJudgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilties, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumgptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form a basis for making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from cther sources. The estimates and underlying assumiptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
sccounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in
making assumptions and estimates, actual outcomes will differ from those assurmptions and estimates.

Judgement: Leases
Management exercises judgement in determining the likelihood of exercising break or extension options in determining
the lease terrn.

When determining the lease term in accordance with IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, paragraphs 18-21, management has applied the
following policy for all leases:

a) for properties in contract, the lease term has been determined to be the period to the end of the contractual lease term;

b} for properties out of contract and therefore occupied on a rolling basis in accordance with legislation that permits this,
the lease term has baen determined to be 7.5 years from the end of the contractual lease term; and

¢) for properties where managernent has committed to close the site, the lease term is determined to be untll the next break clause.
Refer to note 14 for additional disclosures related to leases.

Accounting estimate: Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credit (RBEC)

The Group has recognised £2.0m (2021: £2.0m) income in relation to claims made by the Group under HM Revenue & Customs
(HMRC} RDEC scheme in respect of costs relating 1o qualifying research and development (R&D) activities. The income is recognised
when thers is reasonabie assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions of the scheme and that the tax credits
will be received, which can be some time after the original expense is incurred. The Group's assessment of eligible expenditure and
qualifying activities must align with the definition of R&D for RDEC purposes. The Group has considered the facts and circumstances
telating to each company’s claim in order to make a judgement as to whether compliance is reasonably assured end therefore
receipt is reasonably certain. The Group has applied an estimated discount to the gross claims of £41m (2021: £3.9m) submiitted to
HMRC in the period and recognised £2.1m {(2021: £1.9m). The aggregate amount unrecogrised at 30 June 2022 amounted to £4.0m
(2021: £1.9m). The unrecognised amount of £4.0m, will be recognised when uncertainty has baen removed either via formal
acceptance of the claims or the expiry of the enguiry windows, which should occur in the year ended June 2023.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the yeor ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Changes In accounting policles and disclosure

Standards adopted by the Group for the first time

Two new and revised standards, including the following. are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

» Amendment te [FRS 16, ‘Leases’ - COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021
> Amendments to IFRS 9, |AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 - {nterest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
Adoption of these standards has not had an impact on the Group's financial statements.

Standards and interpretations to exlsting standards which ore not yet effective and are under review as to their impact

on the Group

The following standards and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group's
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2022 or later periods but which the Group has not early adopted:

> Amendments to |AS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ - Proceeds Before intended Use (effective 1 January 2022)
> Annual Improverents to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 {effective 1 January 2022)

» Amendments to IFRS 3 ~ Reference to the Conceptual Framework (effective 1 January 2022)

> Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiliing a Contract (effective 1 January 2022)

> Amendments 10 (FRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective 1 January 2023}

» Amendments to IAS 1~ Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (effective 1 January 2023)

» Amendments to [AS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective 1 lanuary 2023)

> Amendments to [AS 1 and IFRS Practice Staterment 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective 1 January 2023)

» Amendments 1o IAS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction {effective
1 lanuary 2023)

The consolidated financial statements include the finangial infarmation of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings
as at and for the year ended 30 June 2022,

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The results of companies and businesses acquired are
included in the consolidated income statement from the date control passes. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases. Where the Group does not control a subsidiary, it is not consolidated. On acquisition of a company or
business, all assets and liabilities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded at their fair values, reflecting their
condition at that date. Changes that arisa during the measurarnent period that inform about conditions at the date of the
acquisition are adjusted via goodwill, and changes that arise after the measurement period, are credited or charged to the
incorme statament.

intra-group transactions and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
aligned to ehsure consistency with the policies adopted by tha Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported n a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM), The CODM has been determined to be the Board of Directors, as it is primarily respansible for the allocation of
resources to segments and the assessmant of the performance of segments. The Group has four operating segments:
Veterinary Practices, Laborataries, Crematoria and Online Retail Business, Further details of the Group’s operating segrments
are provided in note 4 1o the financial statements.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration ransferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group and lizbilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree. Acquisition
related costs are recognised in the income statement as incurrad. At the acquisition dats, the identfiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifigble assets acquired and the liabifities assumed. I, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is
recognised immediately in the income statement &s a bargain purchase gain.
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2. Summary of significant accounting pellcies continued

Business combinations continued

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes an asset or liability rasulting from

a contingent or defarred consideration arrangement, this additional consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent
or deferred consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding
adjustrments against goodwill, Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acguisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. Contingent or deferred consideration that is ¢lassified as an asset or

a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 8, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’, or JAS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, as appropriate, with the corresponding
gain or loss being recognised in the income staternent.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost {being the purchase cost, together with any incidental costs of acquisition)
less accumulated depreciation and any accurnulated impairment losses. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed annually, and adjusted as appropriate. Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual values, over the expected useful economic lives of the assets in equal annual
instalments at the following principal rates:

Freehold buildings 2% straight line

Leasehoid improvements Straight line over the life of the lease
Fixtures, fittings and equipment  20%-33% straight line

Motor vehicles 25% straight line

Freehold land is not depreciated on the basis that it has an unlimited life.

Subsequent costs are included in the assel's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured relizbly. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial year in which
they are incurred.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

With the excepticn of the acquisition of CVS {UK) Limited, which was accounted for using the principles of merger accounting,
all business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Goodwill arising on acquisitions that have
occurred since 1 July 2004 is stated after separate recognition of intangible assets and represents the differance hetween the
fair value of the purchase consideration and the fair value of the Group’s share of the identffiable net assets of an acquired
entity. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 July 2004 goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents
the amount recorded under previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, and is subject to annual impairment testing.

Patient dato records and trade names

Acquired patient data records and trade names are recognised as intangible assets at the fair value of the consideration paid
to acquire them and are carried at historical cost less provisions for amortisation and impairment. The fair value attributable
to these items acquired through a business combination is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to
be generated from that asset at the risk-adjusted post-tax weighted average cost of capital far a market participant. The
residual values are assumed to be £nil. Patient data records and trade names are reviewed for impairment if conditions exist
that indicate a review Is required. Amortisation is provided 50 as to write off the cost over the expected economic lives of
the asset in equal instalments at the following principal rates:

Patient data records 10% per annum
Trade names 10% per annum
Amortisation is charged to administrative expenses.

Computer software

Acquired computer saftware licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three years and charged to administrative
expenses. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as incurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of signiffcant accounting policies continued

Impairment of non-current assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amartisation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets

that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

As permitted by IAS 36, Impairment of Assets’, for the purposes of assessing impairment, individual cash-generating units
{CGUs) are grouped at a level consistent with the Group’s cperating segments. Recoverable amounts for CGUs are based
on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections using data from the Group's latest internal forecasts, being

a one-year detailed forecast and extrapolated forecasts thereafter, the results of which are approved by the Board. The

key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding discount rates and growth rates. The Group has
considered the Tesk Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) scenario analysis conducted in undertaking this
assessment and concluded no changes were required to the Group's accounting policies, estimates or judgements in this area.

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an Impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
datermine the racoverable amount, An impairment loss is reversed anly to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount, dees
not exceed the carrying amount that would have bean determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if na impairment
loss had been recognised. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill ara not reversed.

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in. first out
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less costs expected to be incurred on disposal. Where
nacessary, a provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or defective inventory,

Financiol instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s consolidated and Company statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

Trade and other recelvables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL) and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is recognised if
there are considered to be expected credit losses. The amaunt of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. Losses arising from impairment are recognised
in the income statement within administration expenses.

Investments

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments in equity instruments that have

a quoted market price are recognised directly in other comprehensive income (“fair value through other comprehensive
income” (FVTQQI)) until the security is disposed of ar is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is included in the net result for the year.

In accordance with [FRS 9, available-for-sele investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost. The Group assesses at each
vear-end whether there is abjective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in the income statemant when the Group's right
to receive payment is established.

in the Cormpany’s financtal statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are initially stated at cost. Provision is made
for any permanent impairment in the value of these investments.

Financial liobilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity mstruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. Financial liabilities are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial iiabilities are recorded initially at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest related charges recognised as an expense
in finance cost in the income statement. A financial Liability is derecognised cnly when the obligation 1s extinguished. An
equity instrurment is any contract that gives a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting al! of its liabilities,
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded as the proceeds received, net of associated transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any differsnce between
cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the consolidated and Company statement of financial position date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to irterest rate risks arising from financing activities.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes; however, if derivatives do not qualify
for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined by reference to market values for similar financial instruments, by discountad cash flows. or by the use of option
valuation models. The fair value of interest rate swap arrangements is calculated as the present velue of the estimated future
cash flows. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are immediately
recognised in the income statement.

Where derivatives gqualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship and the item being hedged.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged itemns,
as well as its risk management objectivas, the strategy for undertaking various hedging transacticns, the nature of the risks
being hedged and the economic relationship between the item being hedgead and the hedging instrument. The Group also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the derivatives that are
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedgad items.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liabllity when the remaining maturity of the
hedged Item is more than twelve months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item
is less than twelve months.

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge the Group’s exposure to variability in
cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable
forecasted transaction.

The effective element of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is
recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
the income statement where material. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the incame statement in the periods
when the hedged item affects the income statement. The classification of the effective portion when recognised in the
income statement is the same as the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of the
derivative instrument which does not meet the criteria for an effective hedge is recognised immediately in the income
statement within finance costs.

When a hedging Instrument expires or is sold, or whan a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the income statement when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected
to oceur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with maturities of three months or less from inception.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated and Company statement of cash flow.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued
Current and deferred tax
The tax expense reprasents the sum of the current tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments in respect of previous periods.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
income staterment because it excludes some iterns of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes itemns that are never taxable cr tax deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated on the basis
of tax laws and tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated and Company statement of
financial position date. Management pericdically evaluates positions takenin tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expectad to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is provided in fufl, using the balance sheat liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities used in computation of taxable profits and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or fiability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is determined using tax
rates {(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated and Company statement of financial
pasition date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is reatised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Current end deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except where it relates to items charged or
credited directly to other comprshensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income at equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on sither
the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances an a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settls the ligbility simultanecusly.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured in accordance with relevant accounting standards. For all contracts within the scope of IFRS 15,
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, the Group determines whether enforceable rights and obligations have been
created with the customer and recognises revenue based on total transaction price as estimated at the contract inception,
being the amount which the Group expects to be entitled to and has present enforceable rights under contract. Revenue is
sllocated proportionately across the contract performance cbligations and recognised either over time or at a point in time
as appropriate.

Service revenue

Revenue represents sales of veterinary services, laboratory diagnostic services and crematoria services which are
recognised in accordance with IFRS 15, at the point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is
recognised when the veterinary consultation, veterinary procedure, laboratory test or cremation is completed.

Members of custormer membership schemes, for example tha Healthy Pet Club, pay annuslly or monthly subscription fees
and receive preventative consultations and treatments over a twelve-month period, being the life of the contract. Annual
subscripticn fees are received annually in advance and monthly subscription fees are received evenly over a twelve-month
period. Revenue is recogrised In line with the cost profile of individual performance obligations as they are completed in
accordance with the contract and not in line with the receipt of subscription fees. For the majority of customers who pay
monthly this results in revenue recognised in advance of cash received as performanca obligations are weighted towards
the beginning of the twelve-month contract.

The adjustments are mede through deferred and accrued income and the contract asset and contract ligbility for this are
shown in note 20 and note 22, respectively. Reverue is recognised net of the provision to reflect cancellations as a result of
anima! deaths, due to our policy not to inveoice our customers in such an event. The provision is calculated based on historical
membership data. All other cancellations are accounted for as an impairment of receivables within administration expenses.

Products ‘
Revenue relating to the sale of veterinary products is recognised according to the terms of sale, at the point in time when ‘
the performance obligations are satisfied.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policles continued

Rabates received from manufocturars

Consistent with standard industry practice, the Group has agreements with suppliers whereby volume related allowances
and various other fees are received in connection with the purchase of goods from those suppliers in the form of rebates.
Rebates raceived from drug and consumabie manufacturers in respect of the Group's purchases relating to inventories are
held by the Group at the reporting date; the rebate is included within the cost of those inventories and recognised in cost
of sales upon sale of those inventories.

Rebates negotlated on behalt of our buying group members, MiVetClub and VetShere, are recorded in the statement ot
financial position as a receivable and the corresponding liability For the rebate due to the member is recorded as a payabile.
The associated commission receivable by the Group is recorded as revenue in the income statement when all obligations
attached to the rebate have been discharged and the rebate can be measured reliably based on the terms of the contract
which is taken as at the point at which the buying group member purchases the drugs and consumables.

Leases

The Group as o lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease tenm of twelve months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal
computers, small tems of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the [ease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted by using the rate implicitin the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee usesits
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

» fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

> variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
» the amount expected to be payable by the [essee under residual value guaranteas;

» the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain 1o exercise the options; and

» payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
The lease liahility is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The iease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to refiect interest on the lease liability
{using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustrment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

> the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a changein the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate;

» the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate {unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used); and

» alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the [ease
liability is remeasured based on the lease termn of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of gignificant accounting policles continued

Leases continued

The Group as a lessee continued

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which

it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision
is recognised and measured under 1AS 37.

Right-of-use gssets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful {ife of the underlying asset. The depreciation
starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate (ine in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described in the Property, plant and equipment policy on page 117.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognisad as an eéxpense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payrments occurs and are included in administration expenses in the income statement.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any

lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient, For
a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease camponents, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract 1o each lease component on the basis of the relative standelone price of the lease
component and the aggregate standalone price of the non-lease components.

Government grants
Government grants are nat recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in the income statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expanses or losses already incurred of for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in the income statement in the period
in which they become receivable.

Certain companies within the Group may be entitled to ciaim tax credits in relation to the Research and Devslopment
Expenditure Tax Credit (RDEC) scheme in the UK. Tax credits recelvable under this scheme are determined to have

the substance of a government grant and accerdingly these tax credits are accounted for under 1AS 20, ‘Accounting for
Government Grants’, as described above. The tax credits are recognised within administration expenses within the income
statement when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions and that the tax
credits will be received.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and that can be refiably measured and it is probable that an outflow of econcmic
benefits will be reguired to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability.

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration In the form of share-based payment transactions,
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). UK employees
may also acquire shares in the Company through an HMRC-approved smployee Save As You Earn scheme (SAYE), where
the employee makes monthly savings over a three-year period and has the option to purchase shares at the end of the period.

The fair values of equity-settled transactions are measured indirectly at the dates of grant using Monte Carlo or Black
Scholes option pricing models, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the awards are granted. The fair
value of share-based payments under such schemes is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted at each reporting date for the effect of
non-market-based vesting conditions. The fair value of options awarded to employees of subsidiary undertakings is
recognised as & capital contribution and recorded in investrments on the Comparny staternent of financial position.
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2. Summanry of significant accounting policies continued

Forelgn currency transiation

Functional and presentational currency

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates {its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the
Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements, rounded to the nearest £0.1m.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies cther than the entity’s
functional currency (fareign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At each year-end, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
pravailing at that date. Non-monetary iterns carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the rates prevaiting at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise,

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the consolidated and Company statement of financial position date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the pericd. unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and transiated at the closing rate. The Group has elected to treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS as Sterling-denominated assets and liabilities. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Retlrement benefit costa

The Group makes contributions to stakeholder and employee personal pension defined contribution schemes in respect of
certain employees. The Group has no further payment cbligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the period to which they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Financing costs
Financing costs connprise interest payable on borrowings, debt finance costs, finance cost on the right-of-use lease liability,
and gains and losses on derivative financial instruments that are recognised in the income statement.

Interest expense is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Share premium
The share premium reserve comprisas the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

Treasury reserve
The treasury reserve comprises shares held by an Employee Benefit Trust {EBT) for the purposes of satisfying the exercise
of certain share options vesting under the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP} and SAYE schemes.

Capltal redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of redeemable Preference shares on redemptian, a capital redermption reserve was created representing
the nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve resulted from the acquisition of CVS (UK) Limited and represents the difference between the value
of the shares acquired {nominal value plus related share premium) and the nominal value of the shares issued.

Loss for the financlal yeor

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own income
statermnent or statement of comprehensive income for the year. The ioss attributable to the Company is disclosed in
the footnote to the consalidated and Company statement of financial position.

3. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk {being foreign currency tisk, interest rate risk and other price
risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group uses derivative
instruments to manage its exposwre to interest rate movements. It is not the Group’s policy to actively trade in derivatives.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

3. Financial risk management continued

Flnancial risk factors continued

The Board monitors financial risk management. The policies set by the Board of Directors are implemented by the Group's
finance department.

o) Market risk

1) Foreign exchange currency rate risk

The Group has limited exposure to forgign exchange risk as the majority of its transactions are denominated in the
Company's functional currency of Sterling. The Group has a policy to minimise foreign exchange currency rate risk through
the regular monitoring of foreign currency flows. Currency exposures are reviewed regularly and all significant foreign
exchange transactions are approved by Group management. For subsidiaries incorporated in the Netherlands and the
Republic of Ireland, a natural hedge is applied where both revenue and expenditure is denominated in Euros, Aside from
this, the Group does not hedge any foreign currency transactions but continuss to keep this policy under review.

ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group has interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The Group's income and operating cash inflows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

At the year end, the Group had interest hedging arrangements in place covering £70.0m (2021 £70.0m) of debt. This allows
the Group to minimise its exposure to significant interest rate increases whilst enabling the Group to take advantage of
interest rate reductions. The strategy for undertaking the hedge is to match a portion of the loan liability with a coterminous
derivative that allows interest to float within an agreed range and thereby limits the cash flow exposure relating to interest.

Excluding the impact of the interest rate swap arrangement, bank borrowings bear interest at 1.45% to 2.70% above SONIA
plus a credit adjustment spread. The applicable interest rate is dependent upon the bank test net debt to bank test EBITDA
ratio. During the year the bank borrowings carried a rate averaging 1.45% above SONIA.

At 30 June 2022, the Group has considered the impact of movernents in interest rates over the past year and has concluded
that a 1% movement is a reasonable benchmark. At 30 June 2022, if interest rates on Sterling-denominated borrowings had
been 1% higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, post-tax prefit and the moverment in net assets for the year
would have been approximately £0.9m (2021: £0.8m) lower or higher, mainly 85 a result of the movement in interest rates
on the floating rate borrowings, net of the hedging derivative instrument in place.

b) Credit risk

Trade recelvables are recognised intially at fair value and subsequently measured st amortised cost, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is recognised on trade receivables if there is considered 1o be
expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses is calculated using the simplified approach as allowable under
IFRS @ and is updated at each repoiting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset.
Losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive inceme in other operating expenses.

The credh risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s diverse customer base. Sales
made other than on a cash basis are limited to a smal! part of the Group's overall businass, and within these business areas
the Group has epprepriate credit checking facilities and procedures in place. Custormer accounts are also monitored on an
ongoing basis and appropriate action Is taken where necessary to minimise any credit risk. The Directors therefore believe
there is no further credit risk provision reguired in excess of normal provision for impaired receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 June 2022 is the fair value of each class of receiveble as disclosed in note 20
to the financial staternents.

c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Group actively maintains cash balances and a mix
of long-term and short-term finance facilities that are designed to ensure the Group has sufficient avallable funds for operations
and acquisitions. Management monitors ralling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table below summarises the remaining contractual maturity for the Group's financial liabilities. The amounts shown
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which include interest, analysed by contractual maturity. When the amount
payable or receivable s not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates
as iflustrated by the vield curves existing at the reporting date.
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3. Financial sk management continued
Financlal risk factors continued
c) Liquidity risk continued
Inmorethan  Inmerethan  In mate than

onayesrbut two years but three yeers but
Inlessthan not mora than notmorethan notmorathan  In more that

one year two yaars thres years five yaars five ysars Total
30 June 2022 Note €m €m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial llabilities
Borrowings - 85.0 — - — 85.0
Trade and other payables (excluding
social security and other taxes) 22 68.2 - - — —_ 68.2
Lease liabilities 14 13.2 155 14.6 261 56.6 126.0
81.4 100.5 14.6 261 56.6 279.2
in more than In mora than In mora than
ona yearbut  two yearsbut  three years but
Inlessthan notmorethan notmore than  not mora than n more than
one year two years three years five years five yaars Total
30 June 2021 Note £m £m £m £€m £m €m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings - — 850 — - 850
Trade and other payables {excluding
social security and other taxes) 22 691 — — — - 691
Lease liabilities 14 124 142 132 237 8572 1207
B15 142 982 237 572 2748

Capltal risk management

The Group's policy is to maintain & strong capital base, defined as bank facilities plus total shareholders’ equity, so as 1o
mairrtain investor, creditor and merket confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Within this overall
policy, the Group seeks to maintain an optimum capital structure by a mixture of debt and retained earnings.

The bank facilities include financial covenants and a number of gereral undertakings. There have been no breaches of
the terms of the respective loan agreements, breaches of covenants or defaults during the current or comparative years.

Funding needs are reviewed periodically and also each time a significant acquisition is made. A number of factors are
considered which include the bank test net debt/bank test EBITDA ratio, future funding needs (usually potential acquisitions)
and Group banking arrangements.

2022 200
£m £m

Bank test net debt 36.0 513
Bank test EB'TDA 89.3 755
Retio 0.40 068
The ratio above is calculated for the bank covenants as bank test net debt divided by bank test EBITDA.
Bank test net debt
Drawn bank debt less cash and cash equivalents which includes £2.0m held in escrow at 30 June 2022 (2021: £nil).
Bank test EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA annualised for the effect of acquisitions, deducting costs relating to business combinations and adding
back share option costs, on an accounting basis prior to the adoption of IFRS 16. Refer to note 1 for the calculation of
adjusted EBITDA.

There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

The primary sources of funding for the Group are internzally generated cash and syndicated borrowings. The Group's
£5.0m overdraft facility and £85.0m revolving credit facility were undrawn at 30 June 2022,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

3. Financlal risk management continued
Fair value measurement
The Group's finarnicial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2022 by level of fair value hierarchy are:

> quoted prices (Unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

» inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are cbservable for the asset ar liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly {that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

» inputs for the asset or Fability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
The Group has level 1 available-for-sale financial assets of £0.1m {2021: £0.1m). Refer to note 16 for further information.

4. Segment reporting
Segment infarmation is presented in respect of the Group's business and geographical segments. The primary format, operating
segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure and monitored by the Group’s CODM.

Segmant results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to & segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasanable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly interest-baaring borrowings and assaciated costs, tax-ralated
assets and lisbilities, costs relating to business combinations, and Head Office salary and premises costs.

Revenue comprises £398.1m of fees and £156.1m of goods {2021: £358.3m and £150.8m respectively).

Operating segments

The Group is split into four operating segments (Veterinary Practices, Laboratories, Crematoria and Online Retail Business)
and a centralised support function (Head Office) for businass segment analysis. In identifying these operating segrments,
management generally fol'ows the Group’s service lines representing its main products and services.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each segment requires different specialisms, marketing
approaches and resources. Intra-group sales eliminations are included within the Head Office segment. Head Office
includes costs relating to the employees, property and other overhead costs associated with the centralised support
function together with finance costs arising on the Group's borrowings.

Veterinary Onltne Retall

Practices  Laboratories Crematoria Busineas Hazd Ofice Group
Year ended 30 June 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 4921 272 8.5 46.6 (21.2) 554.2
Adjusted EBITDA 108.8 8.3 34 3.5 (16.6) 107.4
Profit/(loss) before tax 64.9 7.6 2.9 3.4 (42.7) 36.0
Total assets 426.0 386 201 279 5.6 6182
Total liabilities {170.6) 5.1 (2.2) (18.6) {104.3) (300.8)
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/(loss) before tax 64.8 7.6 2.9 3.4 (42.7) 36.0
Finance expense 41 - — - 27 6.8
Depreciation of property, plant and eguipment 99 06 05 — 03 1.3
Depreciatian of right-of-use assets 13.7 01 — - 0.3 14.1
Profit on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets {0.3) —_ - — — {0.3)
Amcrtisation of intangible assets 14.6 — — o1 75 222 .
Costs relating to business combinations 20 - — — 29 49 !
Exceptional items - — - — 124 124
Adjusted EBITDA 108.8 83 3.4 35 (16.6) 1074
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&y, Segment reporting continued
Operating segmants continued

Véterinary Oriline Ratail

Practices Laboratories Cremataria Business Haad Cifice Group
Year andad 30 June 202 £m £m Em £m £m £m
Revenus 4534 280 80 a7 (21.0) 5101
Adjusted FBITDA as4a a1 28 29 (157) a75
Piofit/(luss) before tax 495 0.4 24 27 (299 331
Total assets 4224 327 169 109 16 4845
Total lighilities (179.8) {4.0) (1.4} {3.4) (104.8) {2934)
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/(loss) befare tax 435 8.4 2.4 27 (29.9} 331
Finance expense 41 — — — 29 70
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8.0 c6 04 - 03 103
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 137 o1 — — 0.2 140
Amortisation of intangible assets 140 - — 02 96 238
Costs relating to business combinations 81 - - — 1.2 83
Adjusted EBITDA 984 ai 28 29 (157 975
Geuographical segments

The business operates predeminantly in the UK. As at 3C June 2322, it has 27 veterinary practices in the Netherlands and
four in the Republic of ireland. It performs a small amount of laboratory work and teleradiology work for Europe-based
clients and a small amount of teleradiology work for clients based in the rest of the world. In accordance with IFRS 8,
‘Operating Segments’, no segment results are presented for trade with clients in Europe or the rest of the world as these
are not reported separately for management reporting purposes and are not considered material for separate disclosure.

5. Finance expense

2022 201

£m Em

interest expense on bank loans and overdraft 2.2 25
Interest expense on lease ligbilities 4.2 41
Amortisation of debt arrangement fees 04 04
Finance expanse 6.8 70
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

6. Expenses/(Income) by nature

2022 2021
Note £m £m
Amcrtisation of intangible assets 12 22.2 238
Depreciation of praperty, plant and equipment 13 1.3 10.3
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 14 141 140
Employee benefit expenses 7 259.6 235
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 121.2 s
Repalrs and maintenance expendituta on property, plant and equipment 49 53
Movement in provision for expected credit losses 20 (1.4) 07
Exceptional items! 16 12.4 —
RDEC income? (2.0} (2.0)
Other expenses £91 888
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 1.4 4700

1. During the year ended 30 June 2022, exceptional items related to impairmant of the invearment in Quality Pet Care Ltd, which was disposed of on

30 June 2022, The impairment of this investrnent is cansidered as exceptional and nen-recutring dus 1o the crcumstances of the sale, as described in
note 16. These costs are included within administration expenses and ere shown above. There wera no exceptiona| items in the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Inthe course of thelr ordinary wark, our colleagués perform work which advances the overall knowledgs in the veterinary field and seeks to resolve
scientific and technological uncertainties. In the prior year. the Group submitted ¢laims under the Research and Development Expenditure Gredits
(RDEC) scheme to HMRC for tha first time in respect of the 207€ financial year, and in the current year ciasms were submitted in respect of 2020 The
amount of qualifying expenditure in relation 10 2021 and 2022 is yet 1o be determined. in pari due to the uncertainty around FY12 and FY20 claims,
which is explained more fully in Nots 2 The amount of research end development expenditure within Cost of sales and Administrative expensas is

therefare not separately disclosed.

Services provided by the Company's auditor and assoclates
During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Company’s auditor at costs as detailed below:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Audit services
Fees payeble to the Group's auditor for:
The audit of the parent carmpany and consolidated financial staternents 180 184
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 352 326
532 490
7. Employee bensfit expense and numbers
Group
2022 200
Empleyes benefit expense for the Group Note £m £m
Wages and salaries 228.5 2050
Social security costs 229 193
Other pension costs 3 5.9 50
Share-based payments 1" 23 22
259.6 2315

The emplovee benefit expense included within cost of sales is £181.9m (2021: £160.7m). The balance is recorded within

administrative expenses,
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7. Employee benefit expense and numbers continued

Group continued

The average monthly number of people employed by the Group (including Executive and Non-Executive Directors) during
the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2022 202

Number Nummber

Veterinary surgeons and pathologists 2,079 1962
Nurses, practice ancillaries and technicians 5,489 4,976
Crematoria staff o8 84
Central support 247 219
7913 724

Company
The average monthly number of people employed by the Company is four {2021: four), being the Non-Executive Directors.
The Executive Directors received remuneration in respect of their services to the Company from a subsidiary company.

8. Directors’ remunsaration and key management compensation

Highest paid Director Directors” emoluments
2022 200 2022 202
£m £m £m £€m
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 0.8 08 23 22
Company contributions ta money purchase schemes - — 0.1 )|
08 0.8 2.4 23

Retirement benefits are accruing to one Director (2021: three) under a personal pension plan. The remuneration of the
Executive Directors, amounting to £2.1m (2021: £2.1m}, is borne by the subsidiary company CVS5 (UK) Limited, without
recharge. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, amounting to £0.3m {2021: £0.2m), is borne by the subsidiary
company CVS (UK) Limited and recharged to the Company.

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed on an individual basis in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 83 to 93.

Share options
Under the Company’s SAYE schemes the Directors have the following options at the year end:
Earlisst exercise data Number of
SAYE scheme Date of grant and vesting date  Exerdise price sheres
B Jacklin SAYE12 04 December 2019 01 January 2023 BG3p 709
R Alfonso SAYE12 04 December 2019 01 January 2023 863p 709
R Fairman SAYF13 02 December 2020 01 January 2024 1.009p 606
B Jacklin SAYE1S 02 December 2020 01 January 2024 1,009p 570
R Alfonso SAYE13 02 December 2020 01 January 2024 1.009%p 808
R Fairman SAYE14 25 Novemiber 2021 O1 January 2025 1974p 310
B Jacklin SAYE14 25 Novernber 2021 01 January 2025 1.974p 310
R Alfonso SAYE14 25 November 2021 01 January 2025 1,974p 291
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation continued

Share options continued

Under the Cornpany’'s Long-Term Incentive Plans (LTiP) the Directors have the following options at the year-end:

Market price on Earllast exercisa dete Number of

LTIP Date of grant date of grant and vesting date shares

R Fairman LT3 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 June 2022 46,296
B Jacklin LTIP13 19 December 2019 1,080p 30 June 2022 27,778
R Alfonso LT3 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 June 2022 15,278
R Fairman LTIM4 02 Qctober 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 4,030
B Jacklin LTIP1a 02 October 2020 1,219p 30 June 2023 24618
R Alfonso 1TIP14 02 Cctober 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 13.540
R Alfonso LTIPi4(b) 04 January 2021 1485p 30 June 2023 6,733
R Fairman LTIFMS 06 Qctober 2021 2,A07p 30 lune 2024 21188
B Jacklin LTIP1S 06 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 12,712
R Alfonso LTIP15 06 October 2021 2,407p 30 June 2024 11,009

The exercise price for all shares awarded under LTIPs is 0.2p.

LTIP12 vested in the ysar. for further details of the above schemes see the Remuneration Cormmittee report on pages 83

to 83.

Key management compensation

Key management Is considered to be those on the Executive Cornmittee (being the Executive Directors and other senior
management) and the Non-Executive Diractors. The employment costs of key management are as follows:

2022 20
Em £m
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 35 40
Post-employment benefits 0.2 02
Share-based payments 11 10
4.8 52
9. Tax expense
o) Analysls of tax expense recognised In the Income stotement
2022 202
Note £m £m
Current tax
Current tax an profits for the yvear 131 129
Adjustments in respect of previous years — 13
Total current tax charge 13.1 14.2
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2.4) (50)
Adjustments in respect of previous years {0.4) c3
Effect of tax rate change on opening deferred tax balance —_ 43
Total deferred tax credit 25 {2.8) {04
Total tax expense 10.3 13.8
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9. Tax expense continued

b) Reconcillation of effective tox charge

The total tax expense for the year differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard rate of UK corporation
tax of 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) as follows:

2022 262

£m £m

Profit before tax 36.0 33
Effective tax charge at 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) 6.8 6.3

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.2 24
Loss on disposal of nen-qualifying assets 2.3 —
Tax rate change on opening deferred tax balances — 43
Adjustments to deferred tax charge in respect of previous years (0.4) 03
Adjustments to current tax charge in respect of previous years — 13
Current year tax losses not recognised/{utilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised) 0.2 (on
Effect of difference between closing deferred tax rate and current tax rate 0.2 (07
Total tax expense 10.3 138

Factors affecting the current tax charge
UK corporation tax is calculated at 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Tax for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The effective tax rate on reported profits is 28.6% (2021: 41.7%) and has decreased from the prior year mainly due to

the remeasurement of deferred tax in the prior year as a result of the substantive enactment of the increase in the UK
corporation tax rate to 25.0% frem Aprit 2023, which did not recur in the current year, Tha effective tax rate for 2022 was
adwversely influenced by the impairment and subsequent disposal of an investment, which resulted in tax losses of £13.4m.
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised on the 1ax loss as it is not probable the Group will have sufficient future
texable profits against which this loss could be utilised. It was further affected by a decrease in expenses not deductible for
tax purpeses predominantly in respect of business acquisitions.

Changes in tax rates

The UK corporation tax rate for the year was 19.0% (2021: 18.0%). In March 2021, the UK Government announced an
increase in the UK corporation tax rate. The Finance Bill 2021 was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021 increasing the UK
corporation rate to 25.0% from 1 April 2023. The impact of this change in tax rate was recognised in 2021 in the income
statement, except to the extent that it related to items previously recognised cutside of the income statement in which
case it was recognised in other comprehensive income and equity accordingly.

Uncertain tax position
The Group recognises taxation based on estimates of whether taxes will be due. No material uncertain tax positions existed
at 30 June 2022 or 30 June 2021

10. Earnings per Ordinary share

a) Basic

2022 2021
Profit for the year (Em) 257 - 183 '
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue 70,926,977 70685939
Basic earnings per share {penca) 36.2 . 273
b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary shares. The Company has potentially dilutive Ordinary shares, béing
the contingently issuable shares under the Group's LTIP schemes and SAYE schemes. For share options, a calculation is
undertaken to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average
annual market share price of the Company's shares) based on the menetary value of the subscription rights attached to
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

10. Earnings per Ordinary share continued

b) Diluted continued
2022 2021
Profit for the year (Em) 257 19.3
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue 70,926,977 70685939
Adjustment for contingently issuabie shares - LTIPs 248,508 237307
Adiustment for contingently issuable shares ~ SAYE schemes 377,056 246,533
Weighted average number of Ordinary sharas for diluted earnings per share 71,652,539 7169779
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 35.9 271
Alternative parfformance medasure: adjusted sarnings per share
2022 2021
Note £m £m
Profit before tax 36.0 331
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 222 238
Costs relating to business combinations 4 4.9 9.3
Exceptional items B8 12.4 —
Adjusted profit before tax 765 66.2
Tax expense amended for the above adjustments (14.6) (131)
Adjusted profit after tax 60.9 531
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue 70,926,977 70685939
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 71,552,539 71169779
Pence Pence
Adjusted earnings per share {pence) 858 751
Diluted adjusted earnings per share (pence) 850 748

11. Share-based payments
Leng-Term Incantive Plans

The Group operates incentive schemas for certain senior executives, the CVS Group Long-Term Incentive Plans (LTIP).

Under the LTIP schemes, awards are made at an effective nil cost, vasting over a three-year performance period conditional
upon the Group’s adjusted earnings per share growth and Total Shareholder Return (TSR). The LTIP scheme arrangements

are equity settled.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year under the LTIP schemes are as follows:

July 2021scheme  July 2020 scheme  July 2019 scheme  July 2018 scherme

(LTIPISNS(bY {LTIP4A4LY (LTIF3A3M) {LTIM2)

Number of share Number of share Number of share Number of share

awards awards awards awards

Qutstanding at 1 July 2021 — 136,655 135,025 a8 Mo
Granted during the year 74,625 — —_ —
Lapsed during the year — — — (619}
Forfeited during the year (4,982) (12,836) (hph] -
Exercised during the year - — - (97497
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 69,643 123,819 128,914 -
Exercisable at 30 June 2022 - - 128,914 —

Cprtions are exercisable at 0.2p per share. The weighted average exercise price was 0.2p at the beginning and end of the pericd.

The aptions cutstanding at the year end under LTIP15, LTIP1S(), LTIP14, LTIP4(DL), LTIP3, and LTIP13(b) have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of two yeears, two years, one year, one year, nil years and nil years, respectively.

132 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statemants 2022



11, Share-based payments continued

Long-Term Incentive Plans continued

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of tha options Issued under the LTIP schemes amountad to £1.2m
(2021: £1.4rm) and has been charged to administrative expenses. Employer's Nationsl Insurance contributions of £0.2m
(2021: £0.6m) have been charged to administrative expenses in respect of the LTIP scheme transactions and are treated
as cash-settled transactions.

Further details of the abave schemes are included in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 83 to 93.

Save As You Earn (SAYE)
The Group operates an incentive scheme for all UK employses, the CVS Group SAYE plan, an HM Revenue &
Custorns-approved scheme. Details of the share options outstanding during the year under the SAYE schemes are as follows:

SAYEW SAYE1R SAYE12 SAYEN SAYE1D

Number cf Number of Number of Number of Number of

share awards share awards share awards shara awards share awards

Qutstanding at 1 July 2021 — 345954 243 561 298818 13,014
Granted during the year 215022 — — - -
Forfeited during the year (13,492} (34.716} (18,535) (14,247) -
Exercised during the year* — 0,047} (2,799) (249108) (13.04)
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 201,530 310N 222,227 35,463 -
Exercigable at 30 June 2022 — - — 35.463 —

* The waighted average share price &t the date of exercise was £19.54.

Further information on the SAYE schemes is shown in the table below:

SAYEW SAYE13 SAYEI2 SAYEN
Date opened for subscription November 2021 December 2020 Decermber 2019 November 2018
Date opticns granted January 2022 January 2021 January 2020  January 2019
Discount on closing mid-market price 20% 20% 10% 10%
Exercise price £19.74 £10.09 £863 £8.30
Remaining contractual life 2yearsbHmonths 1vear 5 months 5 months nil

All of the SAYE schemes vest over a three-year period. There are no performance conditions attached to the SAYE scheme.

The weighted average exercise price at the beginning of the period for the options outstanding was £9.09 and end of the
period was £1271.

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under the SAYE schemes amountad to £1.1m
(2027: £0.8rm) and has been charged to administrative expenses.

Options for all schemes were valued using either the Monte Carlo or Black Scholes option pricing modals. The fair value per
aption granted and the assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

LTIPtS LTiP15E) SAYEM
Grant date 06 October 2021 16 December 2027 25 November 2021
Share price at grant date’ £2407 £2217 £22.30
Fair value per option £15.46 £18.81 £754
Exercise price 02c C2p £19.74
Number of employees 34 1 1391
Shares under cption at date of grant 74174 A51 15,022
Vesting periad/option lifefexpected life 3vyears 3years 3 ysars
Waighted average remaining contractual life 2 years 2vyears 2 yaars 5 months
Expecied volatility? 35.2% 35.2% A11%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 045% 045% 0.30%

1. Share price calculated at average of closing share price for preceding five days in line with scheme rules.

2 Expected valatllity has been determined by reference to the historical share return volstility of CVS Group plc.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

12. Intangible assets

Trade Patient data Camputer

Qoodwil namas records software Total
Group Note £m £m £€m £m Em
Cost
At 1 July 2020 1002 15 263.2 5.5 3704
Additions arising through business combinations 141 - 838 - 229
Foreign currency translation (0.4) - {C8) — (.2
Other additions — — — 05 05
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 113.9 15 n2 6.0 3928
Additions arising through business combinations 13 87 - 21 - 838
Other additions - — — 15 15
At 30 June 2022 1206 15 2733 75 4029
Accumulated amortisation
At1July 2020 — 15 135.5 36 1406
Armortisation for the year - — 228 10 238
Foreign currency translation - - 02 - 02)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 — 15 1581 46 164.2
Amortisation for the year — — 24 08 222
At 30 June 2022 - 1.5 179.5 54 186.4
Net book amount
At 30 June 2022 1206 — 93.8 21 216.5
At 30 June 2021 138 - 131 14 2284
At 1 July 2020 100.2 - 1277 1.9 2298

Amortisation is charged to administrative expenses in the Income Statement.

The patient data records and trade names were acauired as a component of business combinations. See note 15 for further
details of current year acquisitions.

Intangible assets that are individually material to the financial statements are disclosed as follows:

Intengible category Description Carrying amount Remaining life
Patient date records Slate Hall Veterinary Greup £61m 6 years
Patient data records YourVets £31m 3 years

The components of goodwill are disclosed according to the group of CGUs to which they have been allocated. Due to
the integrated nature of the Group, although each veterinary practice, laboratory and crematorium is considered to be
an individual CGU, the monitoring of goodwill is performed on an aggregated basis for groups of CGUs that are no larger
than the operating segments, as determined in accordance with [FRS 8.

The majority of other assets are tested at the CGU level, to the extent that an impairment review is triggered following
identification of an indicator of impairment by management. A small number of assets (typically patient data records acquired
in & business combination with multiple sites or locations) are shared between sub-groups of CGUs and are tested for
impairment at that level.

Goodwill per operating segment

027 202t

£m £m

Veterinary Practices 116.3 109.2
Laborstories 21 21
Crematoria 26 26
Total 121.0 1139
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12. Intangible assets continued

Impalrment tests

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is derived from the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost

of capital. The risks relating to each of the CGUs are considered to be the same as a result of the Group's operations being
entirely focused in the veterinary market and, as such, the discount rate applied to each CGU is the same. The uss of the
Group’s weighted average cost of capital is consistent with the valuation methodology used when determining the offer price
for business combinations and, therefore, is considered an appropriate discount rate. The Directors consider the growth rate
1o be broadly consistent between CGUs; a 6.0% growth per annum In adjusted FBITDA has been assumed for years one to
five with a long-term growth rate of 2.0% per annum for the purposes of assessing net present value of future cash flows,
with adiusted EBITDA, adjusted for an assumption of capital expenditure, used as an approximation to cash flows given the
insignificant impact of working capital adjustments. The budget for the next financial year is used as a basis for the cash
flow projections. The growth rate used in the impairment tests is based upon a prudent assessment of market-specific
growth assumptions. Further details of the impairment tests are disclosed in note 2.

Estimates are based an past experience and expectations of future changes to the market. Growth rate forecasts are
extrapolated based on estimated long-term average growth rates for the markets in which the CGU operates {estimated
at 6.0% for years one 1o five and 2.0% long-term rate). The pre-tax discount rate used to calculate value in use is 11.3% at
30 June 2022 (2021: 10.3%).

A sensitivity analysis using reasonebly possible changes in key assumptions has been performed. None of these changes
result in the value of goodwill allocated to the CGUs being in excess of its recoverable emount and therefore no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

13. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures,

Freehold land Leasehold fittings and Mator

and buildings  improvaments equipment vohicles Totat
Group Note £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 July 2020 168 A 5569 36 1077
Foraign exchange — — {(0.2) — {0.2)
Additions arising through business combinations — — 06 - 0B
Additions 30 57 57 17 161
Disposals {0.5) — - {0.3) {0.8)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 193 371 62.0 50 1234
Additions arising through business combinations 15 — - 07 — 07
Additions 32 88 80 20 230
Disposals - {01) {0.2) (0.3) (06}
At 30 June 2022 225 458 s 6.7 146.5
Accumulated depreciation
A1 July 2020 18 166 358 1.9 561
Foreign exchange - — (o - (01)
Depreciation for the year 0.3 30 62 08 103
Disposals — — — (0.3) {0.3)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 21 196 19 24 660
Depreciation for the year 04 29 69 11 M3
Disposals —_ —_ (0.2) (0.3} {05)
At 30 June 2022 25 225 486 3.2 76.8
Net book amount
At 30 June 2022 20.0 233 229 35 69.7
At 30 June 2021 17.2 1756 201 26 574
At 1 July 2020 15.0 148 201 17 516

Freehold land amounting to £1.7m (2021: £1.7m) has not been depraciated.

Included within the above classes of assets is £5.5m (2021: £4.6m) of assets which are under construction, of which £4.8m
was acquired in the year and £0.7m is carried forward from the previous year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

14, Leases
Group as a lessee

The majority of the Group’s veterinary practices. specialist referral centres and support offices are leased, with remaining
lease terms of batween one and fifteen years. The Group also has a number of non-property leases relating to vehicle, equipment
and material handling equipment, with remaining lease terms of between one and four years, Additions to right-of-use
assets include new leases; extensions and amendments to existing lease agreements are disclosed as remeasurements.

Right-of-use assets

Motor

Property Equipment vahicles Total
Group Note £m Em £m £m
Cost
At 1 July 2020 1096 12 1.9 nz7
Foreign currency trenslation (08} — — {08)
Acqguired through business combinations 49 - - 49
Remeasurement of lease term 78 — — 78
Additions 1.2 05 1.0 27
Disposals @0 — — @1
AL 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 1208 17 29 1254
Acquired through business combinations 15 1.0 — — 1.0
Remeasuremant of lease term n7 — — 17
Additions &1 QA Q4 69
Disposals an - (1.0) 27
At 30 June 2022 1379 21 23 142.3
Accumulated depreciation
At July 2020 13.3 04 9 146
Depraciation for the year 124 03 0.9 136
Impairment 04 — — 04
Disposals (c4) — — 0.4)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 257 07 18 282
Depraciation for the year 130 0.3 0.8 141
Disposals [(o))] - (10} 07
At 30 June 2022 330 1.0 1.6 406
Net book amount
At 30 June 2022 99,9 11 0.7 101.7
At 30 June 2021 951 1.0 11 972
At 1 July 2020 963 08 1.0 981

The impairment loss in the prior year relates to veterinary practices which were closed or ware due to close. in line with
IAS 36, the carrying value of these right-of-use assets was assessed for indicators of impairment and the planned closure
was considered to be an indicator of impairment. The right-of-use asset was written down to its expected recoverable value

and impairment costs of £0.4m were charged. No impairment loss was recognised in the current year,

136 | €VS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statemants 2022



4. Leases continued
Lease llabllities

2022 2021
Group £m £m
Current 8.4 86
Non-current 95.1 a02
Total discounted lease liabilities 104.5 Q88
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted lease payments
Less than one year 13.2 124
Between one and five years 56.2 511
More than five years 56.6 572
Total undiscounted lease payments 126.0 1207

15. Business combinations

Details of business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out below. The reason for each acquisition was
to expand the CVS Group business through acquisitions aligned 1o our strategic goals. The acquisition and subsequent
disposal of Quality Pet Care Ltd is not included in the below, and further information can be found in note 16.

Nema of business combination Date of acquisition
Dierenkliniek Leloup Olst-Wijhe (trade and asset) 01 February 2022
Anton Vets Ltd 05 May 2022
CCVC Limited 10 June 2022

Al businesses were acquired via 100% share purchase agreement unless indicated otherwise In the table above.

Given the nature of the veterinary practices acquired and the records maintained by such practices, it is not practicable
to disclose the revenue or profit or loss of the combined entity for the year as though the acquisition date for all business
cornbinetions during the year had been at the beginning of that year.

The table below summarises the total assets acquired through business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2022:

Book valua of
soquired Fair valve

assots  adjustments Fair valua

Note £m £m Em

Property, plant and equipment 13 0.7 — Q.7

Patient data records 12 - 21 23

Right-of-use assets 14 1.0 — 1.0

Inventories o1 - 0.1
Deferred tax lability 25 (0.1) {0.3) (0.4)

Trade and other receivables 0.1 (oq) -
Trade and other payables 0.7} - {0.7)
Loans {01) - {0.1)
Lease liabilities (1.0) - (1.0)
Total identifiable assets - 1.7 1.7

Goodwill 12 6.7
Total consideration (net of cash acquired of £0.5m) 8.4

Initial consideration paid (net of cash acquired of £0.5m) 8.0

Deferred consideration payable 04
Total consideration (net of cash acquired of £0.5m) 8.4

The total consideration of £8.4m is prior to the agreement of the completion accounts, The amounts recognised are subject
to adjustment in line with IFRS 3 for up to 12 months from acquisition, with goodwill being adjusted accordingly.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

15. Business combinations continued

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets.
Goadwill reflects the synergies arising from the combination of the businesses; this includes cost synergies arising from
shared support functions and buying power synergies. Goodwill includes the recognition of an amount egual to the
deferred tax that arises on non-qualifying fixed assets acquired under a business combination.

Post-acquisition revenue and post-acquisition adjusted EBITDA were £0.5m and £0.1m respectively. The post-acquisition
peried is from the date of acquisition to 30 June 2022. Post-acguisition EBITDA represents the direct operating rasult of
practices from the date of acquisition to 30 lune 2022 prior to the allocation of central overheads, on the basis that it is
not practicable to allocate these.

Goadwill and intangible assets recognised In the year relating to business combinations are not expected to be deductibie
for tax purposes.

Acquisition costs of £4.9m (2021: £9.3m) are included within other expenses in note 6 of the financial statemenis.

The Directors do not consider any individual in-year acquisition to be material to the Group and therefore have not
separately disclosed these.

Business combinations In previous yeurs

Details of business combinations in the comparative year are presented in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2021. £0.4rm (2021: £nil) was paid in the current year ta settle deferred consideration payable from the
prior year.

Business combinations subsequent to the year end
Subsequent to the year snd, the Group has made twa acquisitions.

On 27 July 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Werrington Vets Limited, a company
registered in £ngland and Wales, for initial cash consideration of £4.3m. This is a business comprising one companion
animal veterinary practice site In the UK. Assets acquired comprised principaily goodwill and intangible patient data records
with 2 provisional fair value of £4.1m.

On 16 September 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Woodiands Veterinary Clinic
Limited, s company registered in England and Wales, for initial cash consideration of £3.5m. This is a businass camprising
two comparion animal veterinary practice sites in the UK. Assets acquired comprised principally goodwill and intangible
patient data records with a provisional fair vatue of £3.3m.

16. investments
<) Availlable-for-sale financlal assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, which are denominated in Sterling, consist of an investment in managed investment funds.

The Group holds £0.1m (2021 £0.1m) in an investment in managed investment funds which have a quoted matrkat price in
an active market and are accordingly measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are
recognised directly in equity until the security is disposed of or deemed to be impaired.

b) Shares In subsidiary undertakings

Company Note £m
Cost and net book amount

At 1 July 2020 694
Options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings 22
At 30 June 2021 e
Options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings 1 23
At 30 June 2022 73.8
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16. Investments continued

b) Sharesa In subsidiary undertakings continued

The principal subsidiary undertakings of CVS Group plc are set out below:

Neme of subsidiary

Principal business

Cauntry of Incarporation

Albavet Limited

Animed Direct Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Livniled

B & W Equine Group Limited

CVS {Ireland) Veterinary Services Limited
CVS (ireland) Veterinary Services No.2 Limited
CVS {Netherlands) BV.

CVS {UK) Limited

Dierenziekenhuis Drachten BV.
Dierganeeskundig Centrum Noord Nederland BV.
Endell veterinary Group Limited
Greenacres Pet Crematorium Limited
Highcroft Pet Care Limited

Kliniek voor Gezelschapsdieren Dieren BV.
Mi Vet Club Limited

Okeford Veterinary Centre Limited

Pat Doctors Limited

Pet Emergency Treatment Services Limited
Pet Vaccination Clinic Limited

Precision Histology International Limited
Rossendale Pet Crematorium Limited

Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited

Severn Edge Equine Limited

Severn Edge Farm Limited

Severn Edge Veterinary Group Limited
Silvermere Haven Limited

Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited
Sustainable Developments (SW) Limited
The Pet Crematorium Limited

Valley Pet Crematorium Limited

vet Direct Services Limited

Whitlay Brook Crematorium for Pets Limited

Veterinary services and buying club
Online dispensary

Veterinary diagnostic services
Veterinary services

Holding cornpany

Veterinary services

Holding company

Veterinary and diagnostic services
Vaterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Animal cremation

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary goods and services buying club
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Vetarinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary diagnostic services
Animal cremation and provision of burial grounds
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary sarvices

Animal cremation and provision of burial grounds
Veterinary services

Property development

Animal cremation

Animal cremation

Veterinary instrumentation supply
Animal cremation

Scotland

England and Wales
tngland and Wales
England and Wales
Republic of Ireland
Republic of Ireland
The Netherlands
England and Wales
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financlal Statements 2022 | 139

RUIWeIDYG [BOUDUL



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

16. Investments continued

b) Shares in subsidiary undertakings continued
The dormant subsidiary undertakings included within the consolidation are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of Incorporation

Animal Health Centre Limited

Anton Vets Ltd

Ambivet Ltd

Astonlee Limited

Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited
Cinder Hill Equine Clinic Limited

Corner Houss Equine Clinic Limited
Cromlynvets Limited

Darboe and Baily Limited

Enterprise Veterinary Services Limited
Greendale Veterinary Diagnostics Limited
Greensands Veterinary Clinic Limited
Gurka Animal Care Lid

Insight Laboratory Servicaes Limited
Keown O'Neill Limited

Newlands Veterinary Group Limited
QOCVC Limited

Pet Vaccination UK Limited

Pets Holding Limited

Pharmsure UK Limited

Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited
Severn Edge Holdings Limited

Slate Hall Vaterinary Practice Limited
Slate Hall Veterinary Services Limitad
Superstar Pets Limited

Three Valleys Veterinary Ltd*

Total Veterinary Services Limited

Vet Direct Holdings Limited

Veterinary Enterprises & Trading Limited
Weighbridge Referral Service Limited
Western Counties Equine Hospital Limited
white Lodge Veterinary Centre Ltd
Wyatt Poultry Veterinary Services Limited
Your Vets (Holdings} Limited

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern Ireland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
£ngland and Wales
Northern Irefand
England and Walas
E£ngland and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England end Wales
England and Wales
Northern Ireland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England end Wales
England and Wales

"

Campanies in liquidation.

CVS Group plc owns 100% of the Ordinary share capital of CVS (UK) Limited; the remaining subsidiarties above are indirectly

held by CVS Group plc.

100% of the Ordinary share capital is owned for all equity shareholdings and therefore al! are wholly owned.

140 | VS Group ple Annual Report and Financlal Statemeants 2022



16, Investments continued

k) Shares in subsidiary undertakings continued

The registered office for all United Kingdom registered subsidiary undertakings is CVS House, Owen Road, Diss, Norfolk
IP22 4ER, with the exception of the following companies:

Name of subsldiary Registared office address

Albavet Limited 24 Nicol Street, Kirkcaldy, Fife KY11NY

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited The Manor House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, Devon TQ12 4PB
Cromlynvets Limited 50 Old Coach Road, Hillsborough, County Down BT26 6PB

Keown O'Neill Limited 11 Church Street, Ballygawley, Co. Tyrone BT70 ZHA

Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited Boness Road, Polmont, Falkirk FK2 OXZ

Precision Histology International Limited The School House, One Eyed Lane, Weybread, Diss, Norfolk IP21 5TT
Three Valleys Veterinary Ltd 17 Clarendon Road, Belfast BTt 3BG

The registered office for all Netherdands registered subsidiary undertakings is Postbus 176, 8300 AD Emmeloord. The registered
office for all Republic of Ireland registered subsidiary undertakings is KPMG, Dockgate, Dock Road, Galway H27 VBRR.

On 19 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Quality Pet Care Ltd, a company registered in England
and Wales, for total consideration of £20.4m, including repayment of loans of £3.4m. On 22 September 2021, the
Competition & Markets Authcrity (CMA) served an initial enforcement order {IEQ) in respect of this acquisition and during
the period a further £1.0m loan was provided for working capital. During the investigation, the group did not control Quality
Pet Care Ltd due to conditions imposed by the IEQ, and as such it is recorded as an investment in a subsidiary held at fair
value, and its financizl performance and position are not conselidated inte those of the Group. Prior to the year-end, an
impairment of £12.4m was recorded 1o the carrying amount of the investment in anticipation of a disposal, based on the
estimated fair value, which has been recognised as an exceptional item in the income statement within administrative
expenses. On 30 June 2022, the entire shareholding was divested with sales proceeds of £8.0m, with ne gain or loss an
disposal recorded due to the investment having already been impaired to its recoverable amount. The sales proceeds have
been included within cash equivalents; see note 21.

17. Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are used for hedging in the management of exposure 1o market risks. This enables the optimisation of the overall
cost of accessing debt capital markets, and the mitigation of the market risk which would otherwise arise from movements
in interest rates.

The ineffective element of cash flow hedges in 2022 was immaterial (2021: immaterial).

Cash flow hedges
On 28 February 2020, the Group entered into an interest rate swap arrangement limiting the Group's exposure to intarest
rate increases. The atrangement exposed the Group to Sterling LIBOR within a cash flow hedge accounting relationship.

Following the propased and subsequent discontinuance of Sterling LIBOR, the Group has adopted both Phase 1and Phase
2 of Interast Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments 1o IFRS 9, IAS 39 and {FRS 7). The Group debt was transitioned per
agreemsnt entered on 31 December 2021, The Group has also transitioned its interest rate swaps, effective from

31 Decernber 2021. The revised arrangements amended exposures from Sterling LIBOR to the Sterling Overnight

Index Average Rate (SONIA}, plus a credit adjustment spread.

The Group has applied the practical expedient published by the 1ASB, allowing the Group to account for a change in the
contractual cash flows of the debt required by the Interest Rate Benchmark Reform by updating the effective interest rate
and applying any changes prospectively.

The Group has also applied the practical expedient to continue hedge accounting where changes to the hedging arrangement
arise as a direct result of changes required by the reform. Therefore, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve
is deemed to be based on the alternative benchmark rate and does not require reclassification into retained earnings.

The expedients can be applied by the Group because the transitioning of interest rate swaps and debt was necessary as a
direct consequent of IBOR reform, and the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economicslly eguivalent
to the previous basis.

At 30 June 2022, £70.0m of debt was hedged (2021: £70.0m); the remainder of the debt was unhedged at the year end.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

17. Derlvative financial instruments continued

Cash flow hedges continued

Below are details of the hedging instruments and hedged items in scope of the IFRS 9 amendmants due to interest rate
benchmark reform, The tarms of the hedged items listed match those of the corresponding hedging instriments.

Hedge type Instrumaent type Maturing in Nominal Hedged item

Cash flow hedge Receive SONIA + credit 2024 £700m Sterling fixed rate issued
adjustment spread, pay debt of the same maturity
Sterling fixed interest and nominal of the swap
rate swaps

The Group classifies its interest rate swap arrangement as a cash flow hedge and utilises hedge accounting to minimrse
incorne statement volatility in relation to movements in the value of the swap arrangement.

The fair values of the Group's interest rate derivatives are established using valuation technigues, primarily discounted cash
flows, based on assumptions that are supported by observable market prices or rates (level 1).

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group consalidated statement of financial
position as follows:

2022 2021
Assets Lisbilities Assets Uabiities
Group £m £m £m £m
Non-current

Interest rate swap arrangements - cash flow hedges 23 - -— (0.4)
Movemaents In falr values

Interest

rate swap

arrangements

Group Em

Fair value at 1 July 2020 {09}

Fair value loss through reserves — hedged 05

At 30 june 2021 (04

Fair value gain through reserves - hedged 27

At 30 June 2022 23

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the curmulative amcunt of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed
effective in cash fiow hedges. The curnulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income
statement only when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is included directly in the initial cost or other
carrying amount of the hedged non-financial items.

The cost of hedging reserve includes the effects of the changes in fair value of the time value of option when only the
intrinsic value of the option is designated as the hedging instrument.

The changes in fair value of the time value of an opticn in reiation to a transaction-related hedged item accumulated in the
cost of hedging reserve are reclassified to the income statement only when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, or
included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item. The changes in fair value of the time vatue of an option in
relation to a time-period-related hedged iterm accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve are amortised to the income
statement an a rational basis over the term of the hedging relationship,
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18. Financlal instruments
Financlal assets and llabliitles

2022 2021
FVTPL FVTPL
- derivatives - derivatives
designated in designated in
hadge F¥TOCI Amortised hedge FVTOC!
ralationships - designated cost Total relationships -deslgnated  Arnortised cost Total
Group Note Em Em £m £m £m £m £Em £m
investments 16 — o1 — 0.1 — o1 - 01
Trade and other
receivables” 20 — — 421 421 — - 395 395
Cash and cash
equivalents 21 — - 48.0 49.0 - — 337 337
Derivative
financial
instruments 17 23 — — 23 (0.4) — — {04)
Borrowings 24 - — (84.3) {84.3) — — (83.9) (83.9)
Trade and other
payables*™ 22 — - {68.2) {68.2) — - (800 {691
Lease liabilities 14 — — (104.5) {104.5) - — (98.8) (98.8)
2.3 01 (165.9) {163.5) (0.4} 01 (178.6) (178.9)

* Trade and other recetvables excludes prepayments,

** Trade and other payables axcludes social security and other taxes.

2022 200
Comparny Nota £m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 33 79.4 823

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured and interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment. Amounts owed
by Group undertakings are measured at amortised cost.

19. inventories
All inventories are finished goods held for resale. The Directors do not consider the difference between the purchasa price
of inventories and their replacement cost to be rmaterial.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

20. Trade and other receivables
Group Group Company Cormnpany

2022 2021 2022 202
£m £m £m £m

Trade receivables:
Within their due pericd 171 192 — -
Past due:

Not impaired 10.8 78 - —

Fully impaired 3.9 6.4 — —
Total trade receivables 31.8 334 - —
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (3.9) (6.4) — -
Trade receivables - net 219 270 — -
Other receivables 5.4 44 - -
Prepayments 106 86 — -
Accrued income 88 a1 - —
Total trade and other receivables 527 481 — -
Group

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is deemed to be a reasonable approximation to fair value. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable above with the exception
of prepayrments which hold no credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. The Group's trade and other
receivables are denominated in Sterling.

A provision for expected credit losses has been recognised at the reporting date through censideration of the ageing profile
of the Group's trade receivables and the perceived credit quality of its customers reflecting net debt due. The carrying
amount of trade receivables, net of expected credit losses, is considered to be an approximation to its fair vafue. The
amount of the expected iosses was £3.9m (2021: £6.4m). The Group has not disclosed the expected loss rate as this

varies by type of customer. Aggregate movements on the Group's expected losses of trade recaivables are as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m
At the beginning of the year 6.4 89
(Credited)/charged to the income statement within administrative expenses (1.4) Q7
Utilisation of the provision during the year (1) (12)
At the end of the year 3.9 64

Other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

At 30 June 2022, there is a contract asset recorded as accrued income of £8.8m (2021: £8.1m), relating to customer
membership schemes including the Healthy Pet Club (HPC} contract. The contract asset arises from customers having
received consultations and trestments which are weighted towards the beginning of the twelve-month scheme, in advance
of cash payments, as detailed more fully in note 2. Due to the nature of the scheme, the accrued income amount brought
forward has been fully utilised in the year.

21. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2022 2621 2022 2021
£m £m £Em £m
Cash 40.0 337 — -
Cash squivalents 9.0 —_ —_ —
Total cash and cash equivalents 49.0 337 - -

Cash egquivalents relate to funds held in an escrow account, which are available to the Group on demand.
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22. Trade and other payables

Group Comparty
2072 2071 2022 202
£m Em Em £m
Current
Trade payables 404 403 —_ -
Social security and other taxes 18.4 69 — -
Cther payables 6.0 127 - —
Deferred income? 22 28 - —
Accruals 19.6 133 — -
Total trade and other payables 86.6 86.0 - —
1. Deferred income ralates to the contract liabdity relating to the Healthy Pet Club (HPC) contracL
23. Provisions
2022 2021
£m Em

At the beginning of the year 39 50
Charged to the income statement within administration expenses 1.2 08
Utilised in the period (3.0) 0
Atthe end of the year 21 39

Provisions relate to costs set aside for properties including site closures and other property maintenance obligations. Itis
anticipated these will be utilised in the next twelve months.

24. Borrowings
Borrowings comprise bank loans and are denominated in Sterling. The repayment profile is as follows:
2022 2021
Group £m £m
Within one year or on demand — —
Between one and two years 84.3 —
After more than two years - 839
84.3 839

The balances above are shown net of issue costs of £E0.7m {2021: £1.1m), which are being amortised over the term of the
bank lean. The carrying amount of borrowings is deemed 1o be a reasonable approximation to fair value.

The Group has total facilities of £175.0m. These facilities are provided by a syndicate of four banks: NatWest, HSBC, BOI
and AIB, and comprise the following elements:

> afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayable on 31 January 2024 via a single bullet repayment;
» a four-year Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £85.0m that runs to 31 January 2024; and
» a £5.0m overdraft facility renewable annually.

The two financial covenants associated with these facilities have remained unchanged, and are based on the ratios of
hank-test net debt to bank-test EBITDA and bank-test EBITDA to interest. The bank-test net debt to bank-test EBITDA ratio
must not exceed 3.25x. The bank-test EBITDA to interest ratio must not be less than 4 5x. The facilities require cross-
guarantees from the most significant of CVS Group's trading subsidiaries but are not secured on the assets of the Group.
Bank-test EBITDA is based on tha last twalve months” adjusted EBITDA performance annualised for the effect of acquisitions
deducting costs relating to business combinations and adding back share option expense, pricr to the impact of IFRS 16.

Bank covenants are tested quarterly and the Group has considerable headroom in both financial covenants and in its
undrawn but committed facilitias as at 30 June 2022. More information can be found in note 3.

Interest rate risk is also managed centrally and derivative Instruments are used to mitigate this risk. On 28 February 2020,
the Group entered into a four-year interest rate fixed swap arrangement to hedge fluctuations in interest rates on £70.0m
of its term loan.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

24, BorrowlIngs continued
At the year end £70.0m of the term loan was hedged using an interest rate swap. The remainder cf the debt is not hedged.
Further information on the cash flow hedge can be found in note 17.

Undrawn committed borrowing facllities
At 30 June 2022, the Group has a committed overdraft facility of £5.0m (2021: £5.0m) and an RCF of £85.0m (2021: £85.0m).
Both the overdraft facility and the RCF were undrawn at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.

25. Deferred tax

Deferrad tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. Deferred tax balances
are calculated using tax rates expectad to apply in the period when the liability cr asset is expected to be realised based on
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the raporting date.

Deferred tax assets comprised:

2022 200
Group £m £m

Tax effect of temporary differences:
Share-based payments 1.5 286
Accelerated tax depreciation - 02
Derivative financial instruments — 01
Tax losses 0.2 01
Qther 01 01
18 31

The Group's deferred tax assets have been recognised based on historical performance and future budgets. The recoverahbility
of deferred tax assets is supported by the expectad level of future profits. The Group believes that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits agalnst which the deferred tax assets will reverse.

Ceferred tax liabilities comprise the excess of carrying value over the tax base.

2022 202
Group Em £m
Tax effect of temparary differences:
Excess of qualifying amortisation and intangible fixed assets acquired via a business combination 20.4 235
Derivative financial instruments 0.6 -
Capital aliowances in excess of depreciation 0.8 —
21.8 235
The movement in the net deferred tax assets and liabilities is expiained as follows:
Acquisition of
Credited/ Charged to Chargedto  subsidiary and
(charged) other statemant of defarred tax
A1 uly toincome comprehensive changesin  racognised in At 30 June
2021 statemant income equity goodwill 2022
Group £m £m Em £m £m Em
Share-based payments 26 02 — (1.3} — 1.5
Derivative financial instruments 01 — (07 — — {0.6)
Other temporaty differences 01 - - - - 0.1
Property, plant and equipment 02 (09} — - [(oX]] (0.8)
Tax losses 01 01 - — — 0.2
Intangible fixed assets acquired
via a business combination (235) 34 - — {0.3) (20.4)
(20.4) 28 07 (1.3) {04) (20.0)
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25. Deferred tax continued

Acquisition of
Creditad/ Chargad 0 Cradited to  subsidiary and
{charged]} other  statementof  deferred tax
ALY July to income comprahensive changesin  recognised in At 30 June
2020 staterment income squity gogdwill 20n
Group £m Em £m £m £Em £Em
Share-based payments Q2 05 — 18 - 26
Derivative financial instruments 02 - {on — - ol
Cther temporary differances ¢i — —_ - — 01
Property, plant and equipment C6 (C.3) - — (on) 02
Tax losses — 01 —_— - — Q1
Intangible assets and fixed assets acquired
via a business combinaticn {21.5) — - —_ (20) (23.5)
(204) 04 (01) 1.8 zn (204)

The deferred tax balance is non-current.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been offset where they relate to the same tax authority, the Group has a
legally enforceable right to offset and the Group intends to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously.

The Group has carried forward unutilised tax losses of £20.6m (2021: £4.9m) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of Group companies within the tax jurisdiction in which the losses arose. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised of £0.2m (2021 £0.Jm) in respect of some of these losses as it is probable that sufficient future taxable
profits will arise against which the asset will reverse. This deferred tax asset has been offset against the deferred tax liability in
respect of Intangible assets. The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset on remaining losses of £18.9m (2021: £3.9m)
as it is not probable that sufficient future taxabie profits will arise against which the losses can be utifised.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries. The earnings are continually reinvasted
by the Group and there is no intention for these entities to pay dividends; no tax is expected to be payable on them in the
foreseeable future,

26. Share capital

2022 2027
Compeny £m £m
Issued and fully paid
71120,037 (2021: 70,753,782) Ordinary shares of 0.2p each 01 0l
During the year, shares were issued for a total consideration of £2.3m {2021: £1.2m) as follows:

2022 2021

shares shares

LTIM2 97,49 —
SAYES - N8
SAYE1C 15,810 97,296
SAYET 249108 1053
SAYE12 2,799 147
SAYE13 1,047 9
Total 368,255 98,823

Details of shares under option are provided in note 11 ta the financial statements.
The authorised share capital of the Company is 352,000,000 Ordinary sharas of 0.2p each.

Dividends
The Directors have proposed a final dividend of 7.0p (2021; 6.5p) per share, giving a total of £5.0m (2021: £4.6m). During
the year the 2021 final dividend totalling £4.6m was paid (2021: £nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

26, Share capital continued
EBT own shores

The Group operates an EBT which holds 64 shares (2021: 710 shares). 195,000 shares were bought at cpen market value

for £2.1m in the year ended 30 June 2017.

In the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group established an Employee Benefit Trust {E8T) for the purposes of satisfying
the exercise of certain share options vesting under the Group's LTIP and SAYE schemes. The Group has accounted for

the purchase of the shares held by the EBT as Treasury shares and has deducted these from reserves.

During the year, the Group did not sell shares (2021. nil shares) to satisfy shares vesting under LTIP schemes. The Group sold
646 shares {2021: 23,569 shares) to satisfy shares vesting under SAYE schemes for proceeds of less than £0.1m {(2021: £0.3m).

27. Share premlum

The share premium reserve comprises the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

28, Analysis of movement in liabilitles from financing activities

A1 july Liabillties on Non-cash At 30 June

2021 Cash How New leases disposed lemsss movemertt 2022

Group £m £m Em £m Em £m
Lease liabilities (98.8) 169 (196) 13 (43)  (104.5)
Bank loans (83.9} 01 — - {0.5) (84.3)
Totat liabilities from financing activities {1827} 170 {1e8) 13 {4.8) (188.8)

At 1 July Lighilities on Non-cash At 30 June

2020 Cash Aow New leases disposed leases movemeant 207

Group £m £m Em £m £m £m
Lease liabilities {986) 171 (15.4) 21 4.0) (98.8)

Borrowings {01} | — - - —
Bank loans (835) 10 - - (1.4) (83.9)
Total Habilities from financing activities (182.2) 18.2 (15.4) 21 (5.4) (1827

Non-cash moverments on right-of-use assets mainly comprise interest on right-of-use lease liabilities. Non-cash movements

on borrowings and bark loans mainly include amortisation of issue costs on bank ioans and bank debt acquired.

29. Cash flow generated from operations

Group Company

2022 200 2022 2021

£m £m £m £m
Profit/{loss) for the year 257 18.3 (0.6) (0.5)
Tax expense 10.3 138 — —
Finance expense 6.8 70 — —
Amortisation of intangible assets 222 238 — —
Depreciation of property, plant and exuiprment n3 103 - —
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 141 140 — —
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (0.3) — - —
Increase in inventories (6.6) {0.4) — —
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (32) (34) 29 (0N
Decrease in trade and other payables (0.1) {52) — -
Decrease in provisions (1.8) (1) — —
Share cpticn expense 2.3 22 — —
Exceptional items 12.4 — — -
Total net cash flow ganerated from/{used in) operations 93,1 80.3 23 (1.2)
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30. Guarantees and other financlal commitments
Capital commitments
Tha Group had na capital commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021 £ail).

Bank guarantees

The Company is a member of the Group's banking arrangement, under which it is party to unlimited cross-guarantees
in respect of the banking facilities of other Group undertakings, amounting to £175.0m at 30 June 2022 (2021: £175.0m).
The Directors do not expect any material loss to the Company to arise in respect, of the guarantees.

Contingent liabllities
A letter of support has been provided to certain subsidiaries indicating the intention of the Company to support them,
if required, for a period of a minimum of twelve months from the date of signing their financial statements.

Exemption from audit by parent company guarantae

The following wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are covered by a guarantee provided by CVS Group plc and are
consequently entitled to an exemption under Section 479A from the requirement of the Act relating to the audit of individual
accounts, Under this guarantee, the Group will guarantee all outstanding ligbilities of these entities. The Group has deemed
it not practical to quantify the possible outflow and no liability is expected to arise under the guarantes. The entities covered
by this guarantae are disclosed below.

Name of subsidiary Company number
Albavet Limited SC275059
Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited 02526935
B & W Equine Group Limited 08777468
Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited 12941058
Endell Veterinary Group Limited 08078309
Greenacraes Pet Crematorium Limited Q7877237
Greendale Veterinary Diagnostics Lirnited 0513812
Highcroft Pet Care Limited 07238070
Insight Laboratory Services Limited 06353163
Mi Vet Club Limited 08365201
Okeford Veterinary Centre Limited 05984705
Pet Vaccination UK Limited 05391973
Pet Vaccination Clinic Limited 032528M
Pets Holding Limited mMB1672
Pet Emergency Treatment Services Limited 03586933
Rossendale Pet Crematorium Limited 01409643
Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited 04551334
Severn Edge Equine Limited 08524486
Severn Edge Farm Limited 08521408
Severn Edge Holdings Limited 08522086
Severn Edge Veterinary Group Limited 09523786
Silvermere Haven Limited o2187947
Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited ag8101117
Slate Hall Veterinary Services Ltd 08390278
Sustainable Davelopments (SW) Limited 05174372
The Pet Crematorium Limited 03442460
Valley Pet Crematorium Limited 04961306
Vet Direct Services Limited C5167635
Vat Direct Holdings Limited 06746630
Veterinary Enterprises & Trading Lid 03495054
Whitley Brook Crematorium for Pets Limited 04734723
Wyatt Poultry Veterinary Services Limited 05780M7
Your Vets {Holdings) Limited Q701834
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

31. Pension schemes

The Group contributes to certain employees’ personal pension schemes in accordance with their service contracts. The
amounts are charged to the income statement as they fall due. The amounts charged during the year amounted to £5.9m
(2021 £5.0m). The amount outstanding at the year end included in trade and other payables was £11m (2021 £0.9m).

32, Events after the reporting perlod

On 27 July 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share captal of Werrington Vets Limited, a company
registered in England and Wales, for initial cash consideration of £4.3m. This is & business comprising one companion enimeal
veterinary practice site in the UK, eligned with the Group’s strategic goals. Further information can be found in note 15.

On 16 September 2022, the Group complated the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Woodlands Veterinary Clinic
Limited. a company registered in England and Wales, for initial cash consideration of £3.5m. This is a business comprising
two companion animal veterinary practice sites in the UK, aligned with the Group's strategic goals. Further information can
be found in note 15.

33. Related party transactions
Directors’ and Key Management’s compensation is disclosed In note 8.

Company
During the year the Company had the following transactions with CvS {UK) Limited:
2022 2021
£m Em
Recharge of expenses incurred by CVS (UK) Limited on behalf of the Company (0.6) {05}
Cash advanced to fund payment of dividend (4.8) —
The fallowing balances were owed by related companies:
2022 207
Recaivable Payable Receivable Payable
£m £m Em £m
CVS (UK) Limited 79.4 — 82.3 -

Amounts owed by CVS (UK) Limited are unsecured and interest free and have no fixed date of repayment.

Transactions with Directors and key manogement

During the year, the foliowing dividends were paid to the Directors of the Group: R Connell - £10,693; D Kemp - £428;

R Gray - £325; R Fairman ~ £1,158; and B Jacklin - £306. Dividends were also paid to the spouses of R Fairman and R Alfonso
of £709 and £130, respectively (2021: no dividend paid).

UltImate controlling party
The Dirsctors consider there is no ultirmate controlling party.
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Five-year history — unaudited
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 2021 2020 209 208
£m £m Em Em £m
Revenue 554.2 5101 4278 4065 3273
Gross profit 2391 N9 1701 1689 1516
Cperating profit 428 401 185 156 177
Finance expense (6.8) (70} (88) (3.9) 36
Profit before tax 36.0 331 89 n7 141
Tax expense (10.3) (13.8) (4.2} (3.5) (34)
Profit for the year 257 193 57 82 107
Adjusted EBITDA 1074 975 o 545 476
Adjusted profit before tax 755 66.2 382 14 360
Cash generated from operations 831 803 94.8 521 487
Taxation paid (1.2} (13.0) (95) (7.3) (6.2)
Interest paid (6.4} (71} (7.0) (3.4) (3N
Business combinations {net of cash acquired) (8.4) {19.4) 72 (56.6) (50.3)
Loans and borrowings acquired through
business combinaticns (01} (1.0) — (1.9) (3.1}
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets {24.5) (16.6) (12.4) (129) (/o))
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 0.2 06 — - —
Purchase of other investments (n1.4) — — — -
Proceeds from sale of other investments 2.0 — - - —
Dividends paid (4.6) - {3.9) (3.5} (2.9}
Proceeds from Ordinary shares 23 12 cl 06 610
Proceeds from Treasury shares - 03 09 — —
Repayment of obligations under right-of-use assets (12.7) (13.0) (14.2) - -
Amortisation of debt issuance costs (0.4) (0.4) 1.0} (0.5) (o)}
Exceptional items - - on - -
Decrease/(increase) in net debt 14.9 119 399 (33.0) 310
Year-end net debt 35.3 502 621 1020 690
Pence Pence Pence Pence Pence
Basic earnings per share 36.2 273 81 e 160
Adjusted basic earnings per share 85.8 751 420 467 424
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Contact details and advisors

Registered office
CVS House

Owen Road

Diss

Norfolk

P22 4ER

Neminated advisor and broker

Peel Hunt LLP

7th Floor

100 Liverpoal Street
London

EC2ZM 2A

Joint broker
Berenberg

60 Threadneedle Street
tondon

EC2ZR 8HP

Financlal Public Relations
MHP Communications

4th Floor

6C Great Portland Streat
London

WIW 7RT

Company Secretary
J Farrer

Bankers
NatWast Bank plc
Gentleman’s Walk
Norwich

NR2 TNA

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square
London

F14 5HQ

Barnk of Irelend Group plc
40 Mespil Road

Dublin 4

Republic of Ireland

Altled Irish Banks plc
10 Molesworth Strest
Dublin 2

Republic of Ireland

Rabobank
Willernskade 1
8011 AC Zwolle
Netherlands

Ulster Bank Limited
33 Eyre Square
Galway

H91 HY26
Republic of ireland
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Independent auditor
Deloltta LLP

1 Station Square
Cambridge

CB12GA

Legal advisors
Leathes Prior

74 The Close
Norwich
NR14DR

DLA Piper UK LLP
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham

B2 4DL

Eversheds Sutherland
15 Colmore Row
Birmingham

B3 3AL
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